## EXAMINING MECHANISMS OF POSITIVE PLANT INTERACTIONS IN DESERTS

ALESSANDRO FILAZZOLA

# A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

GRADUATE PROGRAM IN BIOLOGY

YORK UNIVERSITY

TORONTO, ONTARIO

April 2018

© Alessandro Filazzola, 2018

#### Abstract

Deserts are ecologically important ecosystems that contain high levels of endemism and that are sensitive to global change. Positive interactions among plants have been cited as factors that support desert biodiversity by buffering against climate variability. However, there is limited understanding on the underlying mechanisms that determine positive plant interactions. Herein, we proposed a conceptual framework that describes multiple mechanisms of facilitation among plants. We then empirically tested in multiple deserts of California the different facilitation mechanisms in the context of extreme climate events, multiple stressors, and spatial gradients. We also conducted species distribution modelling to assess the role of positive interactions in expanding the niche and geographic range of beneficiary species. We expanded upon the previous literature by describing six mechanisms of facilitation and two meta-mechanisms. We found in experimentation that shrubs can buffer against extreme drought using the described mechanisms, but that facilitation effects are strongest at intermediate or low levels of abiotic stress. The shrub species used was found to deter herbivory and ameliorate abiotic stress, but not increase soil moisture. We also found shrub facilitation to be species specific and typically increased the biomass of plant species with more competitive traits. Consequently, non-native species were found to be frequently facilitated and shrubs were observed to have lower species richness. Positive interactions were determined to increase the geographic range of annual plant species that have been previously reported as facilitated in the literature. We challenged previous research that suggests positive interactions increase linearly with abiotic stress and that facilitation can buffer against climate variability. Shrubs were determined to be significant foundation species in these desert ecosystems supporting annual productivity and the unique

occurrence of annual species. However, these interactions are more sensitive to global change than previously thought and could collapse at environmental extremes. The proposed framework and experiments provides better understanding into the predictability of positive plant interactions and an opportunity for future applied research into the restoration and conservation of desert ecosystems.

#### Acknowledgments

There have been many individuals that have contributed to research program and I am incredibly grateful for their support that I received to complete my degree. To quote Isaac Newton, "If I have seen further it is by standing on the shoulders of giants" and I extend this to include my academia pursuits and more. I especially thank my friends and family for being supportive and doing their best to help me in whatever way possible. Big thanks to my Mom and Dad for both being positive about my research and trying to reduce stress.

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Chris Lortie, for welcoming me into his lab. His support, encouragement, and patience, even at times when I have been trying, has been much appreciated. I thank my other committee members, Dr. Bridget Stutchbury and Dr. Sapna Sharma, for their advice throughout the program. I would also like to thank Dr. Norman Yan and Dr. Roberto Quinlan for their advice and knowledge when I was first beginning my academia career. I thank Dr. Taly Drezner and Dr. Hugh Henry for being part of my examining committee. I thank all my fellow Lortie lab members who made my time here even more enjoyable. A very special thank you to Amanda Liczner who has contributed either directly or indirectly to the majority of my research and positively supported my academia career with encouragement. I would also like to specifically thank Diego Sotomayor for his experienced advice and Ally Ruttan for our collaborations. I thank the other Lortie members that have always been super kind to me providing support including: Laurent Lamarque, Ryan Spafford, Anya Reid, Taylor Noble, Jenna Braun, and Ty Nanayakkara, Ben Shachar, and Rachael Cohen.

There have been many people that contributed to my field research that I am eternally grateful to because the projects would have not been completed without their efforts. I especially thank all the members of the Bureau of Land Management Central Coast Field Office, including Michael

Powers and Ryan O'Dell. A special thank you to Dr. Michael Westphal who has acted as an unofficial committee member and supported all my research endeavours. I thank Dr. Jim André and Dr. Tasha La Doux for always making the Sweeney Granites Research Centre a second home to me and keeping me calm through years of extreme drought. I also thank Dolly and Norm at the Santa Nella Trailer Park for making it my first home for fieldwork. I thank Dr. Michael White and all members of the Tejon Ranch Conservancy for access to their lands to complete my research. I thank the Brown family for kindness and assistance when it was needed most. I thank my friends Ivan Defreitas and Alberto Cimini for their work in the field that made it all the more enjoyable. I also thank Dante Nocera for his efforts in trying to get me funding and teaching me graphic/web design skills.

There have also been many other graduate students at York that have made me time here fun and a better learning experience. I would like to thank Miranda Chen, Christopher Luszczek, Lianna Lopez, Bailey Hewitt, Katrina Gaibisels, Samantha Stefanoff, and the Zayed lab. I especially thank Thomas Van Zuiden for being a friend and very funny colleague during his time here.

I thank my family: Nick Filazzola, Milena Filazzola, Christina Filazzola, Rob Payne, and my dog Heidi for their unconditional love throughout the program.

Finally, I would like to thank all the funding agencies that made this research possible including NSERC Discovery Grant, Faculty of Graduate Studies at York University, and the Bureau of Land Management.

## Table of Contents

Abstract ii
Acknowledgmentsiv
List of Tables x
List of Figures xii
Chapter 1 1
A systematic review and conceptual framework for the mechanistic pathways of nurse plants 1
Introduction
Conceptual framework
Methods
Systematic Review
Data Analysis
Results
Discussion
Global distribution of nurse-plant studies
Research gaps in the research on nurse-plant pathways
Differences in nurse-plant life form on positive interactions 16
Inclusion of two meta-mechanisms and implications for applied ecology17
Conclusions19
Acknowledgements
References
Tables
Figures
Chapter 2
The effect of consumer pressure and abiotic stress on positive plant interactions are mediated by extreme climatic events
Summary
Introduction
Methods
Study site and community composition
Water addition and animal exclosures

Abiotic measurements and plant surveys	
Statistical Analyses	
Results	
Micro-environmental differences	
Plant-community response	
Discussion:	
Positive interactions at environmental extremes	
Facilitation effects on interspecific competition	
Conclusions	
Acknowledgements	
References	
Tables	
Figures	
Chapter 3	71
Positive interactions among native species collapse at the extremes of an a of drought and indirect competition	aridity gradient because
Summary	72
Introduction	73
Methods	77
Study Sites	77
Aridity gradient	
Experimental design	
Abiotic measurements	
Plant surveys	
Statistical analyses	
Results	
Abiotic characteristics between microsites	
Phytometer responses to aridity and microsites	
Ambient plant community responses to aridity and microsites	
Discussion	
Shrub effects on environmental variables	
Species specificity	
Implications	

Acknowledgements	
References	
Tables	101
Figures	
Chapter 4	108
Modelling the niche space of desert annuals needs to include positive interactions	108
Abstract	109
Introduction	110
Methods	113
Species database	113
Biotic variables	
Environmental variables	115
MaxEnt models	116
Phylogenetic analysis	117
Results	118
Discussion	119
Positive interactions on niche and range	120
Positive interactions and climate change	121
Species specificity	122
Implications	123
Acknowledgments	124
References	125
Tables	
Figures	135
Chapter 5	139
Synthesis: Re-thinking facilitation and ecological theory with mechanisms	139
Aim and over-arching hypotheses	
Summary of Major Findings	
Implications for theoretical ecology	
Implications for biological conservation	147
Implications for climate change	149
Future Research	151

Tables	158
Figures	164
Appendices	165
Appendix A – Supplemental data for systematic review	165
Appendix B- Location of Panoche Hills	170
Appendix C – Models of extreme climate events and shrub facilitation on plant abundance	173
Appendix D – Paramter estimates of SEM	174
Appendix E – Frequency of positive interactions	176
Appendix F – Weather station locations along gradient	177
Appendix G – Phytometer species characteristics	178
Appendix H – Species accumulation curves along aridity gradient	180
Appendix I – Cluster analysis of communities	184
Appendix J - BIOCLIM variables responsible for plant occurrence.	185
Appendix K - Workflow of Model Inputs for MaxEnt	188
Appendix L – MaxEnt models of each annual species	189
Appendix M – Species list	194
Appendix N – Permissions for redistribution of manuscripts	196

#### **List of Tables**

**Table 1.1:** A list of ecological hypotheses tested using nurse plant mechanisms. Each hypothesis is listed with their central concept, key associated paper and possible nurse mechanism that may be used. More than one hypothesis may be examined within a study at a time.

**Table 1.2:** A list of mechanisms associated with nurse plants. Five of the nurse-protégé interactions are from Flores & Jurado, 2003 (\*) and the remainder proposed herein. Each nurse mechanism is listed with their facilitative effect, key associated paper and categorization as a meta-mechanism. A meta-mechanism is an effect that occurs as the result of another nurse mechanism.

**Table 2.1:** Results from an ANCOVA testing for differences in the biomass of the plant community among, microsites (shrub and open), consumer pressure (ambient and reduced), and gradient of soil moisture. Separate ANCOVAs were conducted for a year of extreme drought (2014) and an above average rainfall year (2016). Significance at  $\alpha < 0.05$  is denoted by bolded values.

**Table 2.2:** Results from GLMs testing for differences in *B. madritensis* abundance and the subordinate species abundance among, microsites (shrub and open), consumer pressure (ambient and reduced), and gradient of soil moisture. GLMs were conducted for a year of extreme drought (2014) and an above average rainfall year (2016). Significance at  $\alpha < 0.05$  is denoted by bolded values.

**Table 3.1:** Locations for each of the seven sites with their respective climate values for 2016 (top) and 2017 (bottom). Precipitation is the total volume of rain that fell during the growing season of the respective year.

**Table 3.2:** Results from linear permutation tests comparing differences in abiotic characteristics of shrub and open microsites. Significance was denoted at  $\alpha = 0.05$  and shown in bold. Permutations were set to a maximum of 5000 iterations.

**Table 3.3:** Results from log-normal hurdle model testing for differences in the response variables of each phytometer species in response to microsite (shrub and open), nutrient addition (added and ambient), and aridity gradient. Presence of the phytometers was modeled with a generalized linear mixed model fit to a binomial distribution and log-transformed biomass of the phytometers was modeled with a linear mixed model. Year was treated as a random effect in both models. Significance was denoted at  $\alpha = 0.05$  and shown in bold.

Table 4.1: Annual species chosen from the literature on plant interactions in the Mojave Desert.

**Table 4.2:** Summary statistics from MaxEnt models conducted on each of the annual species with predictors of environment only  $(m_{env})$  and the environment with shrub  $(m_{shrub.env})$ . The number of occurrences and absences that were included in each model are represented as n.presence and n.absence respectively.

**Table 5.1:** Reviews of positive interactions and their associated themes in ecological theory over the past 25 years.

**Table 5.2:** A summary of the studies examining the mechanisms of positive interactions within this research program.

**Table 5.3:** The supporting studies that were conducted in addition to this project and that are either prepared or published manuscripts.

## **List of Figures**

**Figure 1.1:** A conceptual framework for the abiotic and biotic mechanisms of nurse-plant effects studied in the ecological literature. Nurse mechanisms are ordered based on effect of protégé life-stage and the clockwise motion around figure represents the progression of a plant through its life history (i.e. Seed, seedling, plant/growth, reproduction). Listed to the right are possible nurse-protégé responses.

Figure 1.2: The percentage of nurse-plant studies conducted in each global climate.

Figure 1.3: Geographical location of previous studies for nurse plants throughout the world.

**Figure 1.4:** The number of associated studies based on nurse life form for each nurse mechanism (A) and each testable ecological hypothesis of facilitation (B).

**Figure 2.1:** Average hourly temperature ( $C^\circ$ ) and relative humidity (%) for the growing season during the drought year (2014) and a year of above-average precipitation year (2016) for both shrub and open microsites. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.

**Figure 2.2:** The shrub effect (**a**) and the effect of each treatment (**b**) on biomass compared using the relative interaction index (RII) in both the dry (2014) and wet (2016) years. Values for shrub effect are mean RII with error bars of 95% confidence intervals. The values for each treatment effect are bootstrapped RII (999 iterations) with 95% confidence intervals derived from the means of each iteration. Positive values represent a positive treatment effect and negative values represent negative treatment effect.

**Figure 2.3:** Plant abundance of *B. madritensis* and the subordinate species in shrub and open microsites during a drought year (2014) and a year of above-average rainfall year (2016). Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.

**Figure 2.4:** Structural equational modeling (SEM) results for the composition of the annual community in the dry and wet year. Black lines show relationships that were significantly different from zero ( $\alpha = 0.01$ ), whereas dashed lines represent non-significant pathways. Annual community represents a latent variable that is composed of biomass, abundance and the percent dominance of *B. madritensis*. Models for the dry (**a**) and wet season (**b**) converged normally after 82 and 83 iterations respectively. Parameter estimates from the structural equation models are present within figure and Appendix D.

**Figure 3.1:** The relationship of abiotic characteristics in shrub (O) and open ( $\Delta$ ) microsites along a gradient of aridity. Solid lines represent mean model fit and shaded areas are 95% confidence intervals. Models with significant microsite by aridity interactions were plotted separately for shrub (solid line) and open (dashed line) microsites. The abiotic characteristics that were measured included a) soil nitrogen (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.88), b) soil moisture at emergence (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.91), c) temperature variation (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.79), and d) soil compaction (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.63).

**Figure 3.2:** The effect of shrubs, nutrient addition, and the aridity gradient on the three phytometer species: *P. insularis* (red), *P. tanacetifolia* (blue), and *S. columbariae* (green). The mean biomass for each of the three phytometer species in shrub and open microsites (a) and with nutrient addition (c). Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. Solid lines represent mean model fit and shaded areas are 95% confidence intervals. Models with significant microsite by

aridity interactions were plotted separately for shrub (solid line) and open (dashed line) microsites.

**Figure 3.3:** The effects of shrubs and the aridity gradient on community characteristics (shrub - O and open -  $\Delta$ ). Solid lines represent mean model fit and shaded areas are 95% confidence intervals. Models with significant microsite by aridity interactions were plotted separately for shrub (solid line) and open (dashed line) microsites. The community characteristics that were measured included a) annual species richness (pseudo-R<sup>2</sup> = 0.28), b) annual plant biomass - IHS transformed (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.23), c) mean phylogenetic community dissimilarity (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.38), and d) annual plant abundance for natives (grey; pseudo-R<sup>2</sup> = 0.73) and non-natives in black (black; pseudo-R<sup>2</sup> = 0.77).

**Figure 3.4:** Correspondence analysis (CA) of plant community composition in each microsites and the seven sites along the gradient of aridity in Southern California. Only the first two axes are shown and explain 62% of the variation in the plant communities. The four groups identified from the cluster analysis are displayed as ellipses.

**Fig. 4.1:** Co-occurrence patterns of shrubs and annual plants species at 1000 random points within the Mojave Desert, California. The probability of shrub occurrence positively correlated with beneficiary occurrence probabilities ( $R^2 = 0.42$ , p < 0.001) and the occurrence of unreported annual species ( $R^2 = 0.16$ , p < 0.001). The probability of occurrence for beneficiary and unreported plant species were also correlated (r = 0.85).

**Fig. 4.2:** MaxEnt models for each species trained and tested on occurrence only data from GBIF. AUC values were derived from average predictions of 40 runs with error bars representing 95% confidence intervals.

**Fig. 4.3:** A representative example of MaxEnt predictive models for the distribution of a known beneficiary species, *Camissonia claviformis* (top), and unreported species, *Acmispon brachycarpus* (bottom), with environmental predictors only (m<sub>env</sub>) and environmental predictors with shrub density as a predictor (m<sub>shrub.env</sub>). The shrub-based range expansion (HS<sub>diff</sub>) represents the difference of prediction in m<sub>shrub.env</sub> and m<sub>env</sub>.

Fig. 4.4: A phylogeny of examined annual species and the associated range expansion effect from shrub facilitation ( $HS_{diff}$ ).

Figure 5.1: Location of the study sites used both directly for this project and other supplemental experiments.

## Chapter 1

## A systematic review and conceptual framework for the mechanistic pathways of nurse

## plants

## Published as:

Filazzola, A., & Lortie, C. J. (2014). A systematic review and conceptual framework for the mechanistic pathways of nurse plants. Global Ecology and Biogeography, 23(12), 1335-1345.

#### Abstract:

**Aim** - To conceptualize the mechanistic pathways of the nurse-plant syndrome by life form and to identify the implications of positive plant-plant interactions for landscape and evolutionary ecology.

#### Location - Global

**Methods** - We conducted a quantitative review examining 298 articles to categorize the nurseplant ecological literature based on geographic region, mechanism of facilitation, ecological hypothesis, and nurse life form.

**Results** - A total of nine different nurse mechanisms were identified and two were classified as meta-mechanisms. We found that shrubs were the dominant nurse life form (46% of total studies) and that studies of positive plant interactions were most frequent in areas of high abiotic stress. Nurse-plant studies were also distributed unevenly around the globe with nearly a quarter in the South American Andes and Spain. Studies testing the direct nurse-protégé interactions were the most frequently studied including the ecophysiological responses of protégé species (32.2%). Research gaps identified in the nurse-plant literature included indirect interactions and seed trapping as well as the large-scale implications for landscape ecology and evolution.

**Main Conclusions** – Nurse plants are often considered keystone species because they commonly structure plant communities. This is an important confirmatory finding in many respects, but it is also novel in that it challenges traditional plant ecology theory and has important implications for landscape-level dynamics over time. The categorization of mechanisms proposed provides both a conceptual framework useful for organizing the research to date and can accelerate linkages with theory and application by identifying important connections. It is becoming

increasingly apparent that future studies of the nurse-plant syndrome must decouple and consider multiple mechanisms of interaction to explain the processes that influence community structure, particularly in high stress conditions, given a changing climate and potential shifts in biodiversity.

#### Introduction

The inclusion of facilitation into ecological theory has generated a paradigm shift that establishes positive interactions as pivotal in explaining many dynamics of ecosystems (Callaway, 1995; Bruno et al., 2003). An apparent core concept used to examine facilitation is the nurse plant; these are species that benefit other plants or taxa through varied mechanisms (Gómez-Aparicio et al., 2004; Brooker et al., 2008) and are typically perennial species such as shrubs, trees, or cushion plants. With facilitation research increasing in scope and frequency (Bruno et al., 2003; Brooker et al., 2008), there is a growing need to clearly define nurse plants and the mechanistic pathways of their effects particularly on other plant species. The nurse-plant syndrome can in theory affect every life-history stage of another plant species including: (1) seed dispersal by increasing beneficiary species reproductive output, (2) seed arrival by functioning as a seed trap, (3) seedling establishment through substrate modification, (4) increased plant growth from reduction in herbivory or abiotic stress, and (5) increased survival and reproductive output. Consequently, the result of these positive interactions on individual plants can cause communitylevel changes in species composition (Cavieres & Badano, 2009). Both direct (nurse-protégé) and indirect (nurse-intermediary-protégé) pathways (Bruno et al., 2003) can impact the various life stages and can shift in sign or magnitude with the ontogeny of a plant (Callaway and Walker 1997). In successional contexts, the pioneer plant may facilitate the development of others and eventually be replaced as it is exceeded by the increasing size of the benefactor species (Connell and Slatyer 1977). Though this is an excellent example of facilitation, it is not a typical nurseprotégé interaction used in the current literature as the nurse generally remains as a component of the ecosystem and the protégé is commonly (but not always) an annual plant species (Brooker et al., 2008; McIntire & Fajardo, 2014). Nurse plants have also been tested as tools for restoration

in disturbed landscapes (Zhao et al., 2007; Gómez-Aparicio, 2009) and can interact with invasive plant species (Cavieres et al., 2007). Nurse-plant studies have the capacity to inform both

theoretical and applied plant ecology.

In a review conducted by Brooker et al., (2008), six key facilitation concepts were identified, and we have expanded upon these to generate nine ecological hypotheses that are specifically tested using nurse plants (Table 1.1). These ecological hypotheses represent the scope of the current nurse-plant topics and simplify the broad facilitation literature into distinct disciplines including practices from theoretical, applied, and experimental ecology. Although positive plant interactions have been previously reviewed (Bruno et al., 2003; Flores and Jurado, 2003; Callaway, 2007; Brooker et al., 2008), further efforts are required to understand the ecosystem level implications of the nurse-plant syndrome. For instance, nurse plants are capable of driving biodiversity in multiple ecosystems (McIntire & Fajardo, 2014). There is also additional evidence of nurse plants as components of landscape-level processes such as ecological succession (Raffaele & Veblen, 1998), invasion biology (Cavieres et al., 2007), and as a restoration tool (Gómez-Aparicio, 2009). Therefore, a formal review and conceptual framework is needed to quantitatively summarize the current state of research on nurse plants and to anchor the mechanistic pathways to global implications for ecology. Conceptual frameworks provide both a comprehensive understanding of the literature to date while setting an agenda for future avenues of research. By supplementing these frameworks with a systematic review, we provide a more robust synthesis that both highlights novel pathways and identifies research gaps.

#### **Conceptual framework**

Nurse plants can positively affect both members of the same species as well as other plant species through a suite of direct and indirect mechanisms (Callaway, 2007). Previous studies have categorized positive interactions into pathways between the benefactor and beneficiary (Anthelme & Dangles, 2012; McIntire & Fajardo, 2014). However, only one previous synthesis has examined the physical mechanisms underpinning plant-plant facilitation (Flores & Jurado, 2003). The nurse-protégé mechanisms were originally categorized into five pathways including seed trapping and safe sites for moisture, herbivory, nutrients, and physical support (Flores & Jurado, 2003). However, empirical research has since progressed to extend these mechanisms to include at least two primary and two ancillary mechanisms (Table 1.2). For example, the physical support safe site has been expanded here to consider all forms of substrate modification including root grafts, providing soil humus, and increasing soil microorganisms such as mycorrhiza (Cuenca & Lovera, 1992; Carrillo-Garcia et al., 1999). The first additional primary nurse mechanism is the indirect facilitation of pollinator visitation by magnet species effects (Feldman et al., 2004; Molina-Montenegro et al., 2008). A nurse may sustain a population of pollinators or may function with protégé plants to jointly increase visitation of shared pollinators (Laverty, 1992; Moeller, 2004). The second additional mechanism is the amelioration of abiotic stress, such as protection from weather, heat, or cold extremes, particularly common in studies examining the stress gradient hypothesis (Bertness & Callaway, 1994; Maestre et al., 2009; Holmgren & Scheffer, 2010). The remaining two additional pathways are best classed as metamechanisms because they are ancillary effects that function as responses to primary mechanisms. The first meta-mechanism is nurse-mediated distribution, which affects the spatial presence of protégé plants with more frequent occurrences of species or individuals under the nurse canopy

versus open microsites (Franco-Pizaña *et al.*, 1995). Commonly, this pathway uses general association patterns and not formal spatial statistics (e.g. Carrillo-Garcia *et al.*, 2002; Yang *et al.*, 2010). The second meta-mechanism is nurse-mediated evolution resulting in changes to genetics (Liancourt *et al.*, 2012), ontogenic shifts (Armas & Pugnaire, 2009), or phylogenetic variation (Armas & Pugnaire, 2009; Valiente-Banuet & Verdú, 2007; Armas *et al.*, 2013). These nine mechanisms represent the entire documented contemporary scope of nurse-plant interactions with other plant species (Figure 1.1). Collectively, this framework organizes nurse-plant effects by life-stage because net interactions in plants often shift with plant development (Valiente-Banuet & Verdú, 2008). We summarize this framework as a clock wherein each independent notation in the ring represents a potential mechanistic pathway studied empirically, and the clockwise motion represents the progression of the protégé's life stages. The conceptual framework specifically lists key pathways of plant facilitation but also allows space for the incorporation of yet unexamined additional pathways.

In this study, we also conducted a formal systematic review to quantitatively describe the nurseplant literature. The primary purpose of this review is to summarize, organize, and firmly link studies of the nurse-plant syndrome to ecosystem and evolutionary theory. We explored this topic by synthesizing the studies associated with the following objectives:

- To assess the global extent of published nurse-plant effects and test whether there is a correlation between climate and the reported mechanisms.
- 2) To describe, contrast, and highlight research gaps for each nurse-plant mechanism and ecological hypothesis including differences in the nurse-plant life form.

3) To broaden and formalize the semantics of the nurse-plant syndrome by organizing all the studies and incorporating processes associated with evolution and macroecology (i.e., termed meta-mechanisms).

For simplicity, we assume that publication frequency is an indication of prevalence in natural systems, but we also recognize that there are legitimate biases in the study of an ecological process associated with the viability of studying particular places, species, and processes (Onwuegbuzie & Leech, 2007). We predict that resource-limited environments will have the greatest proportion of nurse studies because positive interactions have been shown to be greatest in conditions of high stress (Lortie & Callaway, 2006; Maestre et al., 2009), but may collapse at gradient extremes (Michalet *et al.*, 2013a). Consequently, we predict that mechanisms associated with ameliorating abiotic stress and hypotheses testing it (i.e. the stress-gradient hypothesis) are more commonly studied and have been increasing in frequency recently. This does not necessarily imply relative importance, simply that nurse plants more commonly interact by these mechanisms. Some nurse life forms may be particularly associated with specific mechanisms, such as shrubs with seed trapping because xeric environments have fewer physical obstructions. We also predict that nurse-protégé interactions play a dominant role in shaping the ecosystems where they are present, but have been relatively understudied in aspects of landscape ecology and evolution. By better understanding nurse-plant interactions we are able to project ecosystem responses to landscape level changes and develop more effective land management practices.

#### Methods

#### Systematic Review

A systematic literature search was conducted using Web of Science from 1960-2014 with the following search terms: "nurse" and "plant\*". Topics unrelated to ecology were excluded such as substance abuse, virology, and biochemistry (Supplementary information, Figure A.1). The remaining 560 studies were individually reviewed for relevance and then categorized based on ecological hypothesis (Table 1.1) and nurse mechanisms (Table 1.2). Using the same criteria, a sub-set of the total 560 studies were examined and classified by an independent expert on plant interactions to ensure replicability (Côté *et al.*, 2013). Publications that tested more than one mechanism or hypothesis were independently classified, i.e. an article could be associated with multiple categories. Supplemental searches were conducted on Google Scholar and Scopus using the same search terms to ensure accurate capture of the nurse-plant literature.

The articles were then further reviewed for additional criteria that are common in nurse-plant studies, such as climate and nurse life form, to summarize the field of research. The climate for all the study sites were recorded for each paper and organized into six major environmental classes based on the Köppen climate classification: Tropical (megathermal), arctic-alpine, arid and semi-arid, Mediterranean (mesothermal), Temperate (microthermal) and other (Michalet *et al.*, 2013b). The "other" classification represents environments that belong to the previously mentioned climate categories but have been severely degraded from anthropogenic disturbances such as agricultural barrens or mining scrapes. Nurse plants were classified into the following life form groups: shrub, tree, cushion, other plant life form, and inanimate object. Geographical coordinates were also extracted from each study and mapped using ARCGIS 10 (ESRI, 2010).

#### Data Analysis

The relative frequency of each ecological hypotheses and nurse mechanism tested per study were compared using Pearson's chi-squared tests (chisq.test function) in R version 2.13 (R Development Core Team, 2011). Each nurse mechanism can function independently, meaning that we would expect that all should have equal relevance and similar numbers of associated studies. We also expect that the ecological hypotheses will favour theoretical based studies rather than applied. To contrast the frequencies of nurse mechanisms and ecological theories, we used a Pearson's chi-squared test and compared the proportion for each grouping to the resulting standardized residuals as post hoc tests (Coolidge, 2012). To compare how the frequency of studies has been changing over time, we plotted the number of nurse studies per year for the last 20 years. Additionally, we fit linear models with year as the predictor and each ecological hypothesis and nurse mechanisms as the response variable. We also separated the number of studies associated with each ecological hypothesis based on nurse life form and conducted a Kruskal-Wallis test followed by post hoc multiple comparisons tests (pgirmess package in R). To determine if the proportion of nurse life forms were similar between ecological hypotheses, each one was treated as percentages of total nurse-plant studies, and a one-way ANOVA was conducted between life forms. Tukey's HSD tests were used for these post hoc comparisons.

#### Results

A total of 298 papers explicitly reported testing for nurse-plant mechanisms (Supplemental material, Figure A.1). The largest proportion of studies (43.6%) were conducted in arid and semi-arid environments ( $\chi^2 = 178.62$ , p < 0.001, n = 127; Figure 1.2), and the study of nurse-

plants was distributed broadly across the globe but not uniformly (Figure 1.3). Many studies were conducted in Spain and the Andes representing 14.1% and 9.1% respectively (Supplemental material, Figure A.2). A total of 57% of studies tested only one mechanism ( $\chi^2 =$ 213.54, p < 0.001, n = 171), and only six articles examined four or more mechanisms. There were also significant differences in the frequency of study for each nurse mechanism ( $\chi^2 =$ 164.68, p < 0.001, n = 298) or ecological hypothesis ( $\chi^2 =$  132.38, p < 0.001, n = 298). Abiotic stress amelioration was the most frequently documented mechanistic pathway (n = 118; Table A.2). Pollinator enhancement and evolutionary changes in protégés were rarely documented mechanisms and significantly understudied (Table A.2).

Hypotheses associated with documenting the direct effects of nurse-plant mechanisms were the most commonly studied (n = 96; Figure 4B; Table A.1). Indirect mechanisms of nurse plants were significantly understudied (Table A.1). Hypotheses associated with the effect of nurse plants on population dynamics and biodiversity (n = 73) and net interactions between nurse protégé depending on abiotic stressors (n = 62) were commonly studied collectively consisting of 45% of the total studies (Figure 1.4). The study of nurse mechanisms in general have been increasing dramatically in the last twenty years (mean effect  $\pm$  SE = 2.27  $\pm$  0.42, t<sub>19</sub> = 5.37, p < 0.001; Figure A.3), driven primarily by studies that examine the amelioration of abiotic stress, increases in soil moisture and favourably modification of soil nutrients (mean effect  $\pm$  SE = 1.08  $\pm$  0.26, t<sub>19</sub> = 4.10, p = 0.0006; Figure A.3).

There was no trend observed between a particular nurse mechanism or ecological hypothesis and a nurse life form. Shrubs were the dominant life form in nurse-protégé interactions (46 % of the total studies) and most commonly examined for all nurse mechanisms and ecological hypotheses ( $\chi^2$ = 17.4, p = 0.001; Figure 1.4). All other life forms of nurse plants were take into account in a

similar number of studies including trees, cushions and inanimate objects (p > 0.05; Figure 1.4). The proportion of the nurse life forms associated with each ecological hypothesis differed significantly ( $F_4 = 27.94$ , post hoc contrasts, all p < 0.001).

#### Discussion

Nurse plants are important focal species for the study of plant-plant interactions, ecophysiology, restoration, and the ecology of dry land ecosystems. Not surprisingly, studies in arid and semiarid environments comprised the bulk of the literature on nurse plants. There were also relatively high frequencies of arctic-alpine and Mediterranean studies that supported the stress gradient hypothesis. Herein, the nurse-plant literature was appropriately classified based on the mechanistic pathways and ecological hypothesis examined. Specifically, studies testing for the amelioration of abiotic conditions have been increasing steadily and significantly in the last two decades. The capacity for nurse plants to facilitate protégé plants through other mechanistic pathways, not associated with abiotic stress, is an important research gap for future research efforts. Shrubs are the most common life form tested to date, but there is also evidence accumulating that some tree species, inanimate objects, and cushion-forming alpine species may function similarly. Importantly, these findings suggest that the mechanisms associated with shrubs are applicable to other life forms. Lastly, recent studies have examined the role of nurse plants in the contexts of applied ecology and landscapes. This conceptual framework clearly illustrates that nurse-plant interactions can impact all plant life stages leading to community-level changes and that these ideas have been well documented in the literature but poorly integrated as related mechanisms. Thus, this synthesis provides a coherent and improved description of nurse

mechanisms, hypotheses and empirical studies while introducing the potential macro-ecological significance of nurse-protégé interactions over evolutionary time.

#### Global distribution of nurse-plant studies

Specific land formations in the Western Hemisphere are particularly amendable to the study of nurse plants. This could either be due to the researchers/themes preferred in those regions or the ecology of those systems. For example, 40.1% of the alpine studies were conducted in the South The coupled effects of high plant diversity, limited bio-geographical American Andes. connectivity between mountains, and the harsh aridity gradient of this longitudinally spanning range (Arroyo et al., 1988) provided ideal conditions to document nurse-plant interactions, i.e. similar to research reported at the edge of life (Michalet *et al.*, 2013a). These elements may be important in applying the nurse-plant methodology to the study of plant-plant interactions in other systems. These climate trends were similar to the synthesis by Flores & Jurado (2003) in that nearly half of all nurse-plant studies were conducted in arid and semi-arid environments. Although experiments in tropic and temperate climates collectively comprised 25% of all studies, both are extremely broad climatic categories including a diverse range of ecosystems such as coastal systems, grasslands, forests, and wetlands. Generally, nurse plant studies are most frequently reported in climates characterized by abiotic stress (Maestre *et al.*, 2009; Holmgren & Scheffer, 2010; Malkinson & Tielborger, 2010) or in degraded habitats for purposes of restoration (Gómez-Aparicio et al., 2004; Padilla & Pugnaire, 2006). The nurse-plant syndrome can be generally restricted to resource limited environments though positive interactions between may diminish in areas of extreme stress (Maestre *et al.*, 2009). However, a recent study in Antarctica has also shown that facilitation was important even in extremely adverse systems (Molina-Montenegro et al., 2012). The high frequency of nurse plant studies in stressful environments may explain the greater proportion of studies examining mechanisms of abiotic amelioration. Nurse plants may therefore be functioning as key drivers of community composition in these systems (Hacker & Gaines, 1997; McIntire & Fajardo, 2014). A global survey of positive interactions and climate in the alpine found that net interactions generally shifted from negative to positive with increasing altitude, but that different climatic regions did not always respond similarly (Michalet et al., 2013b). Facilitation by drought-tolerant species in xeric climates increased at low altitudes thereby buffering the potential effects of climate change but in stress environments with moderate-severity, climate change could amplify the interplay between facilitation and competition increasing variability in community dynamics (Butterfield, 2009). In a related meta-analysis, He et al., (2013) also detected a shift from negative to positive interactions globally with species richness and also found that the strength of interactions varied with climate. Consequently, expanded tests for nurse-plants on gradients and in more precise sets of climatic conditions are needed to better model the mediation effects of nurse-plants on communities. Alternative mechanistic pathways and interactions between the different species are also critical because each will respond differently to climatic perturbations.

#### Research gaps in the research on nurse-plant pathways

Though indirect nurse-effects are less extensively studied than direct mechanisms, they are still important pathways of facilitation. For instance, biotic 'stress' is a major driver of plant-plant interactions (Graff & Aguiar, 2011) and nurse plants can indirectly protect understorey plants from herbivory (Barbosa *et al.*, 2009). A nurse plant can reduce the likelihood of disturbance for neighbouring plant species through shared defences by either being unpalatable (Smit *et al.*, 2006; Bee *et al.*, 2009) or by physically obstructing large animals with thorns and branches

(Flores & Jurado, 2003; Callaway, 2007). More commonly, nurses act through associational resistance to reduce visibility to herbivores, thereby decreasing browsing events (Barbosa *et al.*, 2009). Nurse-effects on external species are not always negative and may act to increase visitation of favourable species for protégé plants. For example, pollination visitation can be indirectly increased when a nurse functions as a magnet species to protégé plants that are otherwise unattractive for pollinators (Laverty, 1992; Callaway, 1995). A nurse can also indirectly improve soil chemistry for the understorey community by facilitating mycorrhiza colonization (Cuenca & Lovera, 1992). Direct and indirect mechanistic pathways can also be specific to certain nurse species (Callaway, 1995) and not purely a physical effect such as trapping windborne seeds (Giladi et al., 2013). For instance, apparent competition among annuals under a shrub canopy can sometimes be reduced by nurse effects (Soliveres et al., 2011; McIntire & Fajardo 2014). Currently, these indirect pathways are ideal opportunities to better understand the impacts of intermediary species in nurse-protégé interactions. This will provide the capacity to construct interaction networks thereby advancing the development of ecological theory (Goudard & Loreau, 2008). Direct and indirect effects may function in concert, interact non-linearly, and influence more than one pathway simultaneously, but we commonly study only singular, direct effects in most instances.

Although not commonly associated with nurse-plant interactions, seed trapping is a mechanism that can positively affect seed arrival of dispersing plant species. Seed dispersal strongly influences population dynamics thereby affecting major ecological processes including biodiversity, plant invasion, and community composition (Myers & Harms, 2009). Nurse plants can increase seed arrival of protégé plants either directly, by nurses physically obstructing passing seeds (Groeneveld *et al.*, 2007; Giladi *et al.*, 2013), or indirectly through animal

mediated transport such as bird perching sites (Debussche & Isenmann, 1994) and mammal caches (Vander Wall & Joyner, 1998). Although seed trapping increases seed arrival, it may not be commonly termed a nurse-plant mechanism because the net outcome of effects on seed success may not always be positive due to increased competition, pathogens, or granivory and because seed dynamics in the field are difficult to quantify (Howe & Smallwood, 1982; Lortie & Turkington, 2002). For seed trapping to be function as a nurse mechanism, the increased seed arrival must result in an increased spatial correlation between nurse and protégé (Cody, 1993), and this may occur if the nurse acts to reduce seed dormancy (Franco-Pizaña *et al.*, 1996), seed granivory (Munguia-Rosas & Sosa, 2008) or act as a "fertile island" by ameliorating abiotic conditions (Yang *et al.*, 2010; Wang *et al.*, 2011). Seed trapping is an under-examined mechanism because it is contingent on additional nurse effects to encourage positive spatial correlation between plant species (Cody, 1993; Cavieres & Arroyo, 2001). It is nonetheless a compelling and likely viable opportunity for increased precision in estimating annual plant dynamics in stressful arid and semi-arid systems that rely heavily on seedbanks.

#### Differences in nurse-plant life form on positive interactions

The life form classifications of nurse plants were not specifically related to any particular mechanism or ecological hypothesis. Nurse 'objects' were the least studied life form but often out-performed their live counter-parts likely because of an inherent lack of competition with the potential resource needs of protégé plants (Munguia-Rosas & Sosa, 2008; Peters *et al.*, 2008). It has been commonly observed that shorter seed dispersal occurs in more heavily vegetated areas (Bullock & Moy, 2004). Therefore, it was expected that shrubs are the dominant life form for seed trapping in xeric environments because the annual plants communities are often sparse and

highly variable in cover (Caballero et al., 2008). Unexpectedly, shrubs were not significantly more studied than other life forms as a seed trapping mechanism potentially because secondary dispersal from rainfall deposits seeds in the sediment flows of open areas in many arid systems thereby reducing direct shrub effects on seed movements (Aerts et al., 2006). Shrubs however were the dominant life form for herbivory protection because their morphology (i.e. thorns, branching, woody) makes them conducive to deterring herbivores (Callaway, 2007). Trees, cushions, and other plant species may not be as physically repealing as shrubs but still deter herbivory from their neighbours through secondary compounds and reduced palatability (Smit et al., 2006; Barbosa et al., 2009; Bee et al., 2009). The observed frequency of life forms, particularly the high proportion of nurse shrubs, is also a consequence of the climates used to study this form of plant facilitation. For example, cushions are more likely to be found in arcticalpine climates while shrubs dominate Mediterranean, arid, and semi-arid climates. The climate rather than the mechanism most commonly predicts the life form of a nurse protégé interaction in the literature to date, but this does not preclude the possibility that many other plant species can function as nurse plants in other communities.

#### Inclusion of two meta-mechanisms and implications for applied ecology

The semantic work included in this review highlighted two previously undefined metamechanisms that should be considered in mainstream nurse-plant theories. The first metamechanism is nurse-mediated evolution that occurs when the selection pressures on protégé plants are changed by the nurse plant (Michalet *et al.*, 2011). Plant traits, such as biomass and fitness, can be increase in stressful environments by positive interactions (Callaway *et al.*, 2002). Nurse-effects are temporally dependent and may result in ontogenetic shifts from facilitation to competition as the protégé plant develops, especially with increasing phylogenetic relatedness of neighbours (Valiente-Banuet & Verdú, 2008; Armas & Pugnaire, 2009; Armas et al., 2013). Positive interactions may also cause ecotypic differentiation wherein plants in an ameliorated nurse microclimate are selected for competitive traits while those in an open microclimate are selected for stress-tolerant traits (Liancourt & Tielbörger, 2011). In some instances, nurse plants may also alter evolution trajectories by increasing the phylogenetic diversity of plant communities through the facilitation of distantly related species (Soliveres et al., 2012; Valiente-Banuet & Verdú, 2007; Lortie, 2007). These positive interactions between nurse-protégé can either encourage or hinder gene flow within a plant population, thereby impacting rates of ecological speciation (Liancourt et al., 2012). The second described meta-mechanism is the nurse-mediated distribution of neighbouring plant species (Franco & Nobel, 1989; Franco-Pizaña et al., 1995). In stressed environments, protégés may become associated with a specific nurse plant such that the area under the nurse acts as an "island" surrounded by an "ocean" of inhabitability (Walker et al., 2001; Wang et al., 2011). Consequently, many studies have shown that plant species are found positively correlated with a nurse-plant species (e.g. Franco-Pizaña et al., 1995; Yang et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2011). This presents concern for biological conservation as some invasive species may use nurse plants as a pathway for invasion into stressful environments typically unavailable to them (Cavieres et al., 2007). However, the spatial associations between nurse-protégé can also have positive implications by introducing a nurse species to increase succession of a deteriorated plant community (Lookingbill & Zavala, 2009). Nurse plants can also function as drivers of biodiversity by increasing niche availability and creating novel habitats (McIntire & Fajardo, 2014). The inclusion of these two metamechanisms, nurse-mediated evolution and dispersal, are a novel categorization of studies that

extends the scope of positive plant interactions and establishes important linkages with evolutionary theory.

Nurse plants have restoration applications as well as global implications for conservation biology, but their capacity to do so has been poorly examined. Although the research on direct nurse-plant mechanisms and ecophysiology is by no means complete, additional attention needs to be focused on the practicality of nurses-protégé interactions. Overall, there are considerably fewer papers examining applied ecological practices such as restoration ecology and invasion biology. Nurse plants have been repeatedly used for restoration purposes in a variety of degraded habitats and ecosystems (e.g. Gómez-Aparicio *et al.*, 2004; Padilla & Pugnaire, 2006). Although nurse plants are commonly applied in the reforestation of the Mediterranean basin (Castro *et al.*, 2002), there are other potential areas applicable for landscape restoration including the lower subtropics, arid ecosystems, and peatlands. The widespread potential for nurse plants to be used for restoration applications strengthens their role in applied ecology.

#### Conclusions

A conceptual framework was proposed herein to organize nurse-plant mechanisms by the lifestages of protégé species with plant development as the most affected. The high frequency of studies in arid/semi-arid ecosystems is consistent with a former review on the topic and a clear signal that nurse-plants are important in these ecosystems. The dominant pathway studied is abiotic amelioration, but there is accumulating evidence for the role of nurses as seed traps or as refuges from consumers. There was no specific relationship between particular life forms and mechanisms or ecological hypotheses tested suggesting that the ecological relevance of nurses can be very broad. Climate classification was however an important factor in organizing the nurse-plant literature. Two novel meta-mechanisms are also proposed that describe and incorporate the emerging empirical research on distributions and evolutionary implications for protégé species. This conceptual framework by life-stage provides a unification of the nurse-plant literature to date and suggests that linkages between different mechanistic pathways will become increasingly important in facilitation studies. These nurse mechanisms may act independently or function in concert making it critical that future studies decouple the different pathways of facilitation when trying to understand the ecology of communities defined by nurse-protégé interactions.

#### Acknowledgements

We wish to thank Diego Sotomayor, David Currie, Arndt Hampe and two anonymous reviewers for helpful comments. This research was funded by The United States Department of the Interior, Bureau of Land Management and an NSERC Discovery Grant to CJL. A York University Faculty of Graduate Studies salary supported the research of AF.

#### References

- Aerts, R., Maes, W., November, E., Behailu, M., Poesen, J., Deckers, J., Hermy, M., & Muys, B.(2006) Surface runoff and seed trapping efficiency of shrubs in a regenerating semiarid woodland in northern Ethiopia. Catena, 65, 61-70.
- Anthelme, F., & Dangles, O. (2012) Plant–plant interactions in tropical alpine environments. Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics, 14, 363-372.
- Armas, C., Schöb, C., & Gutiérrez, J. R. (2013) Modulating effects of ontogeny on the outcome of plant–plant interactions along stress gradients. New Phytologist, 200, 7-9.
- Armas, C., & Pugnaire, F. I. (2009) Ontogenetic shifts in interactions of two dominant shrub species in a semi-arid coastal sand dune system. Journal of Vegetation Science, 20, 535-546.
- Arroyo, M. T. K., Squeo, F. A., Armesto, J. J., & Villagran, C. (1988) Effects of aridity on plant diversity in the northern Chilean Andes: results of a natural experiment. Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden, 75, 55-78.
- Barbosa, P., Hines, J., Kaplan, I., Martinson, H., Szczepaniec, A., & Szendrei, Z. (2009)
   Associational resistance and associational susceptibility: having right or wrong neighbors. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 40, 1-20.
- Bee, J. N., Tanentzap, A. J., Lee, W. G., Lavers, R. B., Mark, A. F., Mills, J. A., & Coomes, D.A. (2009) The benefits of being in a bad neighbourhood: plant community composition influences red deer foraging decisions. Oikos, 118, 18-24.
- Bertness, M. D., & Callaway, R. (1994) Positive interactions in communities. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 9, 191-193.

- Brooker, R. W., Maestre, F. T., Callaway, R. M., Lortie, C. L., Cavieres, L. A., Kunstler, G.,
  Liancourt, P., Tielbörger, K., Travis, J.M.J, Anthelme, F., Armas, C., Coll, L., Corcket, E.,
  Delzon, S., Forey, E., Kikvidze, Z., Olofsson, J., Pugnaire, F., Quiroz, C.L., Saccone, P.,
  Schiffers, K., Seifan, M., Touzard, B. & Michalet, R. (2008) Facilitation in plant
  communities: the past, the present, and the future. Journal of Ecology, 96, 18–34.
- Bruno, J. F., Stachowicz, J. J., & Bertness, M. D. (2003) Inclusion of facilitation into ecological theory. Trends in ecology & evolution, 5347, 1–7.
- Bullock, J. M., & Moy, I. L. (2004) Plants as seed traps: inter-specific interference with dispersal. Acta Oecologica, 25, 35-41.
- Butterfield, B. J. (2009) Effects of facilitation on community stability and dynamics: synthesis and future directions. Journal of Ecology, 97, 1192-1201.
- Caballero, I., Olano, J. M., Escudero, A., & Loidi, J. (2008) Seed bank spatial structure in semiarid environments: beyond the patch-bare area dichotomy. Plant Ecology, 195, 215-223.

Callaway, R. M. (1995) Positive Interactions among Plants. Botanical Review, 61, 306–349.

- Callaway, R. M. (2007) Indirect Mechanisms for Facilitation. Positive Interactions and Interdependence in Plant Communities. pp. 117-177. Springer, Netherlands.
- Callaway, R. M., Brooker, R. W., Choler, P., Kikvidze, Z., Lortie, C. J., Michalet, R., Paolini,
  L., Pugnaire, F.I., Newingham, B., Aschehoug, E.T., Armas, C., Kikodze, D., & Cook, B.J.
  (2002) Positive interactions among alpine plants increase with stress. Letters to nature, 417, 844–848.

- Callaway, R. M., & Walker, L. R. (1997) Competition and facilitation: a synthetic approach to interactions in plant communities. Ecology, 78, 1958-1965.
- Carrillo-Garcia, Á., La Luz, D., León, J. L., Bashan, Y., & Bethlenfalvay, G. J. (1999) Nurse plants, mycorrhizae, and plant establishment in a disturbed area of the Sonoran Desert. Restoration Ecology, 7, 321-335.
- Castro, J., Zamora, R., Hódar, J. A., & Gómez, J. M. (2002) Use of Shrubs as Nurse Plants : A New Technique for Reforestation in Mediterranean Mountains. Restoration Ecology, 10, 297–305.
- Cavieres, L. A., & Arroyo, M. T. (2001) Persistent soil seed banks in *Phacelia secunda* (Hydrophyllaceae): experimental detection of variation along an altitudinal gradient in the Andes of central Chile (33 S). Journal of Ecology, 89, 31-39.
- Cavieres, L. A., Badano, E. I., Sierra-Almeida, A., & Molina-Montenegro, M. A. (2007)
  Microclimatic modifications of cushion plants and their consequences for seedling survival of native and non-native herbaceous species in the high Andes of central Chile. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research, 39, 229-236.
- Cavieres, L. A., & Badano, E. I. (2009) Do facilitative interactions increase species richness at the entire community level? Journal of Ecology, 97, 1181-1191.
- Cody, M. L. (1993) Do Cholla Cacti (*Opuntia spp.*, Subgenus Cylindropuntia) use or need nurse plants in the Mojave Desert? Journal of Arid Environments, 24, 139-154.
- Connell, J. H., & Slatyer, R. O. (1977) Mechanisms of succession in natural communities and their role in community stability and organization. American naturalist, 1119-1144.
- Coolidge, F. (2012) An introduction to correlation and regression. Statistics-A Gentle Introduction, 3rd edn, pp 153-196. SAGE Publications Inc, Colorado Springs.
- Côté, I.M., Curtis, P.S., Rothstein, H.R. & Stewart, G.B. (2013) Gathering data: searching literature and selection criteria. Handbook of meta-analysis in ecology and evolution (ed. by J. Koricheva, J. Gurevitch, and K. Mengersen), pp. 37-51. Princeton University Press, Princeton and Oxford.
- Cuenca, G., & Lovera, M. (1992) Vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizae in disturbed and revegetated sites from La Gran Sabana, Venezuela. Canadian Journal of Botany, 70, 73-79.
- ESRI 2010. ArcGIS Desktop: Release 10. Redlands, CA: Environmental Systems Research Institute
- Feldman, T., F Morris, W., & G Wilson, W. (2004) When can two plant species facilitate each other's pollination? Oikos, 105, 197-207.
- Flores, J., & Jurado, E. (2003) Are nurse-protégé interactions more common among plants from arid environments? Journal of Vegetation Science, 14, 911–916.
- Franco, A. C., & Nobel, P. S. (1989) Effect of nurse plants on the microhabitat and growth of cacti. The Journal of Ecology, 870-886.
- Franco-Pizaña, J., Fulbright, T. E., & Gardiner, D. T. (1995) Spatial relations between shrubs and *Prosopis glandulosa* canopies. Journal of Vegetation Science, 6, 73-78.

- Franco-Pizaña, J. G., Fulbright, T. E., Gardiner, D. T., & Tipton, A. R. (1996) Shrub emergence and seedling growth in microenvironments created by *Prosopis glandulosa*. Journal of Vegetation Science, 7, 257-264.
- Giladi, I., Segoli, M., & Ungar, E. D. (2013) Shrubs and herbaceous seed flow in a semi-arid landscape: dual functioning of shrubs as trap and barrier. Journal of Ecology, 101, 97-106.
- Gómez-Aparicio, L. (2009) The role of plant interactions in the restoration of degraded ecosystems: a meta-analysis across life-forms and ecosystems. Journal of Ecology, 97, 1202-1214.
- Gómez-aparicio, A. L., Zamora, R., Gómez, J. M., Hódar, J. A., Castro, J., & Baraza, E.(2004) Applying Plant Facilitation to Forest Restoration : A Meta-Analysis of the Use of Shrubs as Nurse Plants. Ecological Applications, 14, 1128–1138.
- Goudard, A., & Loreau, M. (2008) Non-trophic interactions, biodiversity, and ecosystem functioning: an interaction web model. The American Naturalist, 171, 91-106.
- Graff, P., & Aguiar, M. R. (2011) Testing the role of biotic stress in the stress gradient hypothesis. Processes and patterns in arid rangelands. Oikos, 120, 1023-1030.
- Groeneveld, E. V., Masse, A., & Rochefort, L. (2007) *Polytrichum strictum* as a Nurse-Plant in Peatland Restoration. Restoration Ecology, 15, 709-719.
- Hacker, S. D., & Gaines, S. D. (1997) Some implications of direct positive interactions for community species diversity. Ecology, 78, 1990-2003.

- He, F., Bertness, M.D. & Altieri, A.H. (2013) Global shifts towards positive species interactions with increasing environmental stress. Ecology Letters, 83, 1185-1198.
- Holmgren, M., & Scheffer, M. (2010) Strong facilitation in mild environments: the stress gradient hypothesis revisited. Journal of Ecology, 98, 1269-1275.
- Laverty, T. M. (1992) Plant interactions for pollinator visits: a test of the magnet species effect. Oecologia, 89, 502-508
- Liancourt, P., Choler, P., Gross, N., Thibert-Plante, X., & Tielbörger, K. (2012) How facilitation may interfere with ecological speciation. International Journal of Ecology, 2012, 1-11.
- Liancourt, P., & Tielbörger, K. (2011) Ecotypic differentiation determines the outcome of positive interactions in a dryland annual plant species. Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics, 13, 259-264.
- Lookingbill, T. R., & Zavala, M. A. (2009) Spatial pattern of *Quercus ilex* and *Quercus pubescens* recruitment in *Pinus halepensis* dominated woodlands. Journal of Vegetation Science, 11, 607-612.
- Lortie, C. J. (2007) An ecological tardis: the implications of facilitation through evolutionary time. Trends in ecology & evolution, 22, 627-630.
- Lortie, C. J., & Callaway, R. M. (2006) Re-analysis of meta-analysis: support for the stressgradient hypothesis. Journal of Ecology, 94, 7-16.
- Lortie, C. J., & Turkington, R. (2002) The effect of initial seed density on the structure of a desert annual plant community. Journal of Ecology, 90, 435-445.

- Maestre, F. T., Callaway, R. M., Valladares, F., & Lortie, C. J. (2009) Refining the stressgradient hypothesis for competition and facilitation in plant communities. Journal of Ecology, 97, 199–205.
- Malkinson, D., & Tielbörger, K. (2010) What does the stress-gradient hypothesis predict? Resolving the discrepancies. Oikos, 119, 1546-1552.
- McIntire, E. J., & Fajardo, A. (2014) Facilitation as a ubiquitous driver of biodiversity. New Phytologist, 201, 403-416.
- Michalet, R., Bagousse-Pinguet, L., Maalouf, J. P., & Lortie, C. J. (2013a) Two alternatives to the stress-gradient hypothesis at the edge of life: the collapse of facilitation and the switch from facilitation to competition. Journal of Vegetation Science. 2013, 1-5.
- Michalet, R., Brooker, R. W., Cavieres, L. A., Kikvidze, Z., Lortie, C. J., Pugnaire, F. I., & Callaway, R. M. (2006) Do biotic interactions shape both sides of the humped-back model of species richness in plant communities? Ecology Letters, 9, 767-773.
- Michalet, R., Schöb, C., Lortie, C. J., Brooker, R. W., & Callaway, R. M. (2013b). Partitioning net interactions among plants along altitudinal gradients to study community responses to climate change. Functional Ecology.
- Michalet, R., Xiao, S., Touzard, B., Smith, D. S., Cavieres, L. A., Callaway, R. M., & Whitham,T. G. (2011) Phenotypic variation in nurse traits and community feedbacks define an alpine community. Ecology Letters, 14, 433-443.
- Moeller, D. A. (2004) Facilitative interactions among plants via shared pollinators. Ecology, 85, 3289-3301.

- Molina-Montenegro, M. A., Ricote-Martínez, N., Muñoz-Ramírez, C., Gómez-González, S., Torres-Díaz, C., Salgado-Luarte, C., & Gianoli, E. (2012) Positive interactions between the lichen *Usnea antarctica* (Parmeliaceae) and the native flora in Maritime Antarctica. Journal of Vegetation Science, 24, 463-472.
- Munguía-Rosas, M. A., & Sosa, V. J. (2008) Nurse plants vs. nurse objects: effects of woody plants and rocky cavities on the recruitment of the *Pilosocereus leucocephalus* columnar cactus. Annals of botany, 101, 175-185.
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J & Leech, N.L. (2007) Validity and qualitative research: An oxymoron? Quality & Quantity, 41, 233-249.
- Padilla, F. M., & Pugnaire, F. I. (2006) The role of degraded in plants environments the restoration of degraded environments. Frontiers in ecology and the environment, 4, 196– 202.
- Peters, E. M., Martorell, C., & Ezcurra, E. (2008) Nurse rocks are more important than nurse plants in determining the distribution and establishment of globose cacti *Mammillaria* in the Tehuacán Valley, Mexico. Journal of arid environments, 72, 593-601.
- R Development Core Team, (2011) R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Raffaele, E., & Veblen, T. T. (1998) Facilitation by nurse shrubs of resprouting behavior in a post-fire shrubland in northern Patagonia, Argentina. Journal of Vegetation Science, 9, 693-698.

- Smit, C., den Ouden, J., & Müller-Schärer, H. (2006) Unpalatable plants facilitate tree sapling survival in wooded pastures. Journal of Applied ecology, 43, 305-312.
- Soliveres, S., Eldridge, D. J., Maestre, F. T., Bowker, M. A., Tighe, M., & Escudero, A. (2011) Microhabitat amelioration and reduced competition among understorey plants as drivers of facilitation across environmental gradients: towards a unifying framework. Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics, 13, 247-258.
- Soliveres, S., Eldridge, D. J., Hemmings, F., & Maestre, F. T. (2012) Nurse plant effects on plant species richness in drylands: The role of grazing, rainfall and species specificity. Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics, 14, 402-410.
- Valiente-Banuet, A., & Verdú, M. (2007) Facilitation can increase the phylogenetic diversity of plant communities. Ecology Letters, 10, 1029-1036.
- Valiente-Banuet, A., & Verdú, M. (2008) Temporal shifts from facilitation to competition occur between closely related taxa. Journal of Ecology, 96, 489-494.
- Vander Wall, S. B. V., & Joyner, J. W. (1998) Re-caching of Jeffrey pine (*Pinus jeffreyi*) seeds by yellow pine chipmunks (*Tamias amoenus*): potential effects on plant reproductive success. Canadian Journal of Zoology, 76, 154-162.
- Walker, L. R., Thompson, D. B., & Landau, F. H. (2001) Experimental manipulations of fertile islands and nurse plant effects in the Mojave Desert, USA. Western North American Naturalist, 61, 25-35.
- Wang, Y., Bao, W., & Wu, N. (2011) Shrub island effects on a high-altitude forest cutover in the eastern Tibetan Plateau. Annals of forest science, 68, 1127-1141.

- Yang, Y., Niu, Y., Cavieres, L. A., & Sun, H. (2010) Positive associations between the cushion plant *Arenaria polytrichoides* (Caryophyllaceae) and other alpine plant species increase with altitude in the Sino-Himalayas. Journal of Vegetation Science, 21, 1048-1057.
- Zhao, H. L., Zhou, R. L., Su, Y. Z., Zhang, H., Zhao, L. Y., & Drake, S. (2007) Shrub facilitation of desert land restoration in the Horqin Sand Land of Inner Mongolia. Ecological Engineering, 31, 1-8.

# Tables

**Table 1.1:** A list of ecological hypotheses tested using nurse plant mechanisms. Each hypothesis is listed with their central concept, key associated paper and possible nurse mechanism that may be used. More than one hypothesis may be examined within a study at a time.

Hypotheses tested	Applicable Nurse Mechanism	Key Paper(s)
Mechanisms		
Nurse plants directly affect the fitness or productivity	All	Flores & Jurado, 2003;
of plants in their vicinity		Callaway, 2007
Nurse plants indirectly affect the fitness or	Seed trapping, pollinator	Barbosa et al., 2009;
productivity of plants in their vicinity through an intermediary species	visitation and herbivore protection	McIntire & Fajardo, 2014
Gradients		
Net interactions between nurse and protégé are	Substrate modification, soil	Bertness & Callaway,
dependent on abiotic stressors	moisture retention, soil nutrient modification, abiotic stress amelioration	1994; He et al., 2013;
Plant interactions mediate consumer pressures	Herbivore protection	Smit et al., 2006
Community assembly		
Nurse plants facilitate the development of	All	Hacker & Gaines, 1997;
community structure to increasing complexity		Raffaele & Veblen, 1998
Nurse plants alter spatial dynamics of plant	All	Franco-Pizaña et al.,
communities and increase local diversity		1995; Soliveres <i>et al.,</i> 2012.
Nurse plants alter the evolution trajectories and	All	Valiente-Banuet &
phylogenetic history of beneficiary species.		Verdú, 2007
<i>Applications</i> Nurse plants are tools for restoration of native flora in degraded landscapes	All	Gómez-aparicio, 2009
Nurse plants mediate the invasion regimes of non-	All	Cavieres et al., 2007
native plant species		

**Table 1.2:** A list of mechanisms associated with nurse plants. Five of the nurse-protégé interactions are from Flores & Jurado, 2003 (\*) and the remainder proposed herein. Each nurse mechanism is listed with their facilitative effect, key associated paper and categorization as a meta-mechanism. A meta-mechanism is an effect that occurs as the result of another nurse mechanism.

Nurse Mechanism	Protégé response	Key Paper(s)
Abiotic stress amelioration	Reduced environmental variability	Bertness & Callaway, 1994; Lortie &
		Callaway, 2006
Herbivore Protection*	Reduced browsing/trampling	Barbosa et al., 2009; Smit et al., 2006
Pollinator visitation	Increased pollination rate	Laverty, 1992
Substrate modification*	Physical assistance	Carrillo-Garcia et al., 1999
Seed Trapping*	Increased seed arrival	Vander Wall & Joyner, 1998; Giladi et
		<i>al.</i> , 2013
Soil moisture retention*	Higher soil moisture	Maestre et al., 2009
Soil nutrient modification*	Higher soil nutrient	Walker et al., 2001
Nurse-mediated distribution	Nurse association	Franco & Nobel, 1989; Franco-Pizaña
(meta-mechanism)		et al., 1995
Nurse-mediated evolution	Altered genetics/phylogeny	Valiente-Banuet & Verdú, 2007

## Figures



**Figure 1.1:** A conceptual framework for the abiotic and biotic mechanisms of nurse-plant effects studied in the ecological literature. Nurse mechanisms are ordered based on effect of protégé life-stage and the clockwise motion around figure represents the progression of a plant through its life history (i.e. Seed, seedling, plant/growth, reproduction). Listed to the right are possible nurse-protégé responses.



Figure 1.2: The percentage of nurse-plant studies conducted in each global climate.



Figure 1.3: Geographical location of previous studies for nurse plants throughout the world



**Figure 1.4:** The number of associated studies based on nurse life form for each nurse mechanism (A) and each testable ecological hypothesis of facilitation (B).

# Chapter 2

## The effect of consumer pressure and abiotic stress on positive plant interactions are

# mediated by extreme climatic events

## **Published as:**

Filazzola, A., Liczner, A. R., Westphal, M., & Lortie, C. J. (2018). The effect of consumer pressure and abiotic stress on positive plant interactions are mediated by extreme climatic events. New Phytologist, 217(1), 140-150.

## **Summary**

Environmental extremes because of a changing climate can have profound implications for plant interactions in desert communities. Positive interactions can buffer plant communities from abiotic stress and consumer pressure caused by climatic extremes, but limited research has explored this empirically.

We tested the hypothesis that the mechanism of shrub facilitation on an annual plant community can change with precipitation extremes in deserts. During years of extreme drought and aboveaverage rainfall in a desert, we measured plant interactions and biomass while manipulating a soil moisture gradient and reducing consumer pressure.

Shrubs facilitated the annual plant community at all levels of soil moisture through reductions in microclimatic stress in both years and herbivore protection in the wet year only. Shrub facilitation and the high rainfall year contributed to the dominance of a competitive annual species in the plant community.

Precipitation patterns in deserts determine the magnitude and type of facilitation mechanisms. Moreover, shrub facilitation mediates the interspecific competition within the associated annual community between years with different rainfall levels. Examining multiple drivers during extreme climate events is a challenging area of research, but it is a necessary consideration given forecasts predicting these events to increase in frequency and magnitude.

38

## Introduction

Climate change is predicted to increase the variation in weather patterns, including the frequency of precipitation events (IPCC, 2014). In California, the climate has changed relative to historical patterns with an increased frequency of extreme drought followed by shorter periods of relatively higher rainfall (Pierce et al., 2013; Griffin & Anchukaitis, 2014). Desert ecosystems are particularly vulnerable to changes in precipitation (Seager et al., 2007; Thomey et al., 2011) because their community assembly is determined by the frequency and magnitude of rain events (Reynolds et al., 2004; Bates et al., 2006; Holmgren et al., 2006). For instance, some annual plants are absent in drought years but frequent in higher rainfall years and vice versa. This is because stress-tolerant species associate more with drought years while competitive or ruderal species associate more with relatively high precipitation years (Liancourt et al., 2005; Holmgren et al., 2006). Many species are also unable to adapt to extreme climate events (Seager et al., 2007; Thomey et al., 2011), but these species can adapt to changes in climate patterns over longer time frames (Jump & Penuelas, 2005). Additionally, extreme climate events can exceed particular climate parameters beyond critical thresholds, accelerating changes to community composition relative to gradual trends (Jentsch et al., 2007).

In deserts, precipitation extremes can mediate both water availability and consumer pressure. During a drought, lower plant productivity can fail to support a full set of herbivore populations, and the plant community is thus regulated by bottom-up effects such as water availability (van de Koppel *et al.*, 1996; Kuijper & Bakker, 2005). Increasing precipitation can reduce resource limitations promoting productivity, but there can also be top-down regulation by herbivores and thus increased consumer pressure (van de Koppel *et al.*, 1996; Kuijper & Bakker, 2005). There are also non-resource based stressors in deserts that respond to weather including high temperatures and low humidity that limit plant growth (Michalet, 2007; Maestre *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, precipitation extremes in arid communities can be conceptually modelled as two ends of a larger, composite gradient that shifts from primarily abiotic (low precipitation, low productivity, reduced herbivore populations) to biotic (higher precipitation, higher productivity, increased consumer pressure). This model suggests that increase frequency of extreme climate events can lead to significant shifts in driver type and magnitude on desert communities.

Positive interactions among plants can buffer climate extremes, but the specific mechanism of facilitation responsible will change. For instance, the stress gradient hypothesis predicts that the frequency of positive plant interactions will increase with abiotic stress or consumer pressure (Bertness & Callaway, 1994) thereby considering both plant-plant and plant-plant-animal interactions (Lortie et al., 2016). Support for the independent proposed predictions is equivocal because it depends on length of gradient and extent that different species are sensitive to the specific stressor or disturbance tested (Maestre et al., 2006, 2009; Brooker et al., 2008; He et al., 2013; Michalet et al., 2014). This debate is also likely because the effects of consumer pressure on positive plant interactions have been relatively understudied compared to studies on abiotic stress (Smit et al., 2009; Soliveres et al., 2012). In periods of high rainfall, shrubs can reduce consumer pressure (Holmgren & Scheffer, 2010; Graff & Aguiar, 2011) by physically obstructing consumers with thorns or dense branching (Smit & Ruifrok, 2011). Consumers respond to high levels of precipitation (Augustine & McNaughton, 2006; Wenninger & Inouye, 2008) and are known to be important drivers in drylands (Holmgren & Scheffer, 2010; Soliveres et al., 2012). During drought, shrubs can ameliorate the microclimate below their canopy by reducing evapotranspiration and increasing soil moisture availability through hydraulic lift (Flores & Jurado, 2003; Espeleta et al., 2004; Zou et al., 2005). Thus, during both periods of extreme drought and relatively high rainfall, plant-plant interactions can remain positive in sign because the underlying facilitative mechanism changes from abiotic stress amelioration to protection from herbivores (Howard *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, co-occurring gradients of abiotic stress and consumer pressure can result in a substitution of facilitation pathways as a decrease in one driver can concurrently increase the other (Bertness & Callaway, 1994; Lortie, 2010). Plant communities in desert ecosystems naturally experience high levels of variation in rainfall that shifts the mechanism of facilitation and these shifts will become more common because climate change is expected to increase the amplitude of variation.

It is important that the mechanism of plant facilitation be further explored during extreme climate events because it is predicted that climate change will increase the frequency and severity of these events (Jump & Penuelas, 2005; Jentsch et al., 2007). We experimentally tested the response of plant interactions to concurrent reductions in drought stress and consumer pressure in an arid shrubland during an extreme drought year in 2014 and in an above-average rainfall year in 2016. A gradient of soil moisture was experimentally introduced via a controlled watering-regime in each year, and exclosures were also erected to reduce sheep grazing. This design extends previous studies that have examined the effects of abiotic stressors on positive plant interactions in isolation (but see Soliveres et al., 2012; Le Bagousse-Pinguet et al., 2014), but have not tested for interactions with consumer pressure on co-occurring gradients (see theories proposed by Kawai & Tokeshi, 2007; Crain, 2007). Grazing is a form of consumer pressure and typically viewed as a disturbance (Grime, 1973) and/or stressor (Smit et al., 2009). In this study, we conceptualize consumer pressure as a disturbance and a driver of plant community biomass, which can be reduced by positive plant interactions (Holmgren & Scheffer, 2010; Graff & Aguiar, 2011). We experimentally tested the hypothesis that the mechanism of plant facilitation provided by shrubs on the annual community can change with precipitation extremes in deserts to match the respective driver. We predicted that shrubs facilitate the annual plant community (i.e. abundance, richness, and biomass) by ameliorating the microclimate through reductions in temperature extremes and increases in relative humidity during the both years. We predicted that during the drought years, experimentally adding water would reduce the magnitude of positive interactions because the shrub is mechanistically increasing soil moisture availability for the annual community. In a year with above-average precipitation we expected animal exclosures to reduce the magnitude of positive interactions because the shrub is reducing consumer pressure on the annual community. Shrub facilitation on the annual community is expected under both drought and high rainfall conditions, but the mechanism of facilitation is predicted to change depending on the dominant driver of plant productivity that year (i.e. consumer pressure during the high rainfall year versus water availability during the drought year).

#### Methods

#### Study site and community composition

The study was conducted at Panoche Hills Ecological Reserve located in the hills west of the San Joaquin Valley, California (Bureau of Land Management; 36°41.776'N, 120°47.886'W at 650 m. a.s.l.). It has a semi-arid climate with the majority of precipitation occurring in the late fall and winter months (October to March). Therefore, we define a year within this study as the beginning of fall precipitation to the end of the growing season (i.e. October to April). Interannual rainfall varies dramatically; however, average annual precipitation is 25.5 cm with mean monthly temperatures of 8.9°C in January and 26.1 °C in July (Los Banos Weather Station data at 37°03.30' N, 120°51.00' W from U.S. Climate Data 2016). During the 2013-2014 growing season from October to April, rainfall within this region was classified as an exceptional drought (D4, the highest level) by the United States Drought Monitor (USDM 2014). The total amount of precipitation that fell during this period was approximately 8.5 cm and represents ~33% percent of the average annual precipitation (U.S. Climate Data 2014). During the 2015-2016 growing season an El Niño event brought high levels of precipitation to California and Panoche Hills received above average rainfall with approximately 30.5 cm of precipitation or 119% of the annual average (U.S. Climate Data 2016).

The dominant shrub at Panoche Hills is *Ephedra californica*. Other common perennials include *Marrubium vulgare, Juniperus californica and Eriogonum fasciculatum* (Hawbecker, 1951). *E. californica*, commonly referred to as Mormon Tea, is a member of the Gnetophyta division and produces cones during good rainfall years between May and June (Hickman, 1993). *E. californica* is native to southern and central California at elevations under 1000 m and often grows in arid shrublands (Hickman, 1993). The annual community is dominated by the following

non-native species: Red Brome (*Bromus madritensis ssp. rubens*, hereafter *B. madritensis*), Soft Brome (*Bromus hordeaceus*), Red-stem Filaree (*Errodium cicutarium*) and common Mediterranean grass (*Schismus barbatus*). The native annual community is significantly underrepresented but included *Phacelia tanacetifolia*, *Amsinckia grandiflora* and *Monolopia lanceolata*. Frequently observed consumers include the desert cottontail (*Sylvilagus audubonii*), the black-tailed jackrabbit (*Lepus californicus*) and Heerman's kangaroo rat (*Dipodomys heermanni*) (Hawbecker, 1951). The full Panoche Plateau of 10,000 acres was grazed by 780 head of sheep in 2014 and 600 head of sheep in 2016 from mid-March until the time of biomass collection.

In May 2013, a total of 700 individual *Ephedra californica* shrubs were measured, geo-tagged, and labelled with metal number tags (Appendix B). Dimensions taken for the shrubs included diameter at the longest side (D1), the diameter immediately perpendicular to D1 (D2), and shrub height from basal stem to tallest branch (H). Shrub size was then calculated using the formula for volume of a semi-sphere  $(1/3\pi r^3)$ . A visual estimate of shrub decadence on a Likert scale of 0-10 was also included with 0 indicating no foliage and a 10 indicating a full green canopy.

## Water addition and animal exclosures

In January 2014, the soil moisture beneath all 700 shrubs was measured using a SM150 soil moisture sensor from Delta-T Devices ( $\pm$  3.0%) (<u>http://www.delta-t.co.uk</u>/). A sub-sample of 120 shrubs were chosen using the following criteria: shrub volume within two standard deviations of the mean from shrub dataset, ambient soil moisture above 5% and the shrub canopy at 50% active/green. On the north side of each shrub, a 50 x 50 cm quadrat was marked using pin-flags and an open quadrat of equal size was replicated approximately two meters away from the target

45

shrub. A watering regime was developed that applied six levels of water that represented a range of low rainfall years (cm): 0.0, 4.0, 6.5, 9.0, 11.5 and 14.0 (Geologica, 2010). Each water-level was randomly assigned to a set of 20 shrub/open pairs for a total of 240 quadrats. The total water was applied over five days between January 23rd and 31st, 2014. An additional five-shrub/open pairs from each watering-level were randomly selected and animal exclosures were constructed on March 30<sup>th</sup> after annual plant establishment using 21ga galvanized poultry netting buried 10 cm below ground and 1.2 meters above the surface (Figure B.3). Netting was secured around the sample quadrat at a diameter of 70.1 cm and extra care was taken to not disturb the surrounding vegetation. A 1.5 meter rebar post was hammered into the ground and secured to netting to prevent damage to exclosures from ungulates. As an additional herbivore reduction, an animal repellent (Deer Off<sup>®</sup>) was applied to the perimeter of each exclosure at the same time. In January 2016, 60 shrub-open pairs were selected to repeat the experiment, however, a two-level watering regime, 0.0 and 9.0 cm, was used to provide a clearer signal of water addition with the natural precipitation (Figure B.3). Exclosures were erected around 30 shrub-open pairs just after plant establishment. Quadrats were watered on January 16th, 2016 and exclosures were fully constructed by January 26<sup>th</sup>, 2016 to match precipitation patterns that year. Artificial watering was conducted in January which is typically the coldest and wettest part of the growing season for California. We chose January in both years because emergence was either very minimal or non-existent. Our intent was to initiate emergence with a single wetting event rather than extend the growing season at the end with further watering.

#### Abiotic measurements and plant surveys

We measured photosynthetically active radiation (PAR; 400-700 nm) in every quadrat on clear sunny days January 2014 during peak daylight hours (10:00 - 14:00) using a Licor line quantum sensor (Li-191SA, Li-COR Biosciences, Lincoln, NE) set to an average reading over 15 seconds to account for sun flecks. Soil moisture was measured twice with a SM150 soil moisture probeonce after watering (SWC<sub>0</sub>) and again at the end of the growing season in April (SWC<sub>t</sub>) in all plots. Onset HOBO Pro V2 loggers were deployed for air temperature and humidity under six pairs of shrub-open microsites on January 20<sup>th</sup> and collected May 2<sup>nd</sup>, 2014. In 2016, three pairs of loggers were placed under three pairs of shrub-open microsites November 1st 2015 and 1 <sup>st</sup> collected April 2016 (Filazzola al. 2016; on et https://dx.doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.3486551.v1). The loggers were buried underground with the temperature and relative humidity sensor placed 2 cm above the soil surface on the north side of the shrub. The hourly average for the all loggers during the growing season was compiled for each microsite. The LiCor sensor, soil moisture probe and HOBO loggers were all placed within the canopy drip line on the north side of the shrub and adjacent open microsites.

Individual plants in each quadrat were identified to species level in April 2014 and 2016, and relative abundances were counted. A biomass sample was collected from the center of each quadrat using a 10 cm diameter ring. These samples were dried at 85°C for three days and weighed to the nearest 0.0001 gram.

#### Statistical Analyses

To compare the effects of shrubs on microclimate, we fit a model with temperature and relative humidity as the response variables and microsite and experimental year as factors. Temperature was normally distributed and was modelled using a general linear mixed model - LMM (function lmer, package lme4). We determined if microsite and experimental year significantly influenced temperature using F-tests with degrees of freedom calculated using Satterthwaite approximation (package lmerTest; Schaalje, McBride & Fellingham 2002). Relative humidity represents a percentage between 0-100%, and for this we used a generalized linear mixed model - GLMM (function glmer, package lme4) fitted to a binomial distribution with the logit link function. We determined if microsite and experimental year significantly influenced relative humidity using Z-tests fit by maximum likelihood Laplace approximation (Bolker *et al.*, 2009). Both models included logger replicate and day of the year as random effects. We also tested for differences in soil moisture (SWC<sub>0</sub> and SWC<sub>t</sub>) among microsites and years using a general linear model. We used a t-test to compare differences in PAR between shrub and open microsites.

We tested if the shrub facilitation effect on biomass changed with water availability or reductions in consumer pressure using an Analysis of CoVariance (ANCOVA) with exclosure, microsite, and soil moisture (SWC<sub>0</sub>) as the predictor variables and biomass as the response. All predictors were fully crossed. Biomass was adjusted using Box-Cox transformation to meet assumptions of normality (Osborne 2010).

We also determined if the frequency of positive interactions, consumer pressure, and water availability were species-specific by examining changes in community composition. The invasive grass *B. madritensis* was frequently observed as a dominant annual comprising more than 50% of the community composition for 70% of the quadrats. Therefore, we decided to fit models that separately test only *B. madritensis* abundance and the abundance of the remaining annual community (subordinates). We fitted models with *B. madritensis* and the subordinate abundance as the response variables and microsite, exclosure, and soil moisture gradient fully

crossed as predictors for both 2014 and 2016. We also compared the shrub facilitation effect on the different species groups by fitting models with plant abundance as the response variable and microsite and species as the predictor variables for both years. The models were fitted with a negative binomial error distribution (glm.nb function, MASS library) because the abundance of the *B. madritensis* or the subordinate annual community represented discrete counts that are over-dispersed, i.e. variance exceeds the mean (Lindén & Mäntyniemi, 2011).We then used a z-test to determine whether the effects of *B. madritensis* or the subordinate annual community significantly differed from zero.

To compare if the mechanism of facilitation was related to consumer pressure, we examined differences in the effect size of shrub facilitation on biomass with and without consumers. We calculated effect size using the relative interaction index - *RII* (Eq. 1) because of its common usage in plant-interaction studies (Armas *et al.*, 2004; Cavieres *et al.*, 2014). It is symmetrical and bound between +1 (treatment effect - *biomass<sub>t</sub>*) and -1 (control effect – *biomass<sub>c</sub>*). We also compared the effects of consumer pressure, water addition, and shrub facilitation within the dry and wet years using *RII* calculated with and without treatment. In these instances, animal exclosures, water-addition plots, and shrub microsites were the treatments while ambient consumer pressure, no water added, and open plots were the controls.

$$RII = \frac{biomass_t - biomass_c}{(biomass_t + biomass_c)}$$
Eq. 1

To compensate for variability when pairing, treatment and control quadrats were randomly subsampled for calculations of *RII* for 999 iterations and a mean was calculated (i.e. bootstrapping. Filazzola 2016; <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.60810</u>). The calculated means from the bootstrapped data were aggregated into a grand mean and 95% confidence intervals

were obtained. These confidence intervals were used to determine if the treatments were significantly different from zero and to compare among treatments.

We used structural equation models (SEM) to test and quantify the effect of consumer pressure, soil moisture availability, and shrub facilitation on the annual community. A SEM was used because of its easy interpretation and because it implies correlation among the members of the annual community (Grace *et al.*, 2010). SEMs also assist in understanding how the responses of different components of the plant community are affected by multiple factors (Grace *et al.*, 2010). The SEM was modelled using the *lavaan* package in R (Rosseel, 2012). The annual community was specified as a latent variable composed of annual biomass, annual abundance, and *B. madritensis* dominance (i.e. percentage of the total plant abundance per quadrat). Soil moisture, microsite, and exclosures were fit as exogenous variables regressed upon the annual community. We developed models *a priori* and used two separate models for each year in order to best capture the differences in weather conditions. The SEM was evaluated using the Bollen-Stine bootstrapping method (R = 1000), as is typical of non-normal data (Rosseel, 2012).

## Results

#### Micro-environmental differences

Temperature was significantly lower in the wet year than in the dry year (mean effect  $\pm$  SE: -5.69  $\pm$  0.56, t = -10.1, p < 0.001; Figures 2.1a, 2.1b) and it was also relatively cooler under shrubs compared to open microsites in both years (mean effect  $\pm$  SE: -2.19  $\pm$  0.16, t = -13.6, p < 0.001; Figures 2.1a, 2.1b). Relative humidity was significantly greater in the wet year than in the dry year (mean effect  $\pm$  SE: 2.1  $\pm$  0.11, t = 18.8, p < 0.001; Figures 2.1c, 2.1d) and it was relatively greater in the shrub microsite relative to open for both years (mean effect  $\pm$  SE: 0.84  $\pm$  0.03, t = 27.5, p < 0.001; Figures 2.1c, 2.1d). In both years, the open microsites had significantly higher soil moisture (F<sub>356</sub> = 37.2, p < 0.001) and %PAR (t<sub>239</sub> = 15.6, p < 0.001). There were no significant microsite by year interactions for all micro-environmental comparisons (p > 0.05).

#### Plant-community response

In both growing years, annual plant biomass and abundance were greater under shrubs, and species richness was lower (Table 2.1; Appendix C). Water addition did not change the relative frequency of positive interactions in either the dry or wet year (Table 1; Appendix E). Consumer pressure had no detectable effects in the dry year, however, in the wet year exclosures had significantly higher biomass relative to control quadrats (Table 2.1). The frequency of positive interactions decreased when consumer pressure was buffered by exclosures in the wet year (Table 2.1; Figure 2.2a). Soil moisture positively increased annual biomass, but there was no shrub by soil moisture interaction effect detected (Table 2.1). Shrub facilitation was the main driver of annual biomass in both years while the second relevant driver (as estimated by effect size magnitudes) switched from water addition in dry year to consumer pressure in the wet year (Figure 2.2b).

There was no change in the sign or frequency of interactions for *B. madritensis* or the subordinate annual species when consumer pressure was reduced or water was added (Table 2.2). *B. madritensis* was more abundant than the other subordinate plant species for dry year ( $\chi^2 = 61.4$ , p < 0.001) and 2016 ( $\chi^2 = 31.3$ , p < 0.001). The shrub microsite significantly facilitated *B. madritensis* abundance relative to open microsites and reduced the subordinate abundance in the dry year ( $\chi^2 = 44.9$ , p < 0.001; Figure 2.3a) and the wet year ( $\chi^2 = 109.7$ , p < 0.001; Figure 2.3b).

In the structural equation model we observed that shrub facilitation had the strongest effect on the composition of the annual community and this effect increased during the wet year (Figure 4). When considering the entire model, shrub facilitation supported annual biomass and plant abundance, but also the dominance of an exotic species, *B madritensis* (Figure 2.4). Consumer pressure did not affect annual composition in either year, and soil moisture was only relevant during the drought year (Figure 2.4a).

## **Discussion:**

Positive interactions in desert ecosystems can be both directly and indirectly influenced by the large variation in precipitation patterns predicted to be caused by climate change (Reynolds *et al.*, 2004; Bates *et al.*, 2006; Metz & Tielbörger, 2016). Shrub facilitation was the most important driver of annual plant biomass in both years and this effect was greatest in the wet year. We also observed a switch in driver of annual biomass from water availability (bottom-up effects) in the dry year to consumer pressure (top-down regulation) in the wet year. However, our hypothesis was not supported that the facilitation mechanism will change at precipitation

extremes to match these respective drivers. During the wet year, shrubs positively increased annual plant biomass by ameliorating the microclimate and by reducing consumer pressure. In the dry year, microclimate amelioration was the only mechanism of shrub facilitation. Experimentally adding water did not reduce the shrub facilitation effect in either year suggesting increasing soil moisture is not a significant mechanism of facilitation in this ecosystem. The presence of facilitation mechanisms are therefore related to the most limiting driver in the system (e.g. microclimatic stress within this study) and the facilitator's ability to ameliorate the stress or disturbance. The magnitude of positive interactions varies at environmental extremes because additional facilitative mechanism can become relevant, such as within this study. Positive interactions can buffer annual biomass in deserts from extreme climate events, underscoring the importance of future research using environmental extremes. Understanding factors that maintain productivity in arid ecosystems is critical for supporting ecosystem function globally particularly with a changing climate.

## Positive interactions at environmental extremes

Precipitation can mediate the mechanistic pathway of plant facilitation in a given year. The shrubs within our study were found to consistently have a positive effect on the annual community in both a drought and high-rainfall year. Although shrubs in arid ecosystems have been found to provide hydraulic lift and reduce evapotranspiration (Zou *et al.*, 2005; Armas *et al.*, 2010), the shrubs within this study did not appear to increase soil moisture availability. Instead, the primary mechanism of facilitation was reducing non-resource based stress by ameliorating the shrub microclimate in both years (Michalet *et al.*, 2006; Howard *et al.*, 2012) and inhibiting consumers in the above-average rainfall year. This is supported by previous studies that found consumer pressure becomes relatively more important in determining plant

interactions when productivity is high (Daleo & Iribarne, 2009; Graff & Aguiar, 2011). Therefore, positive interactions among plants occur through multiple mechanistic pathways (Smit *et al.*, 2009; Mod *et al.*, 2014) acting in concert, but the net effect is often determined by the most limiting factor. Multiple factors can also have interacting effects that are either synergistic or antagonistic (Crain *et al.*, 2008; Albert *et al.*, 2010). Thus, studying abiotic stress or consumer pressure independently that likely co-occur within a community limits our capacity to infer the relative importance of different mechanistic pathways and interactions among them (Flores & Jurado, 2003; Filazzola & Lortie, 2014). Multiple co-occurring factors and their associated mechanistic pathways are important topics for the development of more complex statistical models that pertain to research on climate variation.

Plant communities have evolved tolerance to the natural climate variation present in deserts (Tielbörger *et al.*, 2014). Desert annual species are tolerant to some inter-annual variability in climate through increased phenotypic plasticity (Aronson *et al.*, 1992). However, if climate variation is extreme, acclimatization is more difficult for individual plants (Gutschick & BassiriRad 2003; Jump & Peñuelas 2005). For instance, Jentsch *et al.* (2009) reported accelerated flowering times during an extreme drought while duration of flowering was reduced during heavy rainfall events. A prolonged extreme climate event, such as a multi-year drought, can have legacy effects on plant species in desert ecosystems (Reichmann *et al.*, 2013). Precipitation in California is predicted to become more variable in the future (Pierce et al. 2012) and therefore, positive interactions will become more important to maintain desert productivity. Ecological management plans will need to consider maintaining shrubs on arid rangelands to support ecosystem productivity through annuals for both native herbivores and livestock. Shrubs

are thus foundation species for desert communities and positive interactions could be a component of community resilience to climate variation.

We detected a net positive effect of shrubs on the annual community in both years and at all levels of water addition and consumer pressure. However, the magnitude of effect was significantly lower in the extreme drought year. The facilitation effect of the shrub can shift from positive to negative as a result of increased resource competition, such as water availability, that exceeds the benefits of positive mechanisms (Bellot *et al.*, 2004; Noumi *et al.*, 2016). More extreme drought events could thus result in a neutral or negative shrub effect on the annual plant community (Michalet *et al.*, 2014). This suggests that shrubs could lose the ability to buffer the annual community at more extreme precipitation levels. Positive interactions extend the resilience of a plant community to extreme climate events, but these extremes could be exceeded with forecasts of climate change.

#### Facilitation effects on interspecific competition

An invasive grass species, *B. madritensis*, dominated the majority of the surveyed quadrats and was strongly correlated with soil moisture and the shrub facilitation effect. Positive interactions have been previously shown to facilitate the invasion of a non-native species into a habitat that is otherwise unsuitable for the invader species (Cavieres *et al.*, 2007). Though the effect of the shrub on the annual community was positive within this study, the ameliorated abiotic conditions may have altered interspecific competition within the community such as through increasing exploitative competition (Melgoza *et al.*, 1990; Tielbörger & Kadmon, 2000; Michalet *et al.*, 2015). Reduction in abiotic stress was positively related to *Bromus madritensis*, but negatively related to the remaining annual community likely because of increased competition from the

exotic grass species (Abella et al., 2011). For instance, shading and reduced temperature variation by the shrub Atriplex vesicaria in a semi-arid ecosystem increased the growth and establishment of an invasive succulent Orbea variegata because it was significantly more abundant within the shrub canopy (Lenz & Facelli, 2003). By removing resource limitations, competitive species can gain an advantage over stress-adapted species within the plant community (Callaway & Walker, 1997; Brooker & Callaghan, 1998; Liancourt et al., 2005). Consequently, shrub facilitation can have effects on interspecific competition among the annual community and increase the dominance of another species (Tielbörger & Kadmon, 2000; Rodríguez-Buriticá & Miriti, 2009). Positive interactions in arid environments can also have indirect effects that are non-trophic on the annual plant community (Lortie et al., 2016). Invasion by non-natives is increasingly becoming a critical issue even in relatively high-stress ecosystems (Rodríguez-Buriticá & Miriti, 2009; Abella et al., 2011). Moreover, there is an increasing need to consider multiple factor when modeling interactions of native and exotic species with climate variation (Preston et al. 2008; Olden et al. 2010; Van Zuiden & Sharma 2016). Positive interactions can increase apparent competition in a changing climate, promoting shifts in species composition. Facilitation therefore may be a factor in the transition of arid and semi-arid ecosystems of California from native perennial bunchgrasses to exotic annuals (Orrock et al., 2008; Abraham et al., 2009). Surveys and manipulation of potential drivers of exotic success in deserts need to include positive interactions from shrubs.

## Conclusions

Previous studies predict that positive plant interactions are more common with high levels of consumer pressure (Daleo & Iribarne, 2009; Graff & Aguiar, 2011) or abiotic stress (Callaway *et al.*, 2002; He *et al.*, 2013). Our support confirms these findings and suggests that precipitation

extremes represent ends of biotic and abiotic gradients in desert ecosystems. We expected a switch in the mechanism of facilitation to match these different drivers, but this was not observed. Amelioration from abiotic stress was the dominant mechanism of facilitation in both years and also herbivore protection in the wet year only. The presence or absence of a facilitation mechanism is thus closely tied to the drivers in the community that are limiting and the facilitator's capacity for amelioration. Incorporating extreme climatic events into research on positive plant interactions is a difficult, yet important avenue of research as many communities may not be able to adapt to the climate extremes of the future. This is especially true with forecasts predicting greater climatic variability in the future (Stocker et al. 2013). Further research of positive interactions should include larger-scale gradients encompassing greater environmental extremes. Management and restoration of high-stress ecosystems also needs to incorporate multiple gradients and consider inter-annual variation as a potential mediator of any interventions.

#### Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Mercey Hot Springs for providing water during a difficult drought year. We also thank the entire BLM field office in Hollister, especially Michael Powers, for their significant contributions to the project in a multitude of ways. We thank Amy Austin, Bridget Stutchbury, Mark Rees, Thomas Van Zuiden, and three anonymous reviewers for their comments on earlier drafts towards improving the manuscript. This research was funded by a Discovery Grant from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada to CJL, a Bureau of Land Management Grant to CJL, and AF was also supported by the York University Faculty of Graduate Studies.

## References

Abella SR, Craig DJ, Chiquoine LP, Prengaman KA, Schmid SM, Embrey TM. 2011. Relationships of Native Desert Plants with Red Brome (*Bromus rubens*): Toward Identifying Invasion-Reducing Species. *Invasive Plant Science and Management* **4**: 115–124.

**Abraham JK, Corbin JD, D'Antonio CM**. **2009**. California native and exotic perennial grasses differ in their response to soil nitrogen, exotic annual grass density, and order of emergence. *Plant Ecology* **201**: 445–456.

Albert CH, Thuiller W, Yoccoz NG, Soudant A, Boucher F, Saccone P, Lavorel S. 2010.
Intraspecific functional variability: extent, structure and sources of variation. *Journal of Ecology* 98: 604–613.

Armas C, Ordiales R, Pugnaire FI. 2004. Measuring plant interactions: a new comparative index. *Ecology* **85**: 2682–2686.

Armas C, Padilla FM, Pugnaire FI, Jackson RB. 2010. Hydraulic lift and tolerance to salinity of semiarid species: consequences for species interactions. *Oecologia* 162: 11–21.

Aronson J, Kigel J, Shmida A, Klein J. 1992. Adaptive Phenology of Desert and
Mediterranean Populations of Annual Plants Grown with and without Water Stress. *Oecologia*89: 17–26.

Augustine DJ, McNaughton SJ. 2006. Interactive Effects of Ungulate Herbivores, Soil Fertility, and Variable Rainfall on Ecosystem Processes in a Semi-arid Savanna. *Ecosystems* 9: 1242–1256.

Le Bagousse-Pinguet Y, Maalouf J-P, Touzard B, Michalet R. 2014. Importance, but not intensity of plant interactions relates to species diversity under the interplay of stress and disturbance. *Oikos* 123: 777–785.

**Bates JD, Svejcar T, Miller RF, Angell RA**. **2006**. The effects of precipitation timing on sagebrush steppe vegetation. *Journal of Arid Environments* **64**: 670–697.

Bellot J, Maestre FT, Chirino E, Hernández N, de Urbina JO. 2004. Afforestation with Pinus halepensis reduces native shrub performance in a Mediterranean semiarid area. *Acta Oecologica* 25: 7–15.

**Bertness MD, Callaway RM**. **1994**. Positive interactions in communities. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **9**: 27–29.

Bolker BM, Brooks ME, Clark CJ, Geange SW, Poulsen JR, Stevens MHH, White J-SS.
2009. Generalized linear mixed models: a practical guide for ecology and evolution. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 24: 127–135.

**Brooker RW, Callaghan T V. 1998**. The Balance between Positive and Negative Plant Interactions and Its Relationship to Environmental Gradients: A Model. *Oikos* **81**: 196.

Brooker RW, Maestre FT, Callaway RM, Lortie CL, Cavieres LA, Kunstler G, Liancourt

P, Tielbörger K, Travis JMJ, Anthelme F, et al. 2008. Facilitation in plant communities : the past , the present , and the future. *Journal of Ecology* **96**: 18–34.

Callaway RM, Brooker RW, Choler P, Kikvidze Z, Pugnaire FI, Newingham B, Aschehoug ET. 2002. Positive interactions among alpine plants increase with stress. *Letters to nature* 417:

844-848.

**Callaway RM, Walker LR. 1997**. Competition and facilitation: a synthetic approach to interactions in plant communities. *Ecology* **78**: 1958–1965.

Cavieres LA, Brooker RW, Butterfield BJ, Cook BJ, Kikvidze Z, Lortie CJ, Michalet R, Pugnaire FI, Schöb C, Xiao S, *et al.* 2014. Facilitative plant interactions and climate simultaneously drive alpine plant diversity. *Ecology Letters* 17: 193–202. **Cavieres LA, Quiroz CL, Molina-Montenegro MA**. **2007**. Facilitation of the non-native Taraxacum officinale by native nurse cushion species in the high Andes of central Chile: are there differences between nurses? *Functional Ecology* **2**: 148-156.

**Crain CM**. **2007**. Interactions between marsh plant species vary in direction and strength depending on environmental and consumer context. *Journal of Ecology* **96**: 166–173.

Crain CM, Kroeker K, Halpern BS. 2008. Interactive and cumulative effects of multiple human stressors in marine systems. *Ecology Letters* **11**: 1304–1315.

**Daleo P, Iribarne O**. **2009**. Beyond competition: the stress-gradient hypothesis tested in plant– herbivore interactions. *Ecology* **90**: 2368–2374.

**Espeleta JF, West JB, Donovan LA**. **2004**. Species-specific patterns of hydraulic lift in cooccurring adult trees and grasses in a sandhill community. *Oecologia* **138**: 341–349.

**Filazzola A, Lortie CJ. 2014**. A systematic review and conceptual framework for the mechanistic pathways of nurse plants. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* **23**: 1335–1345.

Flores J, Jurado E. 2003. Are nurse-protégé interactions more common among plants from arid environments? *Journal of Vegetation Science* 14: 911–916.

**Geologica 2010.** Water supply assessment Solargen Panoche Valley Solar Farm, Panoche Valley, California. Submitted to the county of San Benito.

Grace JB, Anderson TM, Olff H, Scheiner SM. 2010. On the specification of structural equation models for ecological systems. *Ecological Monographs* 80: 67–87.

**Graff P, Aguiar MR**. **2011**. Testing the role of biotic stress in the stress gradient hypothesis. Processes and patterns in arid rangelands. *Oikos* **120**: 1023–1030.

Griffin D, Anchukaitis KJ. 2014. How unusual is the 2012-2014 California drought? *Geophysical Research Letters* 41: 9017–9023.
Grime JP. 1973. Competitive Exclusion in Herbaceous Vegetation. Nature 242: 344–347.

**Gutschick VP, BassiriRad H**. **2003**. Extreme events as shaping physiology, ecology, and evolution of plants: toward a unified definition and evaluation of their consequences. *New Phytologist* **160**: 21–42.

Hawbecker AC. 1951. Small Mammal Relationships in an Ephedra Community. *Journal of Mammalogy* 32: 50.

He Q, Bertness MD, Altieri AH. 2013. Global shifts towards positive species interactions with increasing environmental stress. *Ecology Letters* 16: 695–706.

Holmgren M, Scheffer M. 2010. Strong facilitation in mild environments: the stress gradient hypothesis revisited. *Journal of Ecology* **98**: 1269–1275.

Holmgren M, Stapp P, Dickman CR, Gracia C, Graham S, Gutiérrez JR, Hice C, Jaksic F,
Kelt DA, Letnic M, et al. 2006. Extreme climatic events shape arid and semiarid ecosystems.
Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 4: 87–95.

**Howard KSC, Eldridge DJ, Soliveres S**. **2012**. Positive effects of shrubs on plant species diversity do not change along a gradient in grazing pressure in an arid shrubland. *Basic and Applied Ecology* **13**: 159–168.

**IPCC. 2014**. Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Geneva, Switzerland.

Jentsch A, Kreyling J, Beierkuhnlein C. 2007. A new generation of climate-change experiments: events, not trends. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* **5**: 365–374.

Jentsch A, Kreyling J, Boettcher-Treschkow J, Beierkuhlein C. 2009. Beyond gradual warming: extreme weather events alter flower phenology of European grassland and heath

species. Global Change Biology 15: 837-849.

**Jump AS, Penuelas J. 2005**. Running to stand still: adaptation and the response of plants to rapid climate change. *Ecology Letters* **8**: 1010–1020.

**Kawai T, Tokeshi M**. **2007**. Testing the facilitation-competition paradigm under the stressgradient hypothesis: decoupling multiple stress factors. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **274**: 2503–2508.

van de Koppel J, Huisman J, van der Wal R, Olff H. 1996. Patterns of Herbivory Along a Prouductivity Gradient: An Empirical and Theoretical Investigation. *Ecology* **77**: 736–745.

**Kuijper DPJ, Bakker JP**. **2005**. Top-down control of small herbivores on salt-marsh vegetation along a productivity gradient. *Ecology* **86**: 914–923.

Lenz TI, Facelli JM. 2003. Shade facilitates an invasive stem succulent in a chenopod shrubland in South Australia. *Austral Ecology* 28: 480–490.

Liancourt P, Callaway RM, Michalet R. 2005. Stress tolerance and competitive-response ability determine the outcome of biotic interactions. *Ecology* **86**: 1611–1618.

Lindén A, Mäntyniemi S. 2011. Using the negative binomial distribution to model over dispersion in ecological count data. *Ecology* **92**: 1414–1421.

**Lortie CJ. 2010**. Synthetic analysis of the stress-gradient hypothesis. Positive plant interactions and community dynamics.125–148.

Lortie CJ, Filazzola A, Sotomayor DA. 2016. Functional assessment of animal interactions with shrub-facilitation complexes: a formal synthesis and conceptual framework. *Functional Ecology* **30**: 41–51.

**Maestre FT, Callaway RM, Valladares F, Lortie CJ**. **2009**. Refining the stress-gradient hypothesis for competition and facilitation in plant communities. : 199–205.

**Maestre FT, Valladares F, Reynolds JF**. **2006**. The stress-gradient hypothesis does not fit all relationships between plant-plant interactions and abiotic stress: further insights from arid environments. *Journal of Ecology* **94**: 17–22.

Melgoza G, Nowak RS, Tausch RJ. 1990. Soil water exploitation after fire: competition between Bromus tectorum (cheatgrass) and two native species. *Oecologia* 83: 7–13.

Metz J, Tielbörger K. 2016. Spatial and temporal aridity gradients provide poor proxies for plant-plant interactions under climate change: a large-scale experiment. *Functional Ecology* 30: 20–29.

**Michalet R**. **2007**. Highlighting the multiple drivers of change in interactions along stress gradients. *New Phytologist* **173**: 3–6.

**Michalet R, Le Bagousse-Pinguet Y, Maalouf J-P, Lortie CJ**. **2014**. Two alternatives to the stress-gradient hypothesis at the edge of life: the collapse of facilitation and the switch from facilitation to competition. *Journal of Vegetation Science* **25**: 609–613.

Michalet R, Brooker RW, Cavieres LA, Kikvidze Z, Lortie CJ, Pugnaire FI, Valiente-Banuet A, Callaway RM. 2006. Do biotic interactions shape both sides of the humped-back model of species richness in plant communities? *Ecology Letters* **9**: 767–773.

Michalet R, Brooker RW, Lortie CJ, Maalouf J-P, Pugnaire FI. 2015. Disentangling direct and indirect effects of a legume shrub on its understorey community. *Oikos* **124**: 1251–1262.

Mod HK, le Roux PC, Luoto M. 2014. Outcomes of biotic interactions are dependent on multiple environmental variables. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 25: 1024–1032.

Noumi Z, Chaieb M, Le Bagousse-Pinguet Y, Michalet R. 2016. The relative contribution of short-term versus long-term effects in shrub-understory species interactions under arid conditions. *Oecologia* 180: 529–542.

**Orrock JL, Witter MS, Reichman OJ**. **2008**. Apparent competition with an exotic plant reduces native plant establishment. *Ecology* **89**: 1168–1174.

**Osborne, JW, 2010**. Improving your data transformations: Applying the Box-Cox transformation. *Practical Assessment, Research & Evaluation*, **15**: 1-9.

Pierce D, Das T, Cayan D, Maurer E, Miller N, Bao Y, Kanamitsu M, Yoshimura K,

Snyder M, Sloan L, *et al.* 2013. Probabilistic estimates of future changes in California temperature and precipitation using statistical and dynamical downscaling. *Climate Dynamics* 40: 839–856.

**R Development Core Team, 2015**. *R: a language and environment for statistical computing*. R foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.

**Reichmann LG, Sala OE, Peters DPC**. **2013**. Precipitation legacies in desert grassland primary production occur through previous-year tiller density. *Ecology* **94**: 435–443.

**Reynolds JF, Kemp PR, Ogle K, Fernández RJ**. **2004**. Modifying the 'pulse–reserve' paradigm for deserts of North America: precipitation pulses, soil water, and plant responses. *Oecologia* **141**: 194–210.

**Rodríguez-Buriticá S, Miriti MN**. **2009**. Biting the hand that feeds: the invasive grass *Schismus barbatus* (Poaceae) is facilitated by, but reduces establishment of, the native shrub *Ambrosia dumosa* (Asteraceae). *Journal of Vegetation Science* **20**: 241–250.

**Rosseel Y**. **2012**. lavaan: An R package for structural equation modeling. *Journal of Statistical Software* **48**: 1–36.

**Schaalje GB, McBride JB, Fellingham GW**. **2002**. Adequacy of approximations to distributions of test statistics in complex mixed linear models. *Journal of Agricultural, Biological, and Environmental Statistics* **7**: 512–524.

Seager R, Ting M, Held I, Kushnir Y, Lu J, Vecchi G, Huang H-P, Harnik N, Leetmaa A, Lau N-C, *et al.* 2007. Model Projections of an Imminent Transition to a More Arid Climate in Southwestern North America. *Science* 316: 1181–1184.

**Smit C, Rietkerk M, Wassen MJ**. **2009**. Inclusion of biotic stress (consumer pressure) alters predictions from the stress gradient hypothesis. *Journal of Ecology* **97**: 1215–1219.

**Smit C, Ruifrok JL**. **2011**. From protégé to nurse plant: establishment of thorny shrubs in grazed temperate woodlands. *Journal of Vegetation Science* **22**: 377–386.

Soliveres S, Eldridge DJ, Hemmings F, Maestre FT. 2012. Nurse plant effects on plant species richness in drylands: The role of grazing, rainfall and species specificity. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics* 14: 402–410.

Thomey ML, Collins SL, Vargas R, Johnson JE, Brown RF, Natvig DO, Friggens MT.
2011. Effect of precipitation variability on net primary production and soil respiration in a
Chihuahuan Desert grassland. *Global Change Biology* 17: 1505–1515.

**Tielbörger K, Bilton MC, Metz J, Kigel J, Holzapfel C, Lebrija-Trejos E, Konsens I, Parag HA, Sternberg M, Myers N,** *et al.* **<b>2014**. Middle-Eastern plant communities tolerate 9 years of drought in a multi-site climate manipulation experiment. *Nature Communications* **5**: 5102.

**Tielbörger K, Kadmon R**. **2000**. Temporal environmental variation tips the balance between facilitation and interference in desert plants. *Ecology* **81**: 1544–1553.

**United States Drought Monitor. 2016.** The National Drought Mitigation Center | University of Nebraska-Lincoln. Lincoln, Nebraska, USA. http://droughtmonitor.unl.edu/

Wenninger EJ, Inouye RS. 2008. Insect community response to plant diversity and productivity in a sagebrush–steppe ecosystem. *Journal of Arid Environments* 72: 24–33.

Zou CB, Barnes PW, Archer S, McMurtry CR. 2005. Soil moisture redistribution as a

mechanism of facilitation in savanna tree-shrub clusters. Oecologia 145: 32-40.

### Tables

**Table 2.1:** Results from an ANCOVA testing for differences in the biomass of the plant community among, microsites (shrub and open), consumer pressure (ambient and reduced), and gradient of soil moisture. Separate ANCOVAs were conducted for a year of extreme drought (2014) and an above average rainfall year (2016). Significance at  $\alpha < 0.05$  is denoted by bolded values.

Effect	Biomass 2014			Biomass 2016		
	sign	F	р	sign	F	р
soil moisture	+	5.29	0.022	+	52.1	< 0.001
microsite	+	38.6	< 0.001	+	369	< 0.001
consumer pressure	0	0.054	0.82	-	6.36	0.013
microsite*soil moisture	0	0.088	0.77	0	2.61	0.11
microsite*consumer pressure	0	0.67	0.41	+	4.24	0.042
microsite*consumer pressure * soil	0	0.55 0.4		0	0.10	0.75
moisture	0.55 0.46			0.10	0.75	

**Table 2.2:** Results from GLMs testing for differences in *B. madritensis* abundance and the subordinate species abundance among, microsites (shrub and open), consumer pressure (ambient and reduced), and gradient of soil moisture. GLMs were conducted for a year of extreme drought (2014) and an above average rainfall year (2016). Significance at  $\alpha < 0.05$  is denoted by bolded values.

Effect	2014				2016			
	B. madritensis		subordinates		B. madritensis		subordinates	
	$\chi^2$	р	$\chi^2$	р	$\chi^2$	Р	$\chi^2$	р
soil moisture	4.18	0.041	7.77	0.0053	2.85	0.091	1.37	0.24
microsite	34.9	< 0.001	13.6	< 0.001	100.7	< 0.001	40.2	< 0.001
consumer pressure	0.021	0.64	0.017	0.90	1.94	0.16	0.22	0.64
microsite*soil moisture	0.71	0.40	0.17	0.68	0.85	0.36	1.21	0.27
microsite*consumer	0.17	0.68	0.020	0.89	0.057	0.81	1.84	0.17
pressure								
microsite*consumer	0.003	0.96	0.069	0.79	0.52	0.47	0.48	0.49
pressure * soil moisture								

Figures



**Figure 2.1:** Average hourly temperature ( $C^{\circ}$ ) and relative humidity (%) for the growing season during the drought year (2014) and a year of above-average precipitation year (2016) for both shrub and open microsites. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.



the relative interaction index (RII) in both the dry (2014) and wet (2016) years. Values for shrub effect are mean RII with error bars of 95% confidence intervals. The values for each treatment effect are bootstrapped RII (999 iterations) with 95% confidence intervals derived from the means of each iteration. Positive values represent a positive treatment effect and negative values represent negative treatment effect.



**Figure 2.3:** Plant abundance of *B. madritensis* and the subordinate species in shrub and open microsites during a drought year (2014) and a year of above-average rainfall year (2016). Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals.



**Figure 2.4:** Structural equational modeling (SEM) results for the composition of the annual community in the dry and wet year. Black lines show relationships that were significantly different from zero ( $\alpha = 0.01$ ), whereas dashed lines represent non-significant pathways. Annual community represents a latent variable that is composed of biomass, abundance and the percent dominance of *B. madritensis*. Models for the dry (**a**) and wet season (**b**) converged normally after 82 and 83 iterations respectively. Parameter estimates from the structural equation models are present within figure and Appendix D.

## Chapter 3

# Positive interactions among native species collapse at the extremes of an aridity gradient

## because of drought and indirect competition

Authors:

Alessandro Filazzola, Christopher Lortie, Michael Westphal, & Richard Michalet

#### Summary

Deserts ecosystems are projected to be threatened by increasing aridity. Plant communities in deserts are particularly sensitive to shifts in precipitation patterns that can alter interactions among species. Shrubs often positively influence native plant communities through a series of mechanisms and can buffer against precipitation extremes. We examined the effects of shrub facilitation on plant community composition along a regional gradient of aridity. We selected seven sites located across three deserts in California with the common shrub species Ephedra californica. At each of these sites between 2015 and 2017, seeds of three phytometer species, all of them annual plants, were sown within thirty pairs of shrub-open microsites at each of the regional sites. We measured characteristics of the ambient plant community and each of the phytometers. Shrubs facilitated the biomass of the annual community but this effect collapsed with increasing aridity. Phylogenetic diversity and species richness decreased at the more mesic sites only in shrub microsite. There was significant turnover in the species composition of the ambient plant community along the aridity gradient, and the more mesic sites were also significantly invaded by non-native grass species. The response of the phytometers to shrubs varied among species and was determined by their respective traits. These results confirm previous research suggesting shrub-annual interactions are species-specific and challenges facilitation theory that proposes positive interactions should increase with aridity. We also propose an inverse relationship between abiotic stress and invasion that is mediated by shrub facilitation in deserts. Understanding positive interactions in the context of environmental gradients provide better insights into the expected changes in species compositions that will occur as a result of global change

#### Introduction

Deserts contain extremely high levels of endemism and are sensitive to shifts in precipitation patterns (Thomey et al. 2011; Baldwin et al. 2017). Climate change is predicted to globally increase desertification (IPCC 2014) and existing deserts, such as those in the Southwestern United States, are likely to become more arid in the future (Griffin & Anchukaitis 2014). Aridity threatens ecosystem health because it reduces the ability for plants to capture carbon dioxide or use soil moisture (Arnone III et al. 2008). Desert plant communities have some adaptations to inter-annual variability in climate and are dependent on pulse-events of high precipitation to support long-term persistence of the plant communities (Noy-Meir 1973; Ogle et al. 2004). However, prolonged drought may threaten the resilience of these systems to precipitation variability. Spatial gradients of aridity also represent long-term processes of community assembly and co-evolution among species that can be significantly disrupted by relative short shifts in precipitation patterns that can occur because of climate change (Sandel et al. 2010; Metz & Tielbörger 2016). Deserts are generally resource driven ecosystems with "bottom-up" regulation and drought effects on the plant community can have cascading impacts to the ecosystem as a whole (Báez et al. 2006). Exploring spatial gradients of aridity are thus crucial for ecologists because critical threshold of precipitations can be identified that sustain desert communities.

Shrubs in deserts can positively affect plant communities and buffer against precipitation extremes. However, there is continued debate as to the predictability of positive interactions along gradients of aridity (Michalet 2006; Maestre et al. 2009; Soliveres et al. 2015), and the sign and strength of interactions have been proposed to depend on scale, species identity, and mechanism of facilitation (Liancourt et al. 2005; Michalet 2007; Michalet et al. 2014; Soliveres

& Maestre 2014; Filazzola & Lortie 2014). For instance, studies that have examined plant interactions along large gradients including deserts and more mesic Mediterranean sites found that the frequency of facilitation responded linearly with aridity (Gómez-aparicio et al. 2004; Holzapfel et al. 2006; Armas et al. 2011). This is often cited as the Stress Gradient Hypothesis that predicts a linear response between positive interactions and abiotic stress (Bertness & Callaway 1994). However, others have suggested that at environmental extremes, positive interactions can switch to negative interactions because of a scarcity of available resources (Davis et al. 1998; Tielbörger & Kadmon 2000; Maestre & Cortina 2004) and weakening of nurse effects (Michalet et al. 2006; Michalet et al. 2014). Inclusion of appropriate spatial scales in plant community interaction studies and in particular long gradients can help identify thresholds that shift the sign of interactions (Le Bagousse-Pinguet et al. 2014). The mechanism of facilitation is another consideration that affects the predictability of plant interactions. Shrubs can facilitate annual plants by ameliorating abiotic stress, increasing resource availability, or reducing consumer pressure (Mod et al. 2014; Butterfield et al. 2016; Zhang et al. 2017; Filazzola et al. 2018). Explicit testing for the mechanism of facilitation is important because the net interaction effect, when considered with competition for resources may not always be positive depending on the environmental gradient (Miriti 2006). Similarly, the consideration of multiple response variables in plant communities is necessary to estimate the overall net outcome of facilitation on a population or species along an environmental gradient (Lortie et al. 2016). Inclusion of species-specificity as a response variable is a notable example because species with different plant traits (e.g. competitive, stress tolerant) will have different optimal environmental conditions (Liancourt et al. 2005; Albert et al. 2010; Liancourt et al. 2017). Consequently, each species within a community will have different thresholds along a gradient of aridity that

determines their relative presence or absence. Researchers must disentangle the speciesspecificity and mechanisms of interaction within desert plant communities along gradients of aridity to advance our theoretical understanding of facilitation and to provide evidence for applied predictions in response to climate change.

Nutrient availability in deserts supports ecosystem function and is related to precipitation patterns. Deserts are sensitive to nutrient availability relative to other ecosystems because low precipitation reduces rates of mineralization and production/release of organic matter (Marschner & Rengel 2007; He et al. 2015). Additionally, desertification typically reduces the fertility of some soils (Delgado-Baquerizo et al. 2013; Huang et al. 2016) and anthropogenic disturbance is increasing nitrogen deposition in others (Padgett et al. 1999; Tilman et al. 2001). Shrubs can increase soil nutrient content directly through nitrogen fixation via plants such as legumes(Gómez-Aparicio et al. 2005), and indirectly by creating a microclimate that favours nutrient cycling (Noumi et al. 2016; Abdallah et al. 2016) as well as by increasing the diversity of soil microbiota (Rodríguez-Echeverría et al. 2016). In arid ecosystems, shrubs can increase available potassium that is linked with better water-use efficiency in certain plant species during drought (Gómez-Aparicio et al. 2005). More often, annual species are unable to take advantage of increased nutrient availability because of limitations in water (Delgado-Baquerizo et al. 2013; Michalet et al. 2015). Increasing aridity under climate change can thus reduce the facilitative effects of shrubs through nutrients (Noumi et al. 2016). Understanding the spatial heterogeneity of soil nutrients and the response of the desert annuals along a gradient of aridity is necessary for developing strategies to mitigate species loss.

Examining plant interactions along gradients of aridity can also shed light on impacts of changing precipitation patterns on desert communities and the capacity for shrubs to mitigate

biodiversity loss. Shrubs can facilitate annual plants through a series of mechanisms along a gradient of aridity that include increasing soil nutrients, increasing soil moisture, ameliorating temperature extremes, and providing a suitable substrate (Filazzola & Lortie 2014). A better understanding of plant community responses to environmental gradients can be obtained by examining both the individual species responses and the interactions among them (Lortie et al. 2004). Here, we examined the effects of a dominant shrub species, *Ephedra californica*, along a regional gradient of aridity spanning three deserts provinces in Southern California. We surveyed the ambient plant community, collected environmental data, and planted three phytometer species with different plant traits at seven sites across this regional gradient. Phytometers are plant species that are experimentally added to systems to identify between-site differences of a plant trait because of environmental conditions independent of other community assembly filters, such as dispersal and co-evolutionary history (Dietrich et al. 2013). The purpose of this study was to determine how a dominant shrub species mediates the composition of the annual plant communities along a gradient of aridity and to test for specificity using seeds of three annual plant species that are naturally present at all the sites. We addressed the following questions in response to the gradient of aridity:

- 1) What are the effects of shrubs on the environment along a gradient of aridity?
- 2) What are the species-specific responses of the annual plants to shrub facilitation?
- How do positive interactions change along a gradient of aridity and what are the consequences for community composition

Understanding these questions can help resolve discrepancies in predictions of plant interactions along gradients of aridity and thus advance our ecological knowledge.

#### Methods

#### Study Sites

We selected seven sites with desert climates in Southern California, U.S.A. along a gradient of increasing aridity mostly driven by increasing distance from the ocean (i.e. continentality) and rainshadow effects (Figure F.1): Panoche Hills, Cuyama Valley, Tejon Ranch, Barstow/Ft. Irwin, Heart of the Mojave, Sheephole Valley Wilderness, and Tecopa (Table 3.1). The experiment was completed between October 2015 and May 2017. All the sites were located on Bureau of Land Management holdings with the exception of the Tejon Ranch, which is managed by the Tejon Ranch Conservancy. We chose sites that were similar in characteristics including soil substrate, elevation, and topography. The shrub species, *Ephedra californica*, composed at least 25% of the perennial plant community for each site. The sites range from semi-arid to arid climates with the majority of precipitation occurring in the late fall and winter months (October to March). However, the most eastern sites in the Mojave Desert can occasionally experience summer thunderstorms (Beatley 1974). Within this study, we defined the growing season from November 1<sup>st</sup> and ending May 1<sup>st</sup>. The 2016 year would therefore represent November 2015 until May 2016. The rainfall of the growing season is thus not the rainfall of the calendar year. Climate calculations were obtained from weather stations in closest proximity to the study sites (Appendix F).

All sites are considered desert communities and cross three desert vegetation provinces including the San Joaquin Desert, the Mojave Desert, and the Colorado Desert. Common shrub species at some of the sites included *Larrea tridentata*, *Atriplex californica*, *Artemisia spp.*, and *Ambrosia dumosa*. Annual plant species varied at all sites, but common native annuals included Phacelia *tanacetifolia*, *Plantago insularis*, *Salvia columbariae*, *Amsinckia tessellata*, and *Chaenactis*  *fremontii*. Common non-native species that were also present included *Bromus madritensis ssp. rubens, Erodium cicutarium*, and *Schismus barbatus*. Frequently observed herbivores present at all sites included the desert cottontail (*Sylvilagus audubonii*) and the black-tailed jackrabbit (*Lepus californicus*).

#### Aridity gradient

We calculated an aridity index for each of the sites in both years using Gams index of continentality (Gilles et al. 1996). California has multiple chains of mountain that contribute to the rainshadow effects that occur in the deserts. We thus used Gams index because elevation is correlated with precipitation and because the index has been previously observed to correlate with plant productivity in mountainous regions (Gilles et al. 1996). We used a modified version of Gams index (Eq. 1) calculated for each of the sites where  $P_t$  represents the total precipitation in millimeters in the wettest quarter (i.e. December, January, and February) of the respective growing season and *A* represents the elevation at that site in meters. Tejon Ranch was above 900 meters in elevation and required the original calculation of Gams index (Eq. 2). The Gams index decreases with water availability, where values approaching zero represent mesic sites and values that approach infinity are more arid. The Gams index of continentality was found to be significantly correlated ( $\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.55$ ) to a 30-year average of aridity calculated using a down-scaled modeling approach of climate variables to a 30 arc-second resolution (Zomer et al. 2008).

$$\cot(G) = \left(P_{t} - \frac{900 - A}{100} \times \frac{P_{t}}{10}\right) \times \frac{1}{A}$$
Eq. 1

$$\cot(G) = \frac{P_t}{A}$$
 Eq. 2

#### Experimental design

In spring of 2015, thirty *Ephedra californica* shrubs were identified, geotagged, and physically tagged with unique metal tags at each of the seven sites. The dimensions of the shrubs were measured using the diameter of the longest side (D1), the side immediately perpendicular to D1 (D2), and the height of the shrub to the tallest branch. Shrub area and volume was then calculated using the formulas for a circle ( $\pi r^2$ ) and semi-sphere ( $1/3\pi r^3$ ) respectively. A visual estimate of shrub decadence on a Likert scale of 0–10 was also included, with 0 indicating no foliage and a 10 indicating a full green canopy. An adjacent open microsite was paired to every shrub that was approximately two metres away and one metre in diameter.

In October of 2015 and 2016, prior to the first rains of the growing season, three parallel plots 30 cm in length and 15 cm in width were delineated in each shrub and open plot. The plots had a 5 cm buffer between them. Plots in the shrub were placed on the north side of the shrub under the canopy. In each plot, the soil was removed to a depth of 5 cm, sieved with a 250 microns mesh to remove any ambient seedbank, and replaced back into the plot. In each of the three plots a randomized order of three phytometer species were planted. The species were *Phacelia tanacetifolia, Plantago insularis,* and *Salvia columbariae.* These species were chosen for presence throughout the entirety of the gradient and preference for specific regions within it (Appendix G). For each of the species, 0.3 grams of seed were sown into separate plots within each microsite. To create a fertilized treatment, in half of all shrub-open pairs 2.0 grams of Miracle Grow<sup>®</sup> Slow Release Plant Food were spread throughout the plots.

#### Abiotic measurements

We measured air temperature and humidity by deploying Onset HOBO ProV2 loggers in three paired shrub-open microsites at each of the sites along the aridity gradient. The loggers were deployed at the end of October and collected before May to capture the entirety of the growing season. The main unit of the logger was buried underground with only the temperature and relative humidity sensor exposed 2 cm above the surface of the soil. We placed loggers in the shrub microsite between the phytometer plots and the base stem of the shrub. We measured soil moisture within shrub and open microsites at the beginning of plant emergence (January) and end of the growing season (April) using a SM150 soil moisture sensor from Delta-T Devices (http://www.delta-t.co.uk/). We also measured soil compaction using a spring-operated penetrometer with an adapter foot when necessary in sandy soils. The penetrometer measures compressive strength of soil between 0 and 4.5 kg per square cm and increases in 0.25 increments.

We collected 400 gram soil samples from five shrub-open pairs that were randomly selected at each site in April 2016. Samples were excavated from three independent locations within each microsite to a depth of 20 centimeters. Each sample was air dried at 40 °C and ground to pass through a 2 mm sieve. The processed soil was then analyzed for soil fertility including soil nitrogen using the Extractable Ammonium-Flow Injection Analyzer Method (Hofer 2003), extractable phosphorus using the Olsen Method (Olsen & Sommers 1982), and exchangeable potassium using the Sulfuric Acid Extraction Method (Brown et al. 1973).

#### Plant surveys

We surveyed phytometer abundance during both seasons in January after plant emergence and at the end of the growing season in April. We also positioned a 50 cm x 50 cm quadrat adjacent to the phytometer plots to measure the ambient plant community composition and density. Individual plants in each plot were identified to species and counted. The total biomass of all three phytometer species and 20-cm diameter ring at the centre of the ambient plant quadrat was collected. These samples were dried at 85°C for 3 d and weighed to the nearest 0.0001 g. All sites were found to have reached an upper asymptote when species-accumulation curves were plotted (Appendix H).

#### Statistical analyses

We tested the relevant mechanism of shrub facilitation on the aridity gradient by comparing each of the abiotic variables in shrub and open microsites. We calculated site-level means for both microsites, at each of the seven sites along the gradient, and in both years (N = 28) in R 3.4.0 (R Core Team 2017). These site-level means were calculated for available soil nitrogen, percent soil moisture at emergence, and soil compaction. We also calculated site-level means for temperature, relative humidity, and temperature variation using the microenvironmental loggers for the entirety of both growing season. We fitted models with each of these response variables and the predictors aridity and microsite. Response variables were fitted with a polynomial as needed. We also compared the mean difference in the abiotic variables between microsites only using permutation anovas with 5,000 iterations (package *ImPerm*, function *aovp*).

To test for species-specificity in response to facilitation and aridity, we fitted models for each of the sown phytometer species. Each of the phytometer species had a high frequency of zero observations within plots, particularly at sites where that species is uncommon. To effectively capture trends within the zero-laden data we used a two-part model, i.e. hurdle model, that conducted a logistic regression for the presence/absence of the phytometer within a plot; and an ordinary linear regression for the biomass of plots that had at least one observation (Fletcher et al. 2005; Xu et al. 2015). These two models were fitted for each phytometer species with microsite, nutrient addition, and aridity gradient as the predictors. Year was treated as a random effect because sites were represented twice on the aridity gradient for each season and therefore were not independent observations. The mixed logistic regression was fitted using *glmer* (family binomial) in package *lme4* and the linear mixed model was fitted using *lmer* in package *lme1*. Biomass was log transformed to meet assumptions of normality.

We tested the response of the ambient plant community to the aridity gradient and shrub facilitation using linear mixed models. Site-level means were calculated for the following response variables of the plant community: annual biomass, annual plant abundance, annual species richness, plant abundance of native species, and plant abundance of non-native species. To test if the relation between species responds to facilitation or aridity, we also calculated the phylogenetic community dissimilarity of each plant community. The phylogenetic tree was produced using the Phylomatic software (http://phylodiversity.net) and the R-package *picante*. The annual species in each community were assigned to a respective node on the tree and branch length was calculated using Grafen's method (Grafen 1989). We then calculated the mean phylogenetic distance with abundance weighting (package *picante*, function *mpd*) (Nipperess et al. 2010). Phylogenetic dissimilarity, hereafter phylogenetic diversity, is a useful measure of community diversity that includes the evolutionary relationship of species and therefore their relatedness (Nipperess et al. 2010). We fitted models for each of these annual plant response variables and for the predictors aridity and microsite. The response variables were fitted with the inverse hyperbolic sin transformation (IHS) when necessary to meet assumptions of normality. The IHS transformation was used because of its tolerance of data with zeros and because of its similarity to a log transformation (Zhang et al. 2000). We also fitted a polynomial when appropriate to increase the coefficient of determination and reduce the model variation.

We compared shifts in the community composition of annual plants along the regional gradient of aridity and between microsites using a cluster analysis and correspondence analysis (CA). We used a CA instead of other ordination methods because the compositional data had a unimodalbased distribution based detrended correspondence analysis that determined the gradient axis length to be greater than 2: axis 1 = 3.45, axis 2 = 1.58, axis 3 = 1.03, axis 4 = 1.51 SD (Ter Braak & Prentice 1988). We calculated the total abundance of each species at the site and microsite level. A Hellinger transformation was applied to the data (package vegan, function decostand) to lower weight of rare species (Legendre & Gallagher 2001). To prepare the data for ordination analyses, we removed species with only one instance of occurrence and replaced outliers with mean species values (Zuur et al. 2007). Outliers were identified using dot plots when the maximum value was greater than four times the next highest value and there was no trend of significantly increasing values. We checked for co-linearity among species by calculating the variance inflation factor (package *usdm*, function *vifcor*) and excluding any highly correlated species when  $\theta = 10$  (Naimi et al. 2014). A detailed description of the methodology and the species that were excluded can be found in the open access repository (https://afilazzola.github.io/ERG\_2016-2017/). We conducted a correspondence analysis (package *vegan*, function *cca*) on the Hellinger transformed data. We also computed the dissimilarities indexes for the transformed community data (package vegan, function vegdist)

using Bray-Curtis method (Legendre & Legendre 1998) and conducted a cluster analysis (package *vegan*, function *hclust*) using the squared version of Ward's hierarchical clustering method (Murtagh & Legendre 2014). We identified distinct groups within the cluster analysis and highlighted the clusters on the CA (Appendix I).

#### Results

#### Abiotic characteristics between microsites

The microclimatic environment and soil characteristics varied along the aridity gradient and microsites. Across all sites, shrub microsites had on average significantly greater nutrient content for nitrogen, potassium, and phosphorus, but lower air temperatures and soil compaction (Table 3.2). There was no significant difference between microsites for soil moisture and relative humidity (Table 3.2). In both shrub and open microsites, soil nitrogen increased with aridity, i.e. sites that were more arid had higher nitrogen ( $F_2 = 25.8$ , p < 0.001; Fig. 3.1A). However, there was a significant microsite by aridity interaction and slope was significantly lower in the open than in the shrubs ( $F_2 = 13.5$ ; p = 0.003; Fig. 3.1A). Soil moisture was negatively related to aridity ( $F_2 = 45.1$ , p < 0.001; Fig. 3.1B) and there was no significant aridity by microsite interactions for soil moisture ( $F_2 = 0.04$ ; p = 0.96). Temperature variation was positively related with aridity ( $F_2 = 10.0$ , p < 0.001; Fig. 3.1C) and was significantly lower in shrub microsites ( $F_1$ = 21.4, p = 0.001; Fig. 1C), but there was no significant microsite by aridity interaction ( $F_2$  = 0.14, p = 0.87). Log-transformed soil compaction was positively related to aridity (F<sub>1</sub> = 13.2, p =0.0046; Fig. 3.1D) and there was a significant microsite by aridity interaction ( $F_2 = 6.44$ , p =0.029; Fig. 3.1D).

#### Phytometer responses to aridity and microsites

Shrubs facilitated *P. tanacetifolia* and had no significant affect on *S. columbariae* or *P. insularis* in terms of biomass and probability of occurrence (Table 3.3; Fig. 3.2A). However, the biomass of *P. insularis* was more than two standard deviations lower in shrub than in the open microsites

(Fig. 3.2A) and there was also a significant microsite by aridity interaction for *S. columbariae* (Table 3.3; Fig. 3.2B). There were no other significant interactions among factors for phytometer occurrence (Table 3.3). The probability of occurrence for the phytometers varied between species with aridity: *P. insularis* increased with aridity and both *P. tanacetifolia* and *S. columbariae* had the highest occurrence at intermediate sites of aridity (Table 3.3; Fig. 3.2B). The addition of nutrients positively increased the biomass of all three phytometer species (Table 3.3; Fig. 3.2C) and had no effect on the occurrence (Table 3.3). The biomass of *S. columbariae* and *P. insularis* peaked at intermediate levels of aridity (Table 3.3; Fig. 3.2D). There were no significant interactions among factors for phytometer biomass except microsite and aridity for *P. tanacetifolia* (Table 3.3) The biomass of *P. tanacetifolia* was greatest at the mesic sites in shrub only and peaked at intermediate levels of aridity in the open microsites (Table 3.3; Fig. 3.2D).

#### Ambient plant community responses to aridity and microsites

Plant composition varied across the seven sites. In total, 40 different annual species were observed in both years. Species richness was greatest in open microsites ( $F_1 = 8.76$ , p = 0.0031; Fig. 3A) and at sites with intermediate levels of aridity ( $F_2 = 69.9$ , p < 0.001; Fig. 3.4A). Annual biomass decreased with greater aridity ( $F_3 = 40.4$ , p < 0.001; Fig. 3.3A) and was significantly higher in shrub microsites ( $F_1 = 15.1$ , p = 0.001, Fig. 3.3A). There was a significant microsite by aridity interaction ( $F_2 = 74.2$ , p = 0.001) and the shrub effect on biomass decreased at the most arid sites (Fig. 3.3B). The phylogenetic diversity of the plant communities increased was lowest in shrub microsites ( $F_1 = 9.26$ , p = 0.0059; Fig. 3.3C) and there was a significant microsite by aridity interaction ( $F_1 = 7.52$ , p = 0.012). The negative effect of shrubs on phylogenetic diversity decreased with aridity (Fig. 3.3C). Native plant abundance declined with aridity ( $F_1 = 67.4$ , p < 0.001).

0.001) and was lowest in shrub microsites ( $F_1 = 23.1$ , p < 0.001). Non-native plant abundance also declined with aridity ( $F_1 = 53.9$ , p < 0.001), but was significantly higher in shrub microsites ( $F_1 = 13.5$ , p < 0.001). There was a significant microsite by aridity interaction for native plant abundance ( $F_1 = 35.71$ , p < 0.001; Fig 3.3D), but not for non-native plant abundance ( $F_1 = 1.44$ , p = 0.23; Fig 3.3D).

Our CA explained 62 percent of the variation in plant community composition (Fig. 3.4). The CA suggests that the observed plant communities represent a gradient of native species that expresses turn-over in composition towards the more arid sites (Fig. 3.4). We identified four unique groups in the cluster analysis for each of the 14 sites (two microsites and seven regional sites). There were greater similarities between regional sites than microsites in the more mesic deserts, such as Panoche Hills, Cuyama, and Tejon Ranch (Fig. 3.4). Conversely, at the other, drier desert, there were greater similarities between microsites than between regional sites (Fig. 3.4). In the more mesic sites the dominant non-native species (*Bromus madritensis* and *Schismus barbatus*) are responsible for the dissimilarities among regional and microsites (Fig. 3.4). The native species were diverse throughout the gradient and each site had relatively unique community assemblages. The plant species along CA1 shift from grasses and non-native species that are uniquely associated to the respective sites (Fig 3.4).

#### Discussion

Shrub facilitation can support desert productivity and biodiversity, but this effect is dependent on local precipitation patterns. Along a regional gradient of precipitation, we explored how shrubannual interactions shift in facilitation mechanisms, species composition, and response variable. Shrub facilitation increased annual biomass at all sites except the driest along the gradient and this effect was driven by some, but not all, species within the plant community. Each of the three chosen phytometers responded uniquely to shrub interactions along the aridity gradient and therefore the predictability of shrub facilitation depends largely on the plant species. The annual community along the regional gradient shifted in composition at the more mesic sites to have higher plant abundance and lower native diversity. Shrubs further decreased the diversity of plant communities at the more mesic sites and were not significant drivers of other community-level estimates. Thus, shrubs likely indirectly increased competition within the annual community favouring the competitive non-native species. The relevant mechanism of shrub facilitation shifted along the gradient of aridity increasing soil nitrogen at the most arid sites, reducing soil compaction in the more mesic sites, and reducing temperature variation at all sites. This suggests that these shrubs do not increase soil moisture and that facilitation effects decrease with extreme aridity. The positive interactions of some benefactor species in deserts are thus dependent on precipitation patterns and context dependency, such as species identity and mechanism of facilitation, must be considered in modeling net outcomes of plant interactions in resource limited ecosystems.

#### Shrub effects on environmental variables

The dominant mechanisms of interaction shift along gradients of aridity. The shrubs ameliorated temperature variability at all sites, increased soil nitrogen in the driest sites, and reduced soil compaction in the more mesic sites. These findings support previous research that relevancy of different mechanisms of facilitation changes along environmental gradients (Bertness & Callaway 1994; Michalet 2007; Smit et al. 2009; Filazzola et al. 2018). Interestingly, shrubs were not found to increase soil moisture at any of the sites and this species is likely unable to mitigate aridity or reduce species loss from drought effects. The shrub canopy is thus a trade-off in environmental variables that are dependent on spatial gradients. Considering the mechanism of interaction between species as a result of the difference in environmental variables can help explain the discrepancy in correlating the response of plant interactions along spatial and temporal gradients of aridity, i.e. space-for-time (Metz & Tielbörger 2016). For instance, shrubs can facilitate the annuals through ameliorating temperature variation and the strength of this interaction increases proportionately with seasonal climate variation (Filazzola et al. 2018). However, shrubs effects on soil composition occur over longer timeframes because the effects are a consequence of soil weathering processing and therefore the strength of these interactions are dependent on long-term trends of aridity (Noumi et al. 2016; Abdallah et al. 2016). Relatively fast and permanent shifts in precipitation patterns due to climate change can thus cause a lag in the effects of shrubs on environmental variables that can have implications for the plant communities. Deserts may be more sensitive to shifts in precipitation patterns than previously thought because positive interactions cannot buffer against short-term shifts in aridity. Nutrient availability in soils affects community biodiversity and can be mediated by shrubs. We observed increasing soil nitrogen with aridity that supports previous research that described

higher nitrogen deposition in the Mojave Desert (Padgett et al. 1999), but this effect was only observed within shrub canopies. Shrubs can function as resource islands for nutrients in arid ecosystems (Whitford et al. 1997) and this is likely not an effect of nutrient deposition, but rather the long-term effects of shrubs on nutrient cycling that can increase with aridity (Michalet 2007). Each of the phytometer species benefited from the addition of fertilizer and thus nutrients are a limiting factor in these systems. However, *P. insularis* and *S. columbariae* did not have higher biomass in shrub microsites where nutrient content was greater, and sites where P. tanacetifolia was greatest in shrub canopies, there was no significant difference in nitrogen between microsites. This suggests that the benefits of increased nutrient availability are reduced by other limitations within the shrub canopy (e.g. net-negative interaction) and that nutrients other than nitrogen are the limiting factors in this system. For instance, available soil phosphorus has been described as a limiting nutrient in deserts that is strongly correlated with plant productivity and that decreases with aridity (He et al. 2015). Alternatively, the vertical distribution of nutrients within the soil could explain the difference observed between the nutrient addition that was on soil surface and deeper soil sampling. Shrub cover in deserts can increase nutrient uplift and thus nutrient content decreases with soil depth (Jobbagy & Jackson 2000). Aridity can further decrease the capacity for shrubs to uptake nutrients and alter the stratification of nutrient content along the gradient. Native desert annuals are also unable to exploit nutrient availability beyond the first few centimeters of the soil surface (DeFalco et al. 2003) and therefore can benefit from fertilizer applied to the surface, but not ambient nutrients deeper within the soil. Future research of shrub facilitation on annual plants through mediating nutrient availability must consider both the horizontal and vertical heterogeneity of the soil.

#### Species specificity

The sign of shrub-annual interactions is determined by the species traits. Advances to the stress Gradient Hypothesis (Bertness & Callaway 1994) propose that whether the responding species has competitive or stress tolerant traits can determine the sign of plant-plant interactions (Liancourt et al. 2005; Michalet et al. 2006; Saccone et al. 2009; Liancourt et al. 2017). We found support for these predictions within this study because the sign of interaction matched the species traits. The three species are found throughout the surveyed regions, but Phacelia tanacetifolia was more common in the mesic areas, Plantago insularis was more common in the arid areas, and *Salvia columbariae* was common throughout (Appendix B). Consequently, we can predict that P. insularis has stress-tolerant traits because of its preference for arid areas and this explains the association with open microsites rather than shrubs. The *Plantago* genus has been explored previously in shrub-annual interactions in the Atiquipa Desert and was found to have a neutral to negative association with woody perennials (Sotomayor et al. 2014). P. *tanacetifolia* was observed both in more mesic sites and in shrub canopies. It has been previously identified as a competitive species and one of the few remaining natives in California that can successfully compete with non-native species such as *B. madritensis* and *S. barbatus* (Brooks 2000). P. tanacetifolia can also have the largest leaf area and height relative to the other species when grown in optimal conditions further suggesting its competitive ability (Gaudet & Keddy 1988). S. columbariae is a widely-distributed species that expresses the phenotypic plasticity to exist both in shrub and open microsites. The predictability of shrubs to facilitate annual plant depends largely on responding species traits and whether it is capable of exploiting the differences in microclimatic conditions within the canopy. Researchers exploring plant

interactions in deserts, especially for the purposes of using shrubs as tools for restoration, must therefore consider species specificity.

Native biodiversity decreased at the extremes of the aridity gradient. In the more mesic sites, shrubs facilitated non-native grass species that likely competed with and excluded native species (Eliason & Allen 1997). The first axis of the CA could be a gradient of stress tolerance from competitive, invasive species at the mesic sites at lower values along the axis and stress-tolerant natives at higher values. Additionally, the decrease in phylogenetic diversity at the mesic sites is attributable to the increase in the number of grass species, such as Poa secunda and the invasive grass species B. madritensis and S. barbatus. The annual species that therefore benefit most from shrub facilitation are likely exotics or introduced species that are not adapted to the respective environment and can take advantage of the ameliorated conditions within the shrub canopy. Facilitation of non-native grasses has been previously reported in the Mojave Desert and these species often have negative effects on shrubs by reducing water uptake and fitness (Holzapfel & Mahall 1999; Rodríguez-Buriticá & Miriti 2009). However, we observed the strongest effect of shrub facilitation on non-natives in the most mesic sites and that the invasibility of these species are limited by precipitation (Bradley et al. 2016). Projections of increased aridity for Southwestern North America suggest *B. madritensis* to shift from the Mojave Desert and replace Bromus tectorum in the Great Basin Desert (Bradley et al. 2016). Consequently, native shrubs in the Great Basin, such as sagebrush (Artemisia spp.), could facilitate the regime change in the relative density of *Bromus* species. Understanding the role of shrubs in mediating community composition in deserts is critical given predictions of a changing climate and emphasizes the need to include interactions, not just species, in conservation management.

#### Implications

Positive interactions decline at environmental extremes and will likely decrease with shifts in precipitation patterns. These findings challenge research on the Stress Gradient Hypothesis that suggests facilitation can buffer climate shifts. Our study highlights the pitfalls inherent in making generalizations about positive interactions along environmental gradients without considering context dependencies including the mechanism of facilitation, the species identity of benefactor/beneficiary, and the measured response variable. Specifically, the role positive interactions play in supporting the dominance of non-native species, and potentially competitive exclusion of natives, is a relatively underexplored consideration. These findings also demonstrate the importance of understanding the response of species interactions to climate change and further highlight the sensitivity of desert ecosystems to shifts in aridity. Aridity gradients at relatively large scales in a desert region are thus an important tool to explore net outcomes in plant communities. Projected changes in climate will likely have complex and non-linear consequences on desert plant communities that need to be considered in conservation planning.

#### Acknowledgements

There were many exceptional individuals that contributed to this project, especially Amanda Liczner who help with the entire first year of surveying and design conception. We would also like to specifically thank Jim Andre and Tasha La Doux for providing accommodations at UC-NRS Granites Field station and their insights into desert plant ecology. In addition, we would like to thank Ally Ruttan, Ivan DeFreitas, Taylor Noble, Michael Powers, Jenna Braun, Michael White, and the Tejon Ranch Conservancy. This research was funded by a Discovery Grant from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada to CJL, a Bureau of Land Management Grant to CJL, and AF was also supported by the York University Faculty of Graduate Studies.

#### References

- Abdallah, F., Michalet, R., Maalouf, J.-P., Ouled-Dhaou, S., Touzard, B., Noumi, Z., & Chaieb, M. 2016. Disentangling canopy and soil effects of a savanna tree species on its understorey (R. Ejrnaes, Ed.). *Journal of Vegetation Science* 27: 771–779.
- Albert, C.H., Thuiller, W., Yoccoz, N.G., Soudant, A., Boucher, F., Saccone, P., & Lavorel, S. 2010. Intraspecific functional variability: extent, structure and sources of variation. *Journal* of Ecology 98: 604–613.
- Armas, C., Rodriguez-Echeverria, & Pugnaire, F.I. 2011. A field test of the stress-gradient hypothesis along an aridity gradie. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 22: 818–827.
- Arnone III, J.A., Verburg, P.S.J., Johnson, D.W., Larsen, J.D., Jasoni, R.L., Lucchesi, A.J., Batts, C.M., von Nagy, C., Coulombe, W.G., Schorran, D.E., Buck, P.E., Braswell, B.H., Coleman, J.S., Sherry, R.A., Wallace, L.L., Luo, Y., & Schimel, D.S. 2008. Prolonged suppression of ecosystem carbon dioxide uptake after an anomalously warm year. *Nature* 455: 383–386.
- Báez, S., Collins, S.L., Lightfoot, D., & Koontz, T.L. 2006. Bottom-up regulation of plant community structure in an aridland ecosystem. *Ecology* 87: 2746–2754.
- Le Bagousse-Pinguet, Y., Maalouf, J.-P., Touzard, B., & Michalet, R. 2014. Importance, but not intensity of plant interactions relates to species diversity under the interplay of stress and disturbance. *Oikos* 123: 777–785.
- Baldwin, B.G., Thronhill, A.H., Freyman, W.A., Ackerly, D., Kling, M.N., Morueta-Holme, N., & Mishler, B.D. 2017. Species richness and endemism in the native flora of California. *American Journal of Botanyr* 104: 487–501.
- Beatley, J.C. 1974. Phenological Events and Their Environmental Triggers in Mojave Desert Ecosystems. *Ecology* 55: 856–863.
- Bertness, M.D., & Callaway, R.M. 1994. Positive interactions in communities. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 9: 27–29.
- Ter Braak, C.J., & Prentice, C. 1988. A Theory of Gradient Analysis. In Advances in ecological research, pp. 217–317. Academic Press.
- Bradley, B.A., Curtis, C.A., & Chambers, J.C. 2016. Bromus Response to Climate and Projected Changes with Climate Change. In *Exotic Brome-Grasses in Arid and Semiarid Ecosystems of the Western US*, pp. 257–274. Springer, Cham.
- Brooks, M.L. 2000. Competition Between Alien Annual Grasses and Native Annual Plants in the Mojave Desert. *The American Midland Naturalist* 144: 92–108.
- Brown, A., Quick, J., & De Boer, G. 1973. Diagnosing potassium deficiency by soil analysis. *California Agriculture* 27: 13–14.
- Butterfield, B.J., Bradford, J.B., Armas, C., Prieto, I., & Pugnaire, F.I. 2016. Does the stressgradient hypothesis hold water? Disentangling spatial and temporal variation in plant effects on soil moisture in dryland systems. *Functional Ecology* 30: 10–19.
- Davis, M.A., Wrage, K.J., & Reich, P.B. 1998. Competition between tree seedlings and herbaceous vegetation: support for a theory of resource supply and demand. *Journal of Ecology* 86: 652–661.
- DeFalco, L.A., Bryla, D.R., Smith-Longozo, V., & Nowak, R.S. 2003. Are Mojave Desert annual species equal? Resource acquisition and allocation for the invasive grass Bromus madritensis subsp. rubens (Poaceae) and two native species. *American Journal of Botany* 90: 1045–1053.
- Delgado-Baquerizo, M., Maestre, F.T., Gallardo, A., Bowker, M.A., Wallenstein, M.D., Quero, J.L., Ochoa, V., Gozalo, B., García-Gómez, M., Soliveres, S., García-Palacios, P., Berdugo, M., Valencia, E., Escolar, C., Arredondo, T., Barraza-Zepeda, C., Bran, D., Carreira, J.A., Chaieb, M., Conceição, A.A., Derak, M., Eldridge, D.J., Escudero, A., Espinosa, C.I., Gaitán, J., Gatica, M.G., Gómez-González, S., Guzman, E., Gutiérrez, J.R., Florentino, A., Hepper, E., Hernández, R.M., Huber-Sannwald, E., Jankju, M., Liu, J., Mau, R.L., Miriti, M., Monerris, J., Naseri, K., Noumi, Z., Polo, V., Prina, A., Pucheta, E., Ramírez, E., Ramírez-Collantes, D.A., Romão, R., Tighe, M., Torres, D., Torres-Díaz, C., Ungar, E.D., Val, J., Wamiti, W., Wang, D., & Zaady, E. 2013. Decoupling of soil nutrient cycles as a function of aridity in global drylands. *Nature* 502: 672–676.
- Dietrich, A.L., Nilsson, C., & Jansson, R. 2013. Phytometers are underutilised for evaluating ecological restoration. *Basic and Applied Ecology* 14: 369–377.
- Eliason, S.A., & Allen, E.B. 1997. Exotic Grass Competition in Suppressing Native Shrubland Re-establishment. *Restoration Ecology* 5: 245–255.
- Filazzola, A., Liczner, A.R., Westphal, M., & Lortie, C.J. 2018. The effect of consumer pressure and abiotic stress on positive plant interactions are mediated by extreme climatic events. *New Phytologist* 217: 140–150.
- Filazzola, A., & Lortie, C.J. 2014. A systematic review and conceptual framework for the mechanistic pathways of nurse plants. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 23: 1335–1345.
- Fletcher, D., MacKenzie, D., & Villouta, E. 2005. Modelling skewed data with many zeros: A simple approach combining ordinary and logistic regression. *Environmental and Ecological Statistics* 12: 45–54.
- Gaudet, C.L., & Keddy, P.A. 1988. A comparative approach to predicting competitive ability from plant traits. *Nature* 334: 242–243.
- Gilles, P., Serge, A., & Richard, M. 1996. A simple model for the study of the altitudinal rainfall gradient, applied in the tyrolian orographic complex.
- Gómez-Aparicio, L., Gómez, J.M., Zamora, R., & Boettinger, J.L. 2005. Canopy vs. soil effects of shrubs facilitating tree seedlings in Mediterranean montane ecosystems. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 16: 191–198.
- Gómez-aparicio, A.L., Zamora, R., Gómez, J.M., Hódar, J.A., Castro, J., & Baraza, E. 2004. Applying Plant Facilitation to Forest Restoration : A Meta-Analysis of the Use of Shrubs as Nurse Plants. *Ecological Applications* 14: 1128–1138.

Grafen, A. 1989. The phylogenetic regression. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal society of

London. Series B. Biological Sciences 326: 119–157.

- Griffin, D., & Anchukaitis, K.J. 2014. How unusual is the 2012-2014 California drought? *Geophysical Research Letters* 41: 9017–9023.
- He, M., Dijkstra, F.A., Zhang, K., Li, X., Tan, H., Gao, Y., & Li, G. 2015. Leaf nitrogen and phosphorus of temperate desert plants in response to climate and soil nutrient availability. *Scientific Reports* 4: 6932.
- Hofer, S. 2003. Determination of Ammonia (Salicylate) in 2M KCl soil extracts by Flow Injection Analysis.
- Holzapfel, C., & Mahall, B.E. 1999. Bidirectional facilitation and interference between shrubs and annuals in the Mojave Desert. *Ecology* 80: 1747–1761.
- Holzapfel, C., Tielbörger, K., Parag, H.A., Kigel, J., & Sternberg, M. 2006. Annual plant–shrub interactions along an aridity gradient. *Basic and Applied Ecology* 7: 268–279.
- Huang, J., Yu, H., Guan, X., Wang, G., & Guo, R. 2016. Accelerated dryland expansion under climate change. *Nature Climate Change* 6: 166–171.
- IPCC. 2014. Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Geneva, Switzerland.
- Jobbagy, E.G., & Jackson, R.B. 2000. The Vertical Distribution of Soil Organic Carbon and Its Relation to Climate and Vegetation. *Ecological Applications* 10: 423–436.
- Legendre, P., & Gallagher, E.D. 2001. Ecologically meaningful transformations for ordination of species data. *Oecologia* 129: 271–280.
- Legendre, P., & Legendre, L. 1998. Numerical Ecology. Elsevier.
- Liancourt, P., Le Bagousse-Pinguet, Y., Rixen, C., & Dolezal, J. 2017. SGH: stress or strain gradient hypothesis? Insights from an elevation gradient on the roof of the world. *Annals of Botany* 120: 29–38.
- Liancourt, P., Callaway, R.M., & Michalet, R. 2005. Stress tolerance and competitive-response ability determine the outcome of biotic interactions. *Ecology* 86: 1611–1618.
- Lortie, C.J., Brooker, R.W., Choler, P., Kikvidze, Z., Michalet, R., Pugnaire, F.I., & Callaway, R.M. 2004. Rethinking plant community theory. *Oikos* 107: 433–438.
- Lortie, C.J., Filazzola, A., Welham, C., & Turkington, R. 2016. A cost–benefit model for plant– plant interactions: a density-series tool to detect facilitation. *Plant Ecology* 217: 1315–1329.
- Maestre, F.T., Callaway, R.M., Valladares, F., & Lortie, C.J. 2009. Refining the stress-gradient hypothesis for competition and facilitation in plant communities. . doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2745.2008.01476.x
- Maestre, F.T., & Cortina, J. 2004. Do positive interactions increase with abiotic stress? A test from a semi-arid steppe. *Proceedings. Biological sciences* 271 Suppl 5: S331-3.
- Marschner, P., & Rengel, Z. 2007. Nutrient cycling in terrestrial ecosystems (Vol. 10). Springer

Science & Business Media.

- Metz, J., & Tielbörger, K. 2016. Spatial and temporal aridity gradients provide poor proxies for plant-plant interactions under climate change: a large-scale experiment (R. Michalet, Ed.). *Functional Ecology* 30: 20–29.
- Michalet, R. 2007. Highlighting the multiple drivers of change in interactions along stress gradients. *New Phytologist* 173: 3–6.
- Michalet, R. 2006. Is facilitation in arid environments the result of direct or complex interactions? *New Phytologist* 169: 3–6.
- Michalet, R., Le Bagousse-Pinguet, Y., Maalouf, J.-P., & Lortie, C.J. 2014. Two alternatives to the stress-gradient hypothesis at the edge of life: the collapse of facilitation and the switch from facilitation to competition (M. Palmer, Ed.). *Journal of Vegetation Science* 25: 609– 613.
- Michalet, R., Brooker, R.W., Cavieres, L.A., Kikvidze, Z., Lortie, C.J., Pugnaire, F.I., Valiente-Banuet, A., & Callaway, R.M. 2006. Do biotic interactions shape both sides of the humpedback model of species richness in plant communities? *Ecology Letters* 9: 767–773.
- Michalet, R., Brooker, R.W., Lortie, C.J., Maalouf, J.-P., & Pugnaire, F.I. 2015. Disentangling direct and indirect effects of a legume shrub on its understorey community. *Oikos* 124: 1251–1262.
- Miriti, M.N. 2006. Ontogenetic shift from facilitation to competition in a desert shrub. *Journal of Ecology* 94: 973–979.
- Mod, H.K., le Roux, P.C., & Luoto, M. 2014. Outcomes of biotic interactions are dependent on multiple environmental variables (R. Michalet, Ed.). *Journal of Vegetation Science* 25: 1024–1032.
- Murtagh, F., & Legendre, P. 2014. Ward's Hierarchical Agglomerative Clustering Method: Which Algorithms Implement Ward's Criterion? *Journal of Classification* 31: 274–295.
- Naimi, B., Hamm, N.A.S., Groen, T.A., Skidmore, A.K., & Toxopeus, A.G. 2014. Where is positional uncertainty a problem for species distribution modelling? *Ecography* 37: 191–203.
- Nipperess, D.A., Faith, D.P., & Barton, K. 2010. Resemblance in phylogenetic diversity among ecological assemblages. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 21: 809–820.
- Noumi, Z., Chaieb, M., Le Bagousse-Pinguet, Y., & Michalet, R. 2016. The relative contribution of short-term versus long-term effects in shrub-understory species interactions under arid conditions. *Oecologia* 180: 529–542.
- Noy-Meir, I. 1973. Desert ecosystems: environment and producers. *Annual review of ecology and systematics* 4: 25–51.
- Ogle, K., James, F., & Reynolds. 2004. Plant responses to precipitation in desert ecosystems: integrating functional types, pulses, thresholds, and delays. 141: 282–294.
- Olsen, S.R., & Sommers, L.E. 1982. Phosphorus. In Methods of soil analysis: Part 2. Chemical

and microbiological properties, pp. 403–430.

- Padgett, P.E., Allen, E.B., Bytnerowicz, A., & Minich, R.A. 1999. Changes in soil inorganic nitrogen as related to atmospheric nitrogenous pollutants in southern California. *Atmospheric Environment* 33: 769–781.
- R Core Team. 2017. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL https://www.R-project.org/.
- Rodríguez-Buriticá, S., & Miriti, M.N. 2009. Biting the hand that feeds: the invasive grass Schismus barbatus (Poaceae) is facilitated by, but reduces establishment of, the native shrub Ambrosia dumosa (Asteraceae). *Journal of Vegetation Science* 20: 241–250.
- Rodríguez-Echeverría, S., Lozano, Y.M., & Bardgett, R.D. 2016. Influence of soil microbiota in nurse plant systems (F. Pugnaire, Ed.). *Functional Ecology* 30: 30–40.
- Saccone, P., Delzon, S., Pagès, J.-P., Brun, J.-J., & Michalet, R. 2009. The role of biotic interactions in altering tree seedling responses to an extreme climatic event. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 20: 403–414.
- Sandel, B., Goldstein, L.J., Kraft, N.J.B., Okie, J.G., Shuldman, M.I., Ackerly, D.D., Cleland, E.E., & Suding, K.N. 2010. Contrasting trait responses in plant communities to experimental and geographic variation in precipitation. *New Phytologist* 188: 565–575.
- Smit, C., Rietkerk, M., & Wassen, M.J. 2009. Inclusion of biotic stress (consumer pressure) alters predictions from the stress gradient hypothesis. *Journal of Ecology* 97: 1215–1219.
- Soliveres, S., & Maestre, F.T. 2014. Plant–plant interactions, environmental gradients and plant diversity: A global synthesis of community-level studies. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics* 16: 154–163.
- Soliveres, S., Smit, C., & Maestre, F.T. 2015. Moving forward on facilitation research: response to changing environments and effects on the diversity, functioning and evolution of plant communities. *Biological reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society* 90: 297–313.
- Sotomayor, D.A., Lortie, C.J., & Lamarque, L.J. 2014. Nurse-plant effects on the seed biology and germination of desert annuals. *Austral Ecology* 39: 786–794.
- Thomey, M.L., Collins, S.L., Vargas, R., Johnson, J.E., Brown, R.F., Natvig, D.O., & Friggens, M.T. 2011. Effect of precipitation variability on net primary production and soil respiration in a Chihuahuan Desert grassland. *Global Change Biology* 17: 1505–1515.
- Tielbörger, K., & Kadmon, R. 2000. Temporal environmental variation tips the balance between facilitation and interference in desert plants. *Ecology* 81: 1544–1553.
- Tilman, D., Fargione, J., Wolff, B., D'Antonio, C., Dobson, A., Howarth, R., Schindler, D., Schlesinger, W.H., Simberloff, D., & Swackhamer, D. 2001. Forecasting agriculturally driven global environmental change. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 292: 281–4.
- Whitford, W.G., Anderson, J., & Rice, P.M. 1997. Stemflow contribution to the "fertile island" effect in creosotebush,Larrea tridentata. *Journal of Arid Environments* 35: 451–457.
- Xu, L., Paterson, A.D., Turpin, W., & Xu, W. 2015. Assessment and Selection of Competing

Models for Zero-Inflated Microbiome Data (Y. Xia, Ed.). PLOS ONE 10: e0129606.

- Zhang, M., Fortney, J.C., Tilford, J.M., & Rost, K.M. 2000. An Application of the Inverse Hyperbolic Sine Transformation—A Note. *Health Services and Outcomes Research Methodology* 1: 165–171.
- Zhang, G., Zhao, W., Zhou, H., Yang, Q., & Wang, X. 2017. Extreme drought stress shifts net facilitation to neutral interactions between shrubs and sub-canopy plants in an arid desert. *Oikos*. doi: 10.1111/oik.04630
- Zomer, R.J., Trabucco, A., & Bossio, D.A. 2008. Climate change mitigation: A spatial analysis of global land suitability for clean development mechanism afforestation and reforestation. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 126: 67–80.
- Zuur, A., Leno, E.N., & Smith, G.M. 2007. *Analyzing ecological data*. Springer Science & Business Media.

## Tables

**Table 3.1:** Locations for each of the seven sites with their respective climate values for 2016 (top) and 2017 (bottom). Precipitation is the total volume of rain that fell during the growing season of the respective year.

ID	Site	Desert	Latitude	Longitude	Elevation	Aridity	Mean T	Precipitation.
					( <b>m</b> )		( <b>C</b> °)	( <b>mm</b> )
1	Panoche Hills	San	36.7001	- 120.8010	656	62.7	$11.4\pm0.29$	223
		Joaquin				49.5	$10.9\pm0.31$	235
2	Cuyama Valley	San	34.8552	- 119.4890	806	71.0	$9.4\pm0.30$	119
		Joaquin				51.4	$9.9\pm0.29$	211
3	Tejon Ranch	Mojave	34.8759	- 118.6020	1118	80.7	$8.7\pm0.36$	72.1
						65.8	$9.9\pm0.32$	130
4	Barstow / Ft. Irwin	Mojave	35.0940	- 166.8350	496	89.6	$11.4\pm0.40$	9.3
						63.6	$12.3\pm0.38$	104
5	Heart of the	Mojave	34.6982	- 115.6840	784	73.4	$15.4\pm0.41$	17.0
	Mojave					84.7	$15.6\pm0.40$	83.4
6	Sheephole Valley	Colorado	34.2057	- 115.7201	545	88.3	$11.5\pm0.40$	26.4
	Wilderness					69.4	$12.7\pm0.39$	68.0
7	Tecopa	Mojave	35.8515	- 116.1870	699	80.6	$12.5\pm0.43$	53.8
						68.3	$13.1\pm0.46$	87.3

**Table 3.2:** Results from linear permutation tests comparing differences in abiotic characteristics of shrub and open microsites. Significance was denoted at  $\alpha = 0.05$  and shown in bold. Permutations were set to a maximum of 5000 iterations.

	Mean shrub	Mean open	p-value	
Nitrogen (ppm)	9.27	1.59	0.0024	
Phosphorus (ppm)	10.1	6.37	0.045	
Potassium (ppm)	231.6	141.4	0.0067	
Soil compaction (kg/cm <sup>2</sup> )	1.41	1.65	0.0014	
Soil moisture (%)	10.7	11.2	0.28	
Air temperature (°C)	9.44	11.1	0.0014	
Relative humidity (%)	58.7	55.1	0.26	

**Table 3.3:** Results from log-normal hurdle model testing for differences in the response variables of each phytometer species in response to microsite (shrub and open), nutrient addition (added and ambient), and aridity gradient. Presence of the phytometers was modeled with a generalized linear mixed model fit to a binomial distribution and log-transformed biomass of the phytometers was modeled with a linear mixed model. Year was treated as a random effect in both models. Significance was denoted at  $\alpha = 0.05$  and shown in bold.

	P. tanacetifolia		P. insularis		S. columbariae	
Presence	$\chi^2$ value	p – value	$\chi^2$ value	p – value	$\chi^2$ value	p – value
Microsite	27.9	<0.001	1.71	0.19	0.02	0.97
Nutrient	0.006	0.93	0.31	0.58	1.15	0.28
Aridity	33.9	< 0.001	17.9	< 0.001	89.3	< 0.001
Microsite * Nutrient	1.78	0.18	1.94	0.16	3.44	0.063
Microsite * Aridity	4.71	0.095	5.41	0.067	6.56	0.038
Nutrient * Aridity	0.41	0.82	3.23	0.19	1.96	0.37
Microsite * Nutrient *	0.060	0.97	0.52	0.77	0.47	0.79
Aridity						
<u>Biomass</u>	F - value	p – value	F - value	p – value	F - value	p – value
Microsite	12.2	< 0.001	0.51	0.47	0.20	0.65
Nutrient	3.15	0.077	8.09	0.005	11.1	< 0.001
Aridity	43.4	< 0.001	16.3	< 0.001	18.1	< 0.001
Microsite * Nutrient	0.043	0.83	0.10	0.53	0.23	0.63
Microsite * Aridity	4.33	0.014	0.39	0.68	0.38	0.68
Nutrient * Aridity	0.79	0.46	1.07	0.34	0.86	0.42
Microsite * Nutrient *	0.39	0.68	0.30	0.74	0.99	0.37
Aridity						





**Figure 3.1:** The relationship of abiotic characteristics in shrub (O) and open ( $\Delta$ ) microsites along a gradient of aridity. Solid lines represent mean model fit and shaded areas are 95% confidence intervals. Models with significant microsite by aridity interactions were plotted separately for shrub (solid line) and open (dashed line) microsites. The abiotic characteristics that were measured included a) soil nitrogen (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.88), b) soil moisture at emergence (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.91), c) temperature variation (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.79), and d) soil compaction (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.63).



**Figure 3.2:** The effect of shrubs, nutrient addition, and the aridity gradient on the three phytometer species: *P. insularis* (red), *P. tanacetifolia* (blue), and *S. columbariae* (green). The mean biomass for each of the three phytometer species in shrub and open microsites (a) and with nutrient addition (c). Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. Solid lines represent mean model fit and shaded areas are 95% confidence intervals. Models with significant microsite by aridity interactions were plotted separately for shrub (solid line) and open (dashed line) microsites.



**Figure 3.3:** The effects of shrubs and the aridity gradient on community characteristics (shrub - O and open -  $\Delta$ ). Solid lines represent mean model fit and shaded areas are 95% confidence intervals. Models with significant microsite by aridity interactions were plotted separately for shrub (solid line) and open (dashed line) microsites. The community characteristics that were measured included a) annual species richness (pseudo-R<sup>2</sup> = 0.28), b) annual plant biomass - IHS transformed (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.23), c) mean phylogenetic community dissimilarity (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.38), and d) annual plant abundance for natives (grey; pseudo-R<sup>2</sup> = 0.73) and non-natives in black (black; pseudo-R<sup>2</sup> = 0.77).



**Figure 3.4:** Correspondence analysis (CA) of plant community composition in each microsites and the seven sites along the gradient of aridity in Southern California. Only the first two axes are shown and explain 62% of the variation in the plant communities. The four groups identified from the cluster analysis are displayed as ellipses.

# Chapter 4

## Modelling the niche space of desert annuals needs to include positive interactions

## Published as:

Filazzola, A., Sotomayor, D. A., & Lortie, C. J. (2018). Modelling the niche space of desert annuals needs to include positive interactions. Oikos, 127(2), 264-273.

#### Abstract

The niche is a necessary consideration when estimating habitable area and geographic range of a species. Modellers often examine the fundamental niche and the environmental requirements for plant species, ignoring interactions among species. In deserts, positive plant interactions are important drivers of biodiversity and structure communities through many mechanistic pathways including modifying environmental conditions. Thus, we tested the hypothesis that desert shrubs increase the geographical extent of some annual species because, through modifying the microclimate, they match the niche requirements of beneficiary species. We used the database of the Global Biodiversity Information Facility to construct MaxEnt species distribution models (SDM) with and without reported benefactor species within the Mojave Desert in California. We chose 20 annual species to be modeled including 10 species that had been previously reported in the literature as being facilitated (beneficiary) and 10 that had no record of being facilitated (unreported). Beneficiary annuals co-occurred significantly more with benefactor shrubs than the unreported annual species. The inclusion of shrubs into SDMs significantly improved model predictability and geographic range for all the beneficiary annual species, but not for the unreported annual species. Thus, positive interactions are species specific and it is possible to determine annual species dependency on benefactor shrubs at the regional scale. The cooccurrence of benefactor shrubs and annual species can be used as a proxy for facilitation and recent developments in SDM techniques encourage the inclusion of biotic interactions. Species distribution models should include estimates of facilitation because biotic interactions determine the niche of species and can have implications with a changing climate.

## Introduction

Positive interactions can influence the niche space of responding species, but this relationship has been understudied when examined empirically. The ecological niche for a species is typically defined by its abiotic requirements and by limitations associated with negative interactions, such as parasitism or consumer pressure (Pearman et al. 2008). However, this definition neglects the effects of positive interactions (Bruno et al. 2003, Stachowicz 2012). Facilitation is recognized as an important driver that structures many ecological communities (Bruno et al. 2003, Brooker et al. 2008, McIntire and Fajardo 2014) especially in high-stress systems, such as deserts, where shrubs can facilitate communities of annuals within their understorey (Franco and Nobel 1988, Flores and Jurado 2003, Filazzola and Lortie 2014). This is because positive interactions in plant communities can provide suitable habitat for beneficiary species in landscapes with characteristics outside of their strict physiological tolerance limit (Bruno et al. 2003, Cavieres and Badano 2009). In deserts, shrubs increase the microscale heterogeneity (i.e. fine spatial extents of < 1m) in a landscape by modifying the microclimate within their canopy relative to an open space (Gómez-Aparicio et al. 2005, Pescador et al. 2014). Additionally, positive interactions can reduce biotic pressures such as competition from neighbors or consumer pressure (He and Bertness 2014, Michalet et al. 2015, Sotomayor and Lortie 2015). In these cases, facilitation is either increasing the geographical area that matches a beneficiary species' fundamental niche or counteracting the negative interactions that restrict the species realized niche (Rodriguez-cabal and Barrios-garcia 2012). Positive interactions can expand the suitable area a beneficiary species can inhabit and this represents an important research gap in ecology and niche theory.

Recent development of modelling tools has increased interest in estimating species occurrence in response to climate. Species distribution models (SDMs) are one example of these approaches and typically consider the environmental variables that predict species occurrence; however, the biotic interactions from co-occurring species are often neglected (Pollock et al. 2014). SDMs are empirical models relating field observations to a set of environmental predictors that are derived from climate data resources, such as WorldClim (Guisan and Thuiller 2005, Phillips et al. 2006, Elith et al. 2011). Thus, an integral concept in SDMs is the niche (Guisan and Zimmermann 2000) because SDMs assume that the fundamental niche for a given species is determined by its tolerances to multiple abiotic variables (Hutchinson 1965). However, species do not exist in isolation with climate and instead co-exist with other species (Hirzel and Le Lay 2008). Consequently, these other species can alter the niche space of one another, reducing the predictability of SDMs that examine only abiotic factors (Pearson and Dawson 2003). Some recent studies have included biotic interactions such as competition from invasive species (e.g. Kulhanek et al. 2011, Pollock et al. 2014), but positive interactions in SDMs have been tested infrequently (but see, Wisz et al. 2013, Afkhami et al. 2014). It is therefore imperative to include positive interactions when modeling SDMs because of their role in defining geographic extent particularly in resource limited or high-stress environments where positive interactions are more common (He et al. 2013). Hence, positive interactions are an integral and important set of drivers for community composition that should also be included in SDMs.

Positive interactions can increase the suitable habitat of a beneficiary species and this is one of the potential mechanisms associated with increasing geographic extent. However, the spatial extent of these increases has not been examined because it is difficult to estimate positive interactions at a regional scale. Herein, we use the co-occurring density of shrubs previously identified as facilitators as a proxy for positive interactions. This is a coarse estimate that allows for usage of open access databases of species occurrences in large regional areas. We hypothesized that desert shrubs increase the geographical extent of some annual species because through microclimate amelioration they match the niche requirements of beneficiary species. We infer facilitation of desert shrubs reported as benefactors and estimate annual species extent using SDMs recognizing that not all annual species are necessarily facilitated. Therefore, we selected annual species that have been previously reported as facilitated (beneficiaries) and that have no record as being facilitated (unreported). We tested the prediction that SDMs for previously reported beneficiary species are improved and estimate larger spatial extents with the inclusion of shrub density than with climate alone. We also predicted that SDMs for the unreported annual species within the same region are not improved by the inclusion of shrubs into the models (i.e. the null model). Positive interactions may be a significant factor in determining the geographic extent of desert annual species and estimating this effect can support previous research suggesting facilitation as a driver of biodiversity at a regional scale (McIntire and Fajardo 2014, Afkhami et al. 2014).

#### Methods

#### Species database

Plant species lists for the Mojave Desert were extracted from the Global Biodiversity Information Facility database (GBIF; <u>http://www.gbif.org/</u>). An extensive list of native Mojave Desert species was obtained from the literature for 61 shrubs and annual plants. This list was generated from four papers and a review on plant interactions in the Mojave Desert (Cody 1993, Brittingham and Walker 2000, Brooks 2003, Flores and Jurado 2003, Miriti 2006). The dominant Mojave shrub species Ambrosia dumosa, Artemisia tridentata, Ephedra nevadensis, and *Coleogyne ramosissima* were selected from the list of Mojave Desert species because they have been previously examined for facilitative effects (Franco and Nobel 1988, Cody 1993, Brittingham and Walker 2000, Brooks 2003, Miriti 2006). These shrub species were frequent in the Mojave Desert (>300 occurrences) and do not have any reported allelopathic effects such as with the common Mojave shrub Larrea tridentata (Mahall and Callaway 1992). In total, 4269 occurrences of these four shrub species were collected from the GBIF (Filazzola et al. 2016: https://dx.doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.3586065.v1). From the initial plant list and using a random number table, we randomly selected ten annual species that were previously reported as beneficiary species by the identified benefactor shrubs (Flores and Jurado 2003), and we further selected another ten annual plants that have not been reported previously as beneficiaries, hereafter "unreported" (Table 4.1). All twenty annual plants species are commonly observed in the Mojave Desert with at least 100 occurrences listed within GBIF (Filazzola et al. 2016: https://dx.doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.3586065.v1). These species occupy similar ecological requirements within desert shrublands at elevations less than 1800 meters. Only species records with GPS coordinates were extracted for further analysis. The shrub, beneficiary, and unreported

datasets were reviewed to check for duplicates and inconsistencies with species name. Subspecies were classed as the same species.

The survey area was defined as the Mojave Desert within the political boundary of Southern California. The extent was restricted to include the western most portion of the Mojave Desert, including Antelope Valley (Lat: 34.79°, Lon: -118.7°). The southern, eastern, and northern boundaries were restricted based on the political boundaries with Mexico, Arizona, and Nevada respectively (Lat: 32.7° to 37.0°; Lon: -118.5° to -114.5°). We chose to restrict our study on the Mojave to within California because there are large collaborative efforts within the state that contribute to plant occurrences such as, Calflora (<u>http://www.calflora.org/</u>) and the Californian Native Plant Society (<u>http://www.cnps.org/</u>), that are included in the GBIF database. This defined study area, hereafter referred to as Southern California, includes a total land area of 173,894 km<sup>2</sup>.

### Biotic variables

Online herbaria data suffer from sampling bias, and consequently, we used geographic filtering for the initial raw occurrences (Varela et al. 2014). We subsampled using a grid across an x-y layer and discarded multiple instances within a radius of 3 arc minutes (~ 5 km). This geographical filtering of occurrences was conducted for all plant species modeled. We calculated a two-dimensional kernel density estimate using the coordinates of the geographically filtered occurrences for the shrub and annual species evaluated on a square grid (function *kde2d*, package MASS). The density rasters for each of the three species groups (shrub, beneficiary, and unreported) were resampled (function *resample*, package raster) using the nearest neighbor method to the have the same resolution as WorldClim data (30 arc-second or ~1 km<sup>2</sup>) and cropped to match the extent of Southern California. To test if shrub density predicted annual

plant density, we fitted a model with each beneficiary and unreported plant density as a response variable and shrub density as the predictor. A random set of 1,000 geographic points (*randomPoints* function; *Dismo*) was extracted for each of the three rasters (shrub, beneficiary, and unreported). We then used f-tests to determine whether the effect of shrub density on each annual plant group was significantly different from zero. We also tested for underlying differences between the beneficiary and unreported groups to ensure the chosen species had similar niche overlaps (Appendix J). Using a random set of geographic points we compared the densities of beneficiary and unreported plant groups with a Pearson's Correlation. All analyses and data extraction were conducted in R version 3.2.3 (R Core Team 2016).

#### Environmental variables

Eight bioclimatic variables (Appendix J; Hijmans et al. 2005) and also elevation with 30second (~ 1 km) spatial resolution were downloaded from the WorldClim dataset (<u>www.worldclim.org</u>). These eight variables were selected because they are strongly associated with winter-annual germination and productivity (Beatley 1974). To check for collinearity among these bioclimatic variables we extracted climate data from 1,000 randomly chosen points in Southern California and performed a correlation matrix. We removed correlated bioclimatic variables at r > 0.6 (Dormann et al. 2013). Precipitation seasonality was maintained despite having a strong correlation (r > 0.6) with other bioclimatic variables because deserts systems are extremely sensitive to precipitation frequency (Reynolds et al. 2004). Therefore, the chosen bioclimatic variables were elevation, temperature during the wettest quarter, precipitation during the wettest quarter, and precipitation seasonality.

MaxEnt ("maximum entropy") is a powerful technique for modeling species distribution and the environmental niche using presence only data (Phillips et al. 2006, Merow et al. 2013). MaxEnt has two distinct advantages over other techniques, such as GARP, in that it produces a more detailed prediction and increases the contrast of the predicted occurrence (Phillips et al. 2006). Hence, we used MaxEnt to predict the habitat suitability for each of the 20 species using environmental predictors only (m<sub>env</sub>) versus environmental predictors plus shrub density (m<sub>shrub,env</sub>). MaxEnt models were run in R (*maxent* function, package dismo), and a total of 20% of the occurrence data were withheld as a testing to evaluate the predictive ability of the models (Phillips and Dudík 2008). We repeated models on each species 40 times each with a different subset randomization and reported aggregate means of the output statistics across all models to account for uncertainty of SDM predictions (Syfert et al. 2013). The maximum number of background points used was set to 10,000 to accurately capture the ambient variation in climate (Yang et al. 2013). The Area Under the Receiving Operator Curve (AUC) statistic is an estimate of model performance compared to null expectations where 1 represents a perfect prediction and values of 0.5 or lower are attributed to chance (Merow et al. 2013). We compared AUC values between the beneficiary and unreported species groups using a Student's two-sample t-test.

To account for unequal survey effort of plant species from GBIF we used both a restriction of the background data and incorporation of a survey bias dataset (Phillips et al. 2009, Kramer-Schadt et al. 2013). We manipulated the background area by creating a 10 km buffer around each occurrence for Southern California. The resulting polygon was used to extract the background climate data. A survey bias dataset was generated using the initial list of Mojave Desert plant species identified from the literature. The occurrences for each of the 61 species

were checked for duplicates or inconsistencies and a density estimate was calculated in the same manner as for the other biotic rasters (i.e. shrub, beneficiary, and unreported species groups). A bias file for a large number of species approximates the survey effort for a subset species of that dataset and is often used in MaxEnt modelling (Elith et al. 2010, Fourcade et al. 2014). Thus, the bias file was used in all MaxEnt models within this study. A workflow of the species selection, model inputs, and adjustments of survey bias can be found in Appendix K.

The species distribution models for each species were mapped with values of 0 representing inhabitable and values of 1 representing suitable habitat. This estimate of habitat suitability was calculated using the *predict* function (package *dismo*), which created a raster based of the output of each MaxEnt model. To identify geographic areas, where shrubs are associated with habitable area, we subtracted the habitat suitability of m<sub>env</sub> from m<sub>shrub,env</sub> and averaged the difference in habitat suitability for each raster cell (n) in the sampled region, hereafter HS<sub>diff</sub> (Eq 1). We tested if the HS<sub>diff</sub> was different between beneficiary and unreported species using a Wilcoxon sign-ranked test (function *wilcox.test*) with the species group as the predictor. We did not compare the converse where the environmental-only model predicts areas of habitat suitability because the inclusion of additional variables within any MaxEnt model will often better predict habitat suitability and produce a smaller predicted area. Consequently, the difference between these models would not be informative except for model determination.

$$HS_{diff} = \frac{\sum_{n} m_{shrub.env} - m_{env}}{n} eq.1$$

## Phylogenetic analysis

We tested if closely related species were more likely to be facilitated by creating a phylogenetic tree of each tested plant species and comparing the HS<sub>diff</sub> values. The phylogenetic tree was

produced using the Phylomatic software (<u>http://phylodiversity.net</u>) and the *R* package *picante*. The beneficiary and unreported species groups were assigned to each respective node on the tree. Models were run for 999 randomizations using a null model that randomized across all species within the data matrix.

## Results

Shrub occurrence was positively related to with both the beneficiary species occurrence (mean effect  $\pm$  SE = 0.77  $\pm$  0.015; p < 0.001; Figure 4.1) and the unreported plant species occurrence (mean effect  $\pm$  SE = 0.76  $\pm$  0.031; p < 0.001; Figure 4.1). However, shrub occurrence more accurately predicted annual occurrence for the beneficiary species than for the unreported annuals (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.72; R<sup>2</sup> = 0.38, respectively).

Overall, all species were accurately predicted by the MaxEnt models (AUC > 0.70; Table 4.1). The AUC values of the beneficiary species were significantly increased by the inclusion of shrubs into the model (t = -2.32, p = 0.033; Figure 4.2), but AUC values were not significantly different for unreported species between models (t = -0.73, p = 0.48; Figure 4.2). Species distribution models for all beneficiary and unreported plant species were mapped (Appendix L) with two example species represented in Figure 4.3. Shrub MaxEnt models significantly increased the habitat suitability estimates (HS<sub>diff</sub>) for the beneficiary species relative to unreported annuals (W = 10, p = 0.0028; Figure 4.3).

Plant species that are closely related were more likely to be classified together in either the beneficiary or unreported groups (Figure 4.4). For instance, plant species in the families Asteraceae and Brassicaceae were either classified as beneficiaries or had high HS<sub>diff</sub> values while the Polemoniaceae family were classified as unreported and had low HS<sub>diff</sub> values (Figure

4.4). There were two species in the unreported plant group, *Eremalche exilis* (Malvaceae) and *Layia glandulosa* (Asteraceae), that displayed model improvement with the inclusion of shrubs (Figure 4.2). These two species were closely related to other species classified as beneficiaries, such as *Sphaeralcea ambigua* (Malvaceae) and *Chaenactis fremontii* (Asteraceae) respectively (Figure 4.4). The Boraginaceae family was an exception because it had two closely related plant species, *Phacelia distans* and *Crypantha intermedia*, that had largely different trends in group classification and HS<sub>diff</sub> values (Figure 4.4).

### Discussion

Positive plant interactions can provide favourable habitat for a responding species and this has implications for increasing the geographic extent of that species. We found support for our prediction that SDMs of beneficiary plant species were improved with the inclusion of shrubs and that they had an increased geographical extent. Our prediction that the unreported species would not be improved with the inclusion of shrub in SDMs was also supported. Benefactor occurrence was thus successfully used as a proxy for positive interactions to test for increases in niche geographic extent in this study. This is a novel approach because previous studies of niche modelling were conducted mostly with abiotic variables. The more species we classify and test as beneficiaries the more likely we are to be able to build better SDMs in general and model the responses of desert communities to climate change. Where species are found likely has both an abiotic and biotic component and estimating co-occurrence patterns will more effectively predict how a species distribution will change over time.

#### Positive interactions on niche and range

There are two models for the effect of positive interactions on the fundamental niche of beneficiary species. The niche-construction model predicts that positive interactions increase the geographic area that corresponds to the fundamental niche of beneficiary plant species (Rodriguez-cabal and Barrios-garcia 2012, McIntire and Fajardo 2014). In this instance, benefactor plants increase the environmental heterogeneity of the landscape (Pescador et al. 2014) thereby providing a greater range of environmental conditions relative to open sites that meet species niche requirements (Rodriguez-cabal and Barrios-garcia 2012). The nicheexpansion model is the second that proposes facilitation increases the realized niche to be greater than the fundamental niche (Bruno et al. 2003, Stachowicz 2012, He and Bertness 2014, Afkhami et al. 2014). There has been debate as to which model best describes the relationship between positive interactions and niche (e.g. Rodriguez-cabal and Barrios-garcia 2012, Stachowicz 2012), that has been revised to depend on context (Bulleri et al. 2016). However, we believe both models are possible depending on mechanism of interaction. Positive interactions can be divided into niche constructors, those that modify the environment to create suitable habitat, and niche expanders, those that modify the beneficiary species to tolerate the habitat. The shrubs within this study would be classified as niche constructors because they increase environmental heterogeneity to match niche requirements of the beneficiary species. Conversely, an example of a niche expander would be mutualistic endophytic fungi that increases the drought tolerance and geographic range of grass species, such as *Bromus laevipes* (Afkhami et al. 2014). Thus, there are at least two possible models that both describe how positive interactions modify the fundamental niche of a beneficiary species, and each has associated ecological theories and different implications.

#### Positive interactions and climate change

Predicting how species respond to climate change is a significant challenge for ecologists and conservationists. Current SDMs already incorporate environmental change in forecasts of projected climate change (Elith and Leathwick 2009), but this approach neglects the cooccurring species and their potential positive effects. Here we have shown that benefactor cooccurrence can be used as a proxy for positive interactions and it may be possible to model changes to this association through time using updated species occurrence data. This is important to consider because the sign and magnitude of plant interactions are dependent on climate and likely to change over time (Callaway et al. 2002, Sthultz et al. 2007). For instance, positive interactions can buffer communities from species loss at environmental extremes, but are less relevant in mild environments (Callaway et al. 2002, Cavieres et al. 2014). Thus, current "climate-only" models are assuming the effect of positive interactions is consistent in modelling scenarios when this is likely not the case due to large-scale natural gradients (Butterfield et al. 2016, Metz and Tielbörger 2016). In any scenario, the loss of dominant plants and the associated positive interactions would then reduce an ecosystem's resistance to stressors resulting in additional species loss (Smith and Knapp 2003). Additionally, increases in dominant plants in other systems, such as shrub encroachment, could have profound effects on plant communities (Maestre et al. 2016). By increasing the environmental heterogeneity of the landscape, greater niche space is provided that was previously non-existent. It is important to determine how the effects of biotic interactions, such as facilitation, respond to a changing climate because species co-occurrence patterns are likely to be non-random and provide an opportunity to improve climate only models (Klanderud and Totland 2005). Inclusion of positive interactions in SDMs

can provide a tool to make more informed decisions for conservation management in a changing climate.

#### Species specificity

Positive interactions are species specific for both the benefactor and beneficiary species (Callaway 1998, Soliveres et al. 2012). Within this study, we found the inclusion of shrubs in SDMs improved model predictability for some, but not all tested species. For instance, models of beneficiary group and not the unreported group were improved with the inclusion of benefactor shrubs as a predictor. However, there were some species within the unreported group that displayed co-occurrence patterns with benefactor shrubs. We identified members of the family Asteraceae and Malvaceae as being improved with the inclusion of shrubs in both the beneficiary and unreported groups. Other studies have also identified Asteraceae species as being facilitated in deserts (Flores and Jurado 2003) and also in alpine ecosystems (Cavieres et al. 2006). This suggests that annual species within the Asteraceae family have traits that require the shrub microclimate. For instance, beneficiary species have been proposed to have more competitive life-history traits that benefit from the increased resource availability and the reduced abiotic stress found under benefactor shrubs (Maestre et al. 2009). However, empirical research has shown the relationship between desert shrubs and Asteraceae species to be because of stresstolerant traits, such as lower light and soil moisture found under shrub canopies (Butterfield and Briggs 2011). SDMs that include positive interactions, such as the ones conducted here, can help identify species relatively more dependent on facilitation for persistence within an ecosystem (e.g. Eremalche exilis and Lavia glandulosa). Positive interactions are species specific and these

relationships can be identifiable at the macro-scale using co-occurrences, which can assist ecologist attempting to disentangle how these interactions will change through time.

#### *Implications*

Positive interactions, niche, and geographic extents can be linked and examined through SDMs. The inclusion of positive interactions in SDMs is an effective and novel means to explore ecological contexts without experimentation within the framework of niche theory by using existing open data and the ecological literature. Ecologists will need to continue to innovate and reuse scientific research at regional and larger scales to explore the potential importance of local interactions (Mouquet et al. 2003). Recently, SDMs have been used to model a target species in conjunction with other dominant species to provide better predictions of occurrence and available niche space (e.g. Wonham et al. 2013, Pollock et al. 2014). More comprehensive MaxEnt models or disaggregating the environmental effect and examining residual correlations among shrubs and the annual species are at least two additional opportunities for future studies (Pollock et al. 2014). Hierarchical Modelling of Species Communities (HMSC) is another recent tool that models community interactions at different spatial or temporal scales (Ovaskainen et al. 2017). Detailed reporting of how species interact, positively or negatively, within ecological research that can be synthesized for macro-scale models would be a powerful asset for ecological modellers. Moreover, additional models could assess the mechanism of facilitation (e.g. cooler temperatures, higher soil moisture, less herbivory) rather than the more phenomenological method of modelling co-occurrences that were examined here. Modelling mechanisms could provide a more direct assessment of the processes that are likely to change with climate, such as

drought events. Further modeling of positive interactions is crucial for species in high-stress environments and necessary consideration when predicting responses to climate.

## Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Professor Michalet and two anonymous reviewers for comments on an earlier draft that improved the manuscript. AF and DAS received funding from the Faculty of Graduate Studies at York University during the preparation of this review. CJL was funded by an NSERC Discovery Grant from the Government of Canada.

- Afkhami, M. E. et al. 2014. Mutualist-mediated effects on species' range limits across large geographic scales. Ecol. Lett. 17: 1265–1273.
- Beatley, J. C. 1974. Phenological Events and Their Environmental Triggers in Mojave Desert Ecosystems. - Ecology 55: 856–863.
- Brittingham, S. and Walker, L. R. 2000. Facilitation of Yucca brevifolia recruitment by Mojave Desert shrubs. West. North Am. Nat. 60: 374–383.
- Brooker, R. W. et al. 2008. Facilitation in plant communities : the past , the present , and the future. J. Ecol. 96: 18–34.
- Brooks, M. L. 2003. Effects of increased soil nitrogen on the dominance of alien annual plants in the Mojave Desert. J. Appl. Ecol. 40: 344–353.
- Bruno, J. F. et al. 2002. Inclusion of facilitation into ecological theory. Trends Ecol. Evol. 5347: 1–7.
- Bulleri, F. et al. 2016. Facilitation and the niche: implications for coexistence, range shifts and ecosystem functioning. Funct. Ecol. 30: 70–78.
- Butterfield, B. J. and Briggs, J. M. 2011. Regeneration niche differentiates functional strategies of desert woody plant species. Oecologia 165: 477–487.
- Butterfield, B. J. et al. 2016. Does the stress-gradient hypothesis hold water? Disentangling spatial and temporal variation in plant effects on soil moisture in dryland systems. Funct. Ecol. 30: 10–19.
- Callaway, R. M. 1998. Are Positive Interactions Species-Specific? Oikos 82: 202.

- Callaway, R. M. et al. 2002. Positive interactions among alpine plants increase with stress. -Nature 417: 844–848.
- Cavieres, L. A. and Badano, E. I. 2009. Do facilitative interactions increase species richness at the entire community level ? J. Ecol. 97: 1181–1191.
- Cavieres, L. A. et al. 2006. Positive interactions between alpine plant species and the nurse cushion plant Laretia acaulis do not increase with elevation in the Andes of central Chile. -New Phytol. 169: 59–69.
- Cavieres, L. A. et al. 2014. Facilitative plant interactions and climate simultaneously drive alpine plant diversity. Ecol. Lett. 17: 193–202.
- Cody, M. L. 1993. Do Cholla Cacti (*Opuntia spp.*, Subgenus *Cylindropuntia*) use or need nurse plants in the Mojave Desert? J. Arid Environ. 24: 139–154.
- Dormann, C. F. et al. 2013. Collinearity: a review of methods to deal with it and a simulation study evaluating their performance. Ecography. 36: 27–46.
- Elith, J. and Leathwick, J. R. 2009. Species Distribution Models: Ecological Explanation and Prediction Across Space and Time. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 40: 677–697.
- Elith, J. et al. 2010. The art of modelling range-shifting species. Methods Ecol. Evol. 1: 330–342.
- Elith, J. et al. 2011. A statistical explanation of MaxEnt for ecologists. Divers. Distrib. 17: 43– 57.
- Filazzola, A. and Lortie, C. J. 2014. A systematic review and conceptual framework for the mechanistic pathways of nurse plants. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 23: 1335–1345.

- Flores, J. and Jurado, E. 2003. Are nurse-protégé interactions more common among plants from arid environments? J. Veg. Sci. 14: 911–916.
- Fourcade, Y. et al. 2014. Mapping Species Distributions with MAXENT Using a Geographically Biased Sample of Presence Data: A Performance Assessment of Methods for Correcting Sampling Bias. - PLoS One 9: e97122.
- Franco, A. C. and Nobel, P. S. 1988. Interactions Between Seedlings of Agave Deserti and the Nurse Plant Hilaria Rigida. - Ecology 69: 1731–1740.
- Gómez-Aparicio, L. et al. 2005. Canopy vs. soil effects of shrubs facilitating tree seedlings in Mediterranean montane ecosystems. - J. Veg. Sci. 16: 191–198.
- Guisan, A. and Zimmermann, N. E. 2000. Predictive habitat distribution models in ecology. -Ecol. Modell. 135: 147–186.
- Guisan, A. and Thuiller, W. 2005. Predicting species distribution: offering more than simple habitat models. Ecol. Lett. 8: 993–1009.
- He, Q. and Bertness, M. D. 2014. Extreme stresses, niches, and positive species interactions along stress gradients. - Ecology 95: 1437–1443.
- He, Q. et al. 2013. Global shifts towards positive species interactions with increasing environmental stress. Ecol. Lett. 16: 695–706.
- Hijmans, R. J. et al. 2005. Very high resolution interpolated climate surfaces for global land areas. - Int. J. Climatol. 25: 1965–1978.
- Hirzel, A. H. and Le Lay, G. 2008. Habitat suitability modelling and niche theory. J. Appl. Ecol. 45: 1372–1381.

- Hutchinson, G. E. 1965. The niche: an abstractly inhabited hypervolume. Ecol. Theatr. Evol. Play: 26–78.
- Klanderud, K. and Totland, Ø. 2005. Simulated climate change altered dominance hierachies and diversity of an alpine biodiversity hotspot. Ecology 86: 2047–2054.
- Kramer-Schadt, S. et al. 2013. The importance of correcting for sampling bias in MaxEnt species distribution models. Divers. Distrib. 19: 1366–1379.
- Kulhanek, S. A. et al. 2011. Using ecological niche models to predict the abundance and impact of invasive species: application to the common carp. Ecol. Appl. 21: 203–213.
- Maestre, F. T. et al. 2009. Refining the stress-gradient hypothesis for competition and facilitation in plant communities. - J. Ecol. 97: 199–205.
- Maestre, F. T. et al. 2016. A multifaceted view on the impacts of shrub encroachment. Appl. Veg. Sci. 19: 369–370.
- Mahall, B. E. and Callaway, R. M. 1992. Root Communication Mechanisms and Intracommunity Distributions of Two Mojave Desert Shrubs. Ecology 73: 2145–2151.
- McIntire, E. J. B. and Fajardo, A. 2014. Facilitation as a ubiquitous driver of biodiversity. New Phytol. 201: 403–416.
- Merow, C. et al. 2013. A practical guide to MaxEnt for modeling species' distributions: what it does, and why inputs and settings matter. Ecography. 36: 1058–1069.
- Metz, J. and Tielbörger, K. 2016. Spatial and temporal aridity gradients provide poor proxies for plant-plant interactions under climate change: a large-scale experiment. - Funct. Ecol. 30: 20–29.

- Michalet, R. et al. 2015. Competition, facilitation and environmental severity shape the relationship between local and regional species richness in plant communities. Ecography. 38: 335–345.
- Miriti, M. N. 2006. Ontogenetic shift from facilitation to competition in a desert shrub. J. Ecol. 94: 973–979.
- Mouquet, N. et al. 2003. Community Assembly Time and the Relationship between Local and Regional Species Richness. Oikos 103: 618–626.
- Ovaskainen, O. et al. 2017. How to make more out of community data? A conceptual framework and its implementation as models and software. Ecol. Lett. 20: 561–576.
- Pearman, P. B. et al. 2008. Niche dynamics in space and time. Trends Ecol. Evol. 23: 149–158.
- Pearson, R. G. and Dawson, T. P. 2003. Predicting the impacts of climate change on the distribution of species: are bioclimate envelope models useful? - Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 12: 361–371.
- Pescador, D. S. et al. 2014. Maintaining distances with the engineer: patterns of coexistence in plant communities beyond the patch-bare dichotomy. New Phytol. 204: 140–148.
- Phillips, S. J. and Dudík, M. 2008. Modeling of species distributions with Maxent: new extensions and a comprehensive evaluation. Ecography. 31: 161–175.
- Phillips, S. J. et al. 2006. Maximum entropy modeling of species geographic distributions. -Ecol. Modell. 190: 231–259.
- Phillips, S. J. et al. 2009. Sample selection bias and presence-only distribution models: implications for background and pseudo-absence data. - Ecol. Appl. 19: 181–197.

- Pollock, L. J. et al. 2014. Understanding co-occurrence by modelling species simultaneously with a Joint Species Distribution Model (JSDM). Methods Ecol. Evol. 5: 397–406.
- R Core Team (2016). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL https://www.R-project.org/.
- Reynolds, J. F. et al. 2004. Modifying the "pulse–reserve" paradigm for deserts of North America: precipitation pulses, soil water, and plant responses. - Oecologia 141: 194–210.
- Rodriguez-cabal, M. A. and Barrios-garcia, M. N. 2012. Positive interactions in ecology: filling the fundamental niche. 5: 36–41.
- Schöb, C. et al. 2012. Foundation species influence trait-based community assembly. New Phytol. 196: 824–834.
- Smith, M. D. and Knapp, A. K. 2003. Dominant species maintain ecosystem function with nonrandom species loss. - Ecol. Lett. 6: 509–517.
- Soliveres, S. et al. 2012. Nurse plant effects on plant species richness in drylands: The role of grazing, rainfall and species specificity. Perspect. Plant Ecol. Evol. Syst. 14: 402–410.
- Sotomayor, D. A. and Lortie, C. J. 2015. Indirect interactions in terrestrial plant communities: emerging patterns and research gaps. - Ecosphere 6: art103.
- Stachowicz, J. J. 2012. Niche expansion by positive interactions: realizing the fundamentals. A comment on Rodriguez-Cabal et al. iee Ecol. Evol. 510: 42–43.
- Sthultz, C. M. et al. 2007. Shifts from competition to facilitation between a foundation tree and a pioneer shrub across spatial and temporal scales in a semiarid woodland. New Phytol. 173: 135–145.

- Syfert, M. M. et al. 2013. The Effects of Sampling Bias and Model Complexity on the Predictive Performance of MaxEnt Species Distribution Models. PLoS One 8: e55158.
- Varela, S. et al. 2014. Environmental filters reduce the effects of sampling bias and improve predictions of ecological niche models. Ecography. 37: 1084–1091.
- Wisz, M. S. et al. 2013. The role of biotic interactions in shaping distributions and realised assemblages of species: implications for species distribution modelling. Biol. Rev. 88: 15–30.
- Wonham, M. J. et al. 2013. Modeling the relationship between propagule pressure and invasion risk to inform policy and management. Ecol. Appl. 23: 1691–1706.
- Yang, X.-Q. et al. 2013. Maxent modeling for predicting the potential distribution of medicinal plant, *Justicia adhatoda* L. in Lesser Himalayan foothills. Ecol. Eng. 51: 83–87.
## Tables

Table 4.1: Annual s	pecies chosen	from the literature	on plant interactions	in the Mo	jave Desert.
---------------------	---------------	---------------------	-----------------------	-----------	--------------

Species name	Family	Beneficiary
Camissonia claviformis	Onagraceae	yes
Caulanthus cooperi	Brassicaceae	yes
Chaenactis fremontii	Asteraceae	yes
Delphinium parishii	Ranunculaceae	yes
Descurainia pinnata	Brassicaceae	yes
Lepidium lasiocarpum	Brassicaceae	yes
Malacothrix glabrata	Asteraceae	yes
Phacelia distans	Boraginaceae	yes
Rafinesquia neomexicana	Asteraceae	yes
Sphaeralcea ambigua	Malvaceae	yes
Acmispon brachycarpus	Fabaceae	unreported
Cryptantha intermedia	Boraginaceae	unreported
Eremalche exilis	Malvaceae	unreported
Gilia minor	Polemoniaceae	unreported
Layia glandulosa	Asteraceae	unreported
Linanthus dichotomus	Polemoniaceae	unreported
Lupinus sparsiflorus	Fabaceae	unreported
Oxytheca perfoliata	Polygonaceae	unreported
Plantago ovata	Plantaginaceae	unreported
Salvia columbariae	Lamiaceae	unreported

**Table 4.2:** Summary statistics from MaxEnt models conducted on each of the annual species with predictors of environment only  $(m_{env})$  and the environment with shrub  $(m_{shrub.env})$ . The number of occurrences and absences that were included in each model are represented as n.presence and n.absence respectively.

	me	nv	<b>m</b> shru	b.env			
Species	cor	AUC	cor	AUC	n.presence	n.absence	HS <sub>diff</sub>
Beneficiary							
Camissonia claviformis	0.15	0.71	0.18	0.75	69	1852	2.86
Caulanthus cooperi	0.16	0.77	0.2	0.81	60	1850	2.85
Chaenactis fremontii	0.3	0.79	0.37	0.84	150	1856	2.91
Delphinium parishii	0.23	0.78	0.3	0.83	119	1858	2.57
Descurainia pinnata	0.22	0.74	0.26	0.77	148	1855	2.67
Lepidium lasiocarpum	0.2	0.72	0.24	0.74	160	1855	2.61
Malacothrix glabrata	0.23	0.72	0.29	0.76	178	1855	2.94
Phacelia distans	0.3	0.75	0.32	0.77	260	1853	2.56
Rafinesquia	0.27	0.79	0.32	0.82	126	1854	2.15
neomexicana							
Sphaeralcea ambigua	0.28	0.75	0.31	0.77	220	1853	2.57
<u>Unreported</u>							
Acmispon brachycarpus	0.17	0.81	0.17	0.81	41	1865	1.23
Cryptantha intermedia	0.49	0.88	0.5	0.89	255	1862	1.07
Eremalche exilis	0.15	0.76	0.19	0.81	47	1867	2.79

Gilia minor	0.2	0.87	0.2	0.87	23	1862	1.3
Layia glandulosa	0.27	0.81	0.3	0.84	115	1863	2.14
Linanthus dichotomus	0.17	0.82	0.17	0.82	38	1860	1.26
Lupinus sparsiflorus	0.34	0.85	0.36	0.86	128	1861	1.63
Oxytheca perfoliata	0.15	0.83	0.15	0.84	25	1864	1.16
Plantago ovata	0.28	0.8	0.31	0.81	152	1867	1.46
Salvia columbariae	0.28	0.75	0.29	0.76	241	1862	2.04

## Figures



**Fig. 4.1:** Co-occurrence patterns of shrubs and annual plants species at 1000 random points within the Mojave Desert, California. The probability of shrub occurrence positively correlated with beneficiary occurrence probabilities ( $R^2 = 0.42$ , p < 0.001) and the occurrence of unreported annual species ( $R^2 = 0.16$ , p < 0.001). The probability of occurrence for beneficiary and unreported plant species were also correlated (r = 0.85).



**Fig. 4.2:** MaxEnt models for each species trained and tested on occurrence only data from GBIF. AUC values were derived from average predictions of 40 runs with error bars representing 95% confidence intervals.





menv

**Fig. 4.3:** A representative example of MaxEnt predictive models for the distribution of a known beneficiary species, *Camissonia claviformis* (top), and unreported species, *Acmispon brachycarpus* (bottom), with environmental predictors only (m<sub>env</sub>) and environmental predictors with shrub density as a predictor (m<sub>shrub.env</sub>). The shrub-based range expansion (HS<sub>diff</sub>) represents the difference of prediction in m<sub>shrub.env</sub> and m<sub>env</sub>.



**Fig. 4.4:** A phylogeny of examined annual species and the associated range expansion effect from shrub facilitation (HS<sub>diff</sub>).

# Chapter 5

Synthesis: Re-thinking facilitation and ecological theory with mechanisms

#### Aim and over-arching hypotheses

Positive interactions support ecosystem function and this is especially true in resource limited environments such as deserts. Previous reviews of positive interactions have considered different ecological concepts, context dependencies, and predicted responses along environmental gradients (for examples, see Table 5.1). However, these reviews have focused on the interacting species or environmental factors and not considered the mechanisms underpinning the interactions. The purpose of this research program was to expand our ecological understanding of facilitation mechanisms in determining plant-plant interactions and the implications that these mechanisms have on community composition. We conducted a systematic review to describe and quantify the different mechanisms of facilitation that have been empirically tested (Chapter 1). The research gaps identified from the systematic review, such as the understudied mechanisms and testing multiple stressors, were a focus for this research program. Within the resource limited environment of Californian deserts (Figure 5.1), we experimentally tested the impact of abiotic and biotic stress on positive interactions during two extreme climate years (Chapter 2), and the mechanisms of facilitation in response to gradients of aridity (Chapter 3). We also conducted species distribution modelling to assess how these mechanisms of facilitation are responsible for extended the spatial distribution of beneficiary species (Chapter 4). We surveyed both a broad-range of environmental conditions within the deserts of California and a wide-range of plant species (for range map, Figure 5.1; for list of species, Appendix M). Each chapter thus explores the mechanisms of facilitation that we described (Chapter 1; Table 5.2). The mechanisms that were tested and the associated ecological hypothesis included:

- Chapter 2: the mechanism of plant facilitation provided by shrubs on the annual community can change with precipitation extremes in deserts to match the respective stressor (herbivore protection, abiotic stress amelioration, and increasing soil moisture).
- ii) Chapter 3: The relevant mechanism of facilitation and the response of positive interactions is determined by position along a gradient of aridity (substrate modification, increased soil nutrients, abiotic stress amelioration, and increased soil moisture).
- iii) Chapter 4: desert shrubs alter the microclimate under their canopy to match the niche requirements of beneficiary species and this increases the geographical extent of those species (abiotic stress amelioration & nurse-mediated distribution).

The conceptual figure that we proposed in Chapter 1 allows for better predictions of positive interactions within different ecosystems and was used here as the unifying framework that structured this research program.

#### **Summary of Major Findings**

Positive interactions between plants can occur through a series of mechanistic pathways (Chapter 1). A previous review outlined some of the mechanistic pathways whereby shrubs positively influence other plant species including herbivore protection, seed trapping, and increases in resource availability (Flores and Jurado 2003). We expanded upon these mechanisms to include recent advances in the facilitation literature such as abiotic stress amelioration (non-resource based) and increasing pollinator visitation (Table 1.1). In addition to these mechanisms, the concept of a meta-mechanism was proposed that is an effect on the beneficiary species that is

dependent on another mechanism. The proposed meta-mechanisms were benefactor-mediated distribution and benefactor-mediated evolution of the beneficiary species. Benefactor-mediated distribution is the extended geographic range as a result of positive interactions through one of the other facilitation mechanisms. Benefactor-mediated evolution is changes to the genetic population of a beneficiary species as a result of continued facilitation over time, such as ecotypic differentiation (Sotomayor et al. 2014; Liczner et al. 2017). These interactions occur in all ecosystems, but most commonly are observed in arid and semi-arid regions (Figure 1.2; Figure 1.3). There were also significant differences in the frequency each mechanism is being tested with increased pollinator visitation and seed trapping being among the least frequently studied (Figure 1.4). The conceptual framework and the definition of meta-mechanisms advances ecological theory and presented an opportunity to frame future studies in a similar context. The review also identified research gaps in the examination of certain mechanisms and highlighted important considerations that are typically not considered. For instance, one important consideration is the effect of multiple stressors on positive interactions that can be tested through the concurrent manipulation of multiple mechanisms. Given this research gap, we included this approach in the field experiments present in the other chapters.

Extreme climate events can act with stressor to determine the response of positive plant interactions (Chapter 2). Desert plant communities experience high variation in precipitation patterns, but climate change can further increase the amplitude of this variation and thus negatively impact plant communities (Seager et al. 2007; Jentsch et al. 2007; Thomey et al. 2011). We tested whether extreme climate events impact shrub facilitation on annual plant community by manipulation water availability and consumer pressure during an extreme drought year and a year of above-average rainfall. Shrubs were not found to have any effect on soil moisture, but did reduce temperature variation and consumer pressure on the annual plants (Table 2.1). These effects were significantly increased in the above-average rainfall year suggesting facilitation effects in this system are correlated with precipitation (Figure 2.2). Shrubs were also observed to increase the interspecific competition within the annual plant community by facilitating the dominance of a competitive invasive species, *Bromus madritensis* (Figure 2.3). This study contributed to an on-going discussion within the literature trying to predict the response of positive interactions to environmental variation, and supports the hypothesis that facilitation switches to negative or neutral interactions at extremes e.g. (Michalet et al. 2014).

The response of positive interactions along gradients of aridity is determined by the dominant mechanisms of facilitation (Chapter 3). Deserts are vulnerable to changes in precipitation patterns, and examining changes in plant interactions along aridity gradients can increase our understanding of how these communities will change with climate. We tested positive interactions at seven sites along an aridity gradient in Southern California and measured the differences in abiotic conditions within shrubs and open microsites. Our intent, was to determine the multiple mechanisms of facilitation that can be relevant at different points along a gradient of aridity. We also planted three phytometer species to better identify between-site differences that are not a consequence of factors other than climate (e.g. dispersal). We found significant differences in the abiotic conditions of shrub canopies relative to open microsites that favour annual plant growth including increased soil nitrogen in the arid sites, lower soil compaction at the mesic sites, and reduce temperature variation at all sites (Figure 3.1). Similarly, we did not find that shrubs increase soil moisture and this trend was consistent along the entirety of the aridity gradient (Chapter 2). In contradiction to our predictions, shrubs only facilitated the annual biomass of the ambient plant community and not species richness (Figure 3.2). The strength of

facilitation on biomass also declined with aridity (Figure 3.2). At the more mesic sites, shrubs were found to decrease species richness and reduce phylogenetic diversity (Figure 3.2). Each phytometer species also had a unique response growing under a shrub canopy including *P. insularis* having decreased biomass, *P. tanacetifolia* having increased growth, and *S. columbariae* displaying no difference relative to an open microsite. These results confirm other studies that emphasize how facilitation is species specific (Liancourt et al. 2005; Michalet et al. 2006; Saccone et al. 2009; Liancourt et al. 2017) and suggests the response of these phytometers is largely determined by the ability of the species to utilize differences in environmental conditions. Controversially, this experiment rose concerns that positive interactions are decreasing biodiversity by favouring the invasion of non-native annual species. This study expanded the facilitation literature with empirical evidence on the importance of including mechanisms of interaction in studies and highlighted implications for climate change and invasion ecology.

Plant facilitation can alter the available niche for beneficiary plants and thus can mediate their distribution (Chapter 4). Research on niche theory has previously focused on negative interactions, but has recently expanded to include positive interactions (Bruno et al. 2003; Stachowicz 2012; McIntire 2014). However, there have been debates as to the correct definition of how positive interactions affect the niche (Rodriguez-cabal and Barrios-garcia 2012; Stachowicz 2012). There are two models relevant to this debate that include the niche-construction model where the benefactor species alters the microenvironment to match the niche characteristics of the beneficiary species (Rodriguez-cabal and Barrios-garcia 2012; McIntire 2014) and the niche-expansion model where the benefactor species reduces limitations or regulations that are inhibiting the beneficiary species survival. We resolve this debate by refer to

the mechanism of facilitation that determines which of these models is relevant. For instance, niche-construction model occurs where a benefactor is ameliorating the microclimate to increase the survival of the beneficiary species, whereas the niche-expansion model occurs when a benefactor reduces regulation such as preventing herbivory on a beneficiary species. We use this framework to conduct species distribution modelling with desert benefactor shrubs and annual species that have either been previously reported as beneficiaries from the literature or unreported (Table 4.1). We found that beneficiary species were significantly correlated with benefactor shrubs and that their geographic distribution was significantly larger when shrubs were included as a predictor (Figures 4.1-4.3). Conversely, unreported species were weakly correlated with benefactor shrubs (Figures 4.1-4.3) and did not display an increase in geographic distribution. This study expanded our understanding of positive interactions in relation to niche theory and used species distribution modelling to apply the conceptual framework to estimate the increase in beneficiary species distribution.

#### **Implications for theoretical ecology**

The inclusion of facilitation mechanisms into theoretical ecology is both a novel and an important consideration. Controversies within the literature can be resolved by considering the mechanisms of interaction that are present within positive interactions. One of the more frequently discussed topics is the response of positive interactions along environmental gradients (Maestre et al. 2006; Lortie and Callaway 2006; Michalet 2006; Soliveres et al. 2015). A commonly tested concept from studies conducted along environmental gradients is the Defined Stress Gradient Hypothesis (SGH). SGH predicts that positive interactions increase with environmental stress or consumer pressure (Bertness and Callaway 1994). Revisions to the SGH

posit that positive interactions collapse or become negative at environmental extremes (Michalet et al. 2014). However, this has been challenged by some authors that have found evidence of positive interactions in extreme environments (Dvorský et al. 2013; Pugnaire et al. 2015). We found evidence that the predictability of positive interactions along gradients is largely determined by the ability of the benefactor species to mitigate the environmental stress. For example, the strength of positive interactions was greater during an above-average rainfall year rather than during an intense drought (Chapter 2). We observed this trend because the benefactor shrub species ameliorated temperature variation and reduced consumer pressure that benefits annual plants only when the more limiting driver, water availability, was increased. However, other shrub species that increase soil moisture within their canopies display stronger facilitation effects during drought (Zou et al. 2005; Soliveres and Maestre 2014). When examined along a gradient of aridity, we observed that the response of positive interactions was largely determined by the species of the beneficiary species and whether their trait set allows them to utilize the environmental differences in shrub canopies (Chapter 3). In desert ecosystems, the availability of water is often the most limiting resource and the response of facilitation is determined by the capacity of the benefactors to increase soil moisture (Butterfield et al. 2016). The mechanism of interaction is thus integral to relationship of positive interactions along environmental gradients. We also advanced our conceptualized of facilitation in relation to niche theory by defining the niche-construction and niche-expansion models (Chapter 4). Here, the consideration of the facilitation mechanism can be used to explain some of the contradictory observations and conclusions that are present within the literature. We encourage ecologists to frame their future experiments on plant-plant interactions by testing the relevant mechanisms of facilitation that can assist in predicting responses of positive interactions along environmental gradients and drawing

conclusions about the traits of the interacting species. It is critical for ecologists to understand the niche requirements of species and this includes their interactions with other species.

#### Implications for biological conservation

The effects of positive interactions on biodiversity are more context dependent than previously thought. Benefactor plants increase the spatial heterogeneity of the landscape and this has consequences for increasing the plant biodiversity (McIntire and Fajardo 2014; Pescador et al. 2014). Cushion plants in alpine environments around the globe have been observed to increase phylogenetic diversity of plant communities by facilitating less stress-tolerant species and species that are distantly related (Valiente-Banuet and Verdú 2007; Butterfield et al. 2013). However, we observed the opposite trend in desert ecosystems, where benefactor shrubs decreased phylogenetic diversity, facilitated closely related species, and had lower species richness relative to open microsites (Chapters 2-4). This can be explained by the difference in stress type for desert and alpine environments. Desert ecosystems are most limited by resource based stress (e.g. water & nutrients) and thus the capacity of shrubs to facilitate is determined by whether species can increase these resources and precipitation patterns (Zou et al. 2005; Pugnaire et al. 2009; Soliveres and Maestre 2014). Alpine environments are most limited by nonresource based stress (e.g. extreme cold, snow cover, and substrate) and thus the facilitation effects of cushions can be more predictable based on temperature. The differences in life-forms of cushion and shrubs also suggest difference in trait sets, such as shrubs competing for light with the understorey annuals while cushions do not. Restoration programs that utilized benefactor plants as tools for facilitating native recruitment (Gómez-Aparicio 2009) need to consider the trait set of the species and whether it can reduce the dominant stress in the system

(Maestre et al. 2009). The effects of positive interactions on local biodiversity are largely determined by the facilitation mechanisms of the benefactor plants.

Effects of facilitation on ecosystem function are not necessarily positive. Facilitation of species that are less stress-tolerant has negative impacts on biodiversity by increasing the invasion of non-natives into areas where the species would typically be uncommon. For instance, common dandelion has been observed to invade high-altitudes in the Chilean Andes where it is not-native (Cavieres et al. 2007). In Californian Deserts, grasses from the European Mediterranean are more frequent and have higher productivity in shrub canopies relative to open desert areas (Holzapfel and Mahall 1999; Rodríguez-Buriticá and Miriti 2009). Within our studies we observed that shrubs increased the dominance of non-native grass species, such as the *B. madritensis* and *S. barbatus* (Chapter 2, 3). Benefactor plants thus act as pathways of invasions into high-stress environments by acting as resource islands. However, shrubs can have positive effects on other components of ecosystem function such as productivity in deserts that is frequently observed to be facilitated (Chapters 2, 3).

There are also some species that are uniquely associated with shrub species that contribute to the total biodiversity present within a desert site (Chapter 2, 3). Most importantly, shrubs are foundational species in ecosystems supporting other plant species and animals through a network of interactions (Angelini et al. 2011; Lortie et al. 2016). We observed *E. californica* having facilitating effects on endangered lizard species by ameliorating temperature variation (Filazzola et al. 2017) and that other desert shrubs increase insect biodiversity (Ruttan et al. 2016). Shrub facilitation may not necessarily increase diversity within their canopy relative to open microsites, but play a larger role in ecosystem health in desert ecosystems by supporting animals and specific plant species.

#### **Implications for climate change**

Positive interactions reduce high abiotic stress and thus are cited as potential buffer for climate change (Callaway et al. 2002; Pennings et al. 2003). Extreme climate events are predicted to increase in intensity, duration, and frequency (IPCC 2014). Therefore, we tested the response of plant interactions to extreme climate events and observed significantly lower strength of facilitation during an extreme drought relative to an above-average rainfall year (Chapter 2). This suggests that positive interactions are negatively correlated to extreme climate events, but does not necessarily preclude facilitation as a buffer against climate variability. Positive interactions were still observed during the extreme drought when biomass was significantly lower and therefore can be sustaining ecosystem function (Chapter 2). The most commonly observed mechanism of facilitation within this research program was the amelioration of the microclimate, such as reducing temperature variability, increasing relative humidity, and intercepting solar radiation (Chapter 2, 3). We can expect these mechanisms to reduce the effects of climate variability on plant communities (Chapter 2-4) and have evidence that these mechanisms also extend to plant-animal interactions (Lortie et al. 2016; Ruttan et al. 2016; Filazzola et al. 2017). Although it has been identified that there are significant impacts of extreme climate events on species interactions, studies to date have been limited (Ogilvie et al.). To our knowledge, this is the first test of positive interactions in relation to extreme climate events (but see, (Ogilvie et al.; Jentsch et al. 2007). There is a need to better model, separate, and understand climate extremes relative to shifts in mean climate values (Jentsch et al. 2007; Smith 2011). Future research testing positive plant interactions should include tests of extreme climate events.

It has been suggested that tests of positive interactions along environmental gradients can be used as proxies for climate change. Modelling the effects of shrub facilitation on annual plants in the Mojave Desert, we estimated a significantly larger distribution of annuals than in the absence of facilitation (Chapter 4). Other studies that have observed increases in the strength of facilitation along gradients of aridity suggest these interactions can help mitigate impacts of climate change (Ziffer-Berger et al. 2014; López et al. 2016). However, a study by (Metz and Tielbörger 2016) challenged that spatial and temporal aridity gradients provide poor proxies of positive interactions in response to climate change. The authors highlight the challenges in using correlative approaches only and the necessity in conducting long-term experiments (Metz and Tielbörger 2016). Within this research program, we have addressed some of these concerns by conducting manipulations to better estimate the underlying mechanisms of interaction among species (Chapter 2, 3). We determined that shrub effects on environmental variables that support plant communities, such as soil nitrogen, are relatively slow processes in deserts and that the effect of positive interactions can lag behind changing precipitation pattern (Chapter 3). We thus challenged the current literature that suggests positive interactions are buffers of climate change, and suggest that deserts are more sensitive to shifts in climate patterns than what is expected (Chapter 2, 3). Ecologists intending on conserving biodiversity must expand beyond the speciesloss paradigm and consider the mechanisms of interaction that are present within communities (Valiente-Banuet et al. 2015). The effects of positive interactions in response to climate are largely unknown or misunderstood and thus this is a critical research gap that can be address through examining of facilitation mechanisms through manipulative experiments that are longterm.

#### **Future Research**

Global change, either through anthropogenic disturbance or climate change, is the biggest threat to biodiversity and it is important to better understand the interactions that occur within deserts if management strategies are to be developed. Within this research program we provided a conceptual framework and validated it through empirical studies to allow future researchers better understanding of the drivers in plant-plant interactions. We also extended this research to have broader implications to include different species, life-stages, and trophic levels (Table 5.3). Importantly, we identified the implications that these findings have towards restoration strategies that are currently a major topic of concern for deserts in Southern California (Germano et al. 2011; Soulard and Wilson 2015; Westphal et al. 2016; Hanak et al. 2017). For example, we determined the facilitation of seed arrival and pollinators are significantly understudied (Chapter 1) although these could be crucial components that support desert biodiversity. In a study currently under review, we described and tested the multiple indirect pathways that benefactor plants can indirectly increase seedbank densities of other species, such as through trapping or facilitation seed production (Table 5.3). These mechanisms highlight benefactor species as significantly important for ecosystem health because of the indirect effects they have on the plant community (Angelini et al. 2011). Additionally, we have shown that shrubs increase the diversity and abundance of insect communities (Ruttan et al. 2016), but it is still unknown the effect this has on the pollination rate of the annual community. Finally, we have evidence that shrubs have potential as tools for restoration by increasing the recruitment rate of native plant species and supporting endangered animal species (Table 5.3). However, we have also discovered that shrub facilitation can affect non-native species and this can have reciprocal costs including reduced recruitment of native shrub seedlings (Chapter 2; Table 5.3). The role of nonnative species in disrupted desert plant communities was not a primary focus of research, but was a common theme share in each chapter. These interactions cannot be ignore and are likely disrupted interactions between shrubs and native annuals that are already under threat from anthropogenic disturbance and climate change. It is necessary to better understand the relationship between native shrubs and non-native annuals because shrub facilitation is increasing their proliferation in desert, which can have negative effects on the shrub species that can cascade to other species.

#### References

- Angelini C, Altieri AH, Silliman BR, Bertness MD (2011) Interactions among Foundation Species and Their Consequences for Community Organization, Biodiversity, and Conservation. Bioscience 61:782–789. doi: 10.1525/bio.2011.61.10.8
- Bertness MD, Callaway RM (1994) Positive interactions in communities. Trends Ecol Evol 9:27–29
- Bruno JF, Stachowicz JJ, Bertness MD (2003) Inclusion of facilitation into ecological theory. Trends Ecol Evol 5347:1–7
- Butterfield BJ, Bradford JB, Armas C, Prieto I, Pugnaire FI (2016) Does the stress-gradient hypothesis hold water? Disentangling spatial and temporal variation in plant effects on soil moisture in dryland systems. Funct Ecol 30:10–19 . doi: 10.1111/1365-2435.12592
- Butterfield BJ, Cavieres LA, Callaway RM, Cook BJ, Kikvidze Z, Lortie CJ, Michalet R, Pugnaire FI, Schöb C, Xiao S, Zaitchek B, Anthelme F, Björk RG, Dickinson K, Gavilán R, Kanka R, Maalouf J-P, Noroozi J, Parajuli R, Phoenix GK, Reid A, Ridenour W, Rixen C, Wipf S, Zhao L, Brooker RW (2013) Alpine cushion plants inhibit the loss of phylogenetic diversity in severe environments. Ecol Lett 16:478–486 . doi: 10.1111/ele.12070
- Callaway RM, Brooker RW, Choler P, Kikvidze Z, Lortie CJ, Michalet R, Paolini L, Pugnaire FI, Newingham B, Aschehoug ET, Armas C, Kikodze D, Cook BJ (2002) Positive interactions among alpine plants increase with stress. Nature 417:844–848 . doi: 10.1038/nature00812
- Cavieres LA, Quiroz CL, Molina-Montenegro MA (2007) Facilitation of the non-native Taraxacum officinale by native nurse cushion species in the high Andes of central Chile: are there differences between nurses? Funct Ecol 22:148–156 . doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2435.2007.01338.x
- Dvorský M, Doležal J, Kopecký M, Chlumská Z, Janatková K, Altman J, de Bello F, Řeháková K (2013) Testing the Stress-Gradient Hypothesis at the Roof of the World: Effects of the Cushion Plant Thylacospermum caespitosum on Species Assemblages. PLoS One 8:e53514 . doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053514
- Filazzola A, Westphal M, Powers M, Liczner AR, (Smith) Woollett DA, Johnson B, Lortie CJ (2017) Non-trophic interactions in deserts: Facilitation, interference, and an endangered lizard species. Basic Appl Ecol 20:51–61. doi: 10.1016/j.baae.2017.01.002
- Flores J, Jurado E (2003) Are nurse-protégé interactions more common among plants from arid environments? J Veg Sci 14:911–916 . doi: 10.1111/j.1654-1103.2003.tb02225.x
- Germano DJ, Rathbun GB, Saslaw LR, Cypher BL, Cypher EA, Vredenburgh LM (2011) The San Joaquin Desert of California: Ecologically Misunderstood and Overlooked. Nat Areas J 31:138–147 . doi: 10.3375/043.031.0206

Gómez-Aparicio L (2009) The role of plant interactions in the restoration of degraded

ecosystems: a meta-analysis across life-forms and ecosystems. J Ecol 97:1202–1214 . doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2745.2009.01573.x

- Hanak E, Lund J, Arnold B, Escriva-Boi A, Gray B, Green S, Moyle P (2017) Water Stress and a Changing San Joaquin Valley. Public Policy Inst Calif 1:http://www.ppic.org/content/pubs/report/R\_0317EHR.
- Holzapfel C, Mahall BE (1999) Bidirectional facilitation and interference between shrubs and annuals in the Mojave Desert. Ecology 80:1747–1761 . doi: 10.1890/0012-9658(1999)080[1747:BFAIBS]2.0.CO;2
- IPCC (2014) Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Geneva, Switzerland
- Jentsch A, Kreyling J, Beierkuhnlein C (2007) A new generation of climate-change experiments: events, not trends. Front Ecol Environ 5:365–374 . doi: 10.1890/1540-9295(2007)5[365:ANGOCE]2.0.CO;2
- Liancourt P, Callaway RM, Michalet R (2005) Stress tolerance and competitive-response ability determine the outcome of biotic interactions. Ecology 86:1611–1618 . doi: 10.1890/04-1398
- Liancourt P, Le Bagousse-Pinguet Y, Rixen C, Dolezal J (2017) SGH: stress or strain gradient hypothesis? Insights from an elevation gradient on the roof of the world. Ann Bot 120:29–38. doi: 10.1093/aob/mcx037
- Liczner AR, Sotomayor DA, Filazzola A, Lortie CJ (2017) Germination response of desert annuals to shrub facilitation is species specific but not ecotypic. J Plant Ecol 10:364–374. doi: 10.1093/jpe/rtw030
- López RP, Squeo FA, Armas C, Kelt DA, Gutiérrez JR (2016) Enhanced facilitation at the extreme end of the aridity gradient in the Atacama Desert: a community-level approach. Ecology 97:1593–1604 . doi: 10.1890/15-1152.1
- Lortie CJ, Callaway RM (2006) Re-analysis of meta-analysis: support for the stress-gradient hypothesis. J Ecol 94:7–16 . doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2745.2005.01066.x
- Lortie CJ, Filazzola A, Sotomayor DA (2016) Functional assessment of animal interactions with shrub-facilitation complexes: A formal synthesis and conceptual framework. Funct Ecol 30:41–51
- Maestre FT, Callaway RM, Valladares F, Lortie CJ (2009) Refining the stress-gradient hypothesis for competition and facilitation in plant communities. 199–205 . doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2745.2008.01476.x
- Maestre FT, Valladares F, Reynolds JF (2006) The stress-gradient hypothesis does not fit all relationships between plant-plant interactions and abiotic stress: further insights from arid environments. J Ecol 94:17–22 . doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2745.2005.01089.x

- McIntire EJB (2014) Being a facilitator can be costly: teasing apart reciprocal effects. New Phytol 202:4–6 . doi: 10.1111/nph.12740
- McIntire EJB, Fajardo A (2014) Facilitation as a ubiquitous driver of biodiversity. New Phytol 201:403–416 . doi: 10.1111/nph.12478
- Metz J, Tielbörger K (2016) Spatial and temporal aridity gradients provide poor proxies for plant-plant interactions under climate change: a large-scale experiment. Funct Ecol 30:20– 29 . doi: 10.1111/1365-2435.12599
- Michalet R (2006) Is facilitation in arid environments the result of direct or complex interactions? New Phytol 169:3–6 . doi: 10.1111/j.1468-8137.2006.01617.x
- Michalet R, Brooker RW, Cavieres LA, Kikvidze Z, Lortie CJ, Pugnaire FI, Valiente-Banuet A, Callaway RM (2006) Do biotic interactions shape both sides of the humped-back model of species richness in plant communities? Ecol Lett 9:767–773 . doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00935.x
- Michalet R, Le Bagousse-Pinguet Y, Maalouf J-P, Lortie CJ (2014) Two alternatives to the stress-gradient hypothesis at the edge of life: the collapse of facilitation and the switch from facilitation to competition. J Veg Sci 25:609–613 . doi: 10.1111/jvs.12123
- Ogilvie JE, Griffin SR, Gezon ZJ, Inouye BD, Underwood N, Inouye DW, Irwin RE Interannual bumble bee abundance is driven by indirect climate effects on floral resource phenology. Ecol Lett. doi: 10.1111/ELE.12854
- Pennings SC, Selig ER, Houser LT, Bertness MD (2003) Geographic variation in positive and negative interactions among salt marsh plants. Ecology 84:1527–1538. doi: 10.1890/0012-9658(2003)084[1527:GVIPAN]2.0.CO;2
- Pescador DS, Chacón-Labella J, de la Cruz M, Escudero A (2014) Maintaining distances with the engineer: patterns of coexistence in plant communities beyond the patch-bare dichotomy. New Phytol 204:140–148 . doi: 10.1111/nph.12899
- Pugnaire FI, Armas C, Valladares F (2009) Soil as a mediator in plant-plant interactions in a semi-arid community. http://dx.doi.org/101658/1100-9233(2004)015[0085:SAAMIP]20CO;2. doi: 10.1658/1100-9233(2004)015[0085:SAAMIP]2.0.CO;2
- Pugnaire FI, Zhang L, Li R, Luo T (2015) No evidence of facilitation collapse in the Tibetan plateau. J Veg Sci 26:233–242 . doi: 10.1111/jvs.12233
- Rodríguez-Buriticá S, Miriti MN (2009) Biting the hand that feeds: the invasive grass Schismus barbatus (Poaceae) is facilitated by, but reduces establishment of, the native shrub Ambrosia dumosa (Asteraceae). J Veg Sci 20:241–250 . doi: 10.1111/j.1654-1103.2009.05588.x
- Rodriguez-cabal MA, Barrios-garcia MN (2012) Positive interactions in ecology: filling the fundamental niche. 5:36–41 . doi: 10.4033/iee.2012.5.9.c

- Ruttan A, Filazzola A, Lortie CJ (2016) Shrub-annual facilitation complexes mediate insect community structure in arid environments. J Arid Environ 134:1–9 . doi: 10.1016/j.jaridenv.2016.06.009
- Saccone P, Delzon S, Pagès J-P, Brun J-J, Michalet R (2009) The role of biotic interactions in altering tree seedling responses to an extreme climatic event. J Veg Sci 20:403–414 . doi: 10.1111/j.1654-1103.2009.01012.x
- Seager R, Ting M, Held I, Kushnir Y, Lu J, Vecchi G, Huang H-P, Harnik N, Leetmaa A, Lau N-C, Li C, Velez J, Naik N (2007) Model Projections of an Imminent Transition to a More Arid Climate in Southwestern North America. Science (80-) 316:1181–1184 . doi: 10.1126/science.1139601
- Smith MD (2011) An ecological perspective on extreme climatic events: a synthetic definition and framework to guide future research. J Ecol 99:656–663 . doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2745.2011.01798.x
- Soliveres S, Maestre FT (2014) Plant–plant interactions, environmental gradients and plant diversity: A global synthesis of community-level studies. Perspect Plant Ecol Evol Syst 16:154–163 . doi: 10.1016/j.ppees.2014.04.001
- Soliveres S, Smit C, Maestre FT (2015) Moving forward on facilitation research: response to changing environments and effects on the diversity, functioning and evolution of plant communities. Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc 90:297–313 . doi: 10.1111/brv.12110
- Sotomayor DA, Lortie CJ, Lamarque LJ (2014) Nurse-plant effects on the seed biology and germination of desert annuals. Austral Ecol 39:786–794 . doi: 10.1111/aec.12144
- Soulard CE, Wilson TS (2015) Recent land-use/land-cover change in the Central California Valley. J Land Use Sci 10:59–80 . doi: 10.1080/1747423X.2013.841297
- Stachowicz JJ (2012) Niche expansion by positive interactions: realizing the fundamentals. A comment on Rodriguez-Cabal et al. iee Ecol Evol 510:42–43 . doi: 10.4033/iee.2012.5.10.c
- Thomey ML, Collins SL, Vargas R, Johnson JE, Brown RF, Natvig DO, Friggens MT (2011) Effect of precipitation variability on net primary production and soil respiration in a Chihuahuan Desert grassland. Glob Chang Biol 17:1505–1515 . doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02363.x
- Valiente-Banuet A, Aizen MA, Alcántara JM, Arroyo J, Cocucci A, Galetti M, García MB, García D, Gómez JM, Jordano P, Medel R, Navarro L, Obeso JR, Oviedo R, Ramírez N, Rey PJ, Traveset A, Verdú M, Zamora R (2015) Beyond species loss: the extinction of ecological interactions in a changing world. Funct Ecol 29:299–307 . doi: 10.1111/1365-2435.12356
- Valiente-Banuet A, Verdú M (2007) Facilitation can increase the phylogenetic diversity of plant communities. Ecol Lett 10:1029–1036 . doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01100.x

Westphal MF, Stewart JAE, Tennant EN, Butterfield HS, Sinervo B (2016) Contemporary

drought and future effects of climate change on the endangered blunt-nosed leopard lizard, Gambelia sila. PLoS One 11:4–5 . doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0154838

- Ziffer-Berger J, Weisberg PJ, Cablk ME, Osem Y (2014) Spatial patterns provide support for the stress-gradient hypothesis over a range-wide aridity gradient. J Arid Environ 102:27–33. doi: 10.1016/j.jaridenv.2013.11.006
- Zou CB, Barnes PW, Archer S, McMurtry CR (2005) Soil moisture redistribution as a mechanism of facilitation in savanna tree–shrub clusters. Oecologia 145:32–40 . doi: 10.1007/s00442-005-0110-8

## Tables

**Table 5.1:** Reviews of positive interactions and their associated themes in ecological theory over the past 25 years.

Title	Authors	Торіс
Ecological concepts		
Inclusion of facilitation into ecological theory	Bruno et al. 2003	Niche concept, density dependence, and community invisibility.
Facilitation in plant communities: the past, the present, and the future	Brooker et al. 2008	Advances in ecological theory in the context of positive interactions.
Facilitation as a ubiquitous driver of biodiversity	McIntire & Fajardo 2013	The role of positive interactions in support biodiversity and ecosystem function.
Facilitation among plants in alpine environments in the face of climate change	Anthelme et al. 2014	Facilitation in response to climate change
Functional assessment of animal interactions with shrub-facilitation complexes: a formal synthesis and conceptual framework	Lortie et al. 2016	Benefactor species as the foundation for communities through direct and indirect pathways.
Context dependencies		
Competition and facilitation: a synthetic approach to interactions in plant communities	Callaway & Walker 1997	Positive interactions are determined by gradients, plant life- stages, densities, and are species specific.
Do biotic interactions shape both sides of the humped-back model of species richness in plant communities	Michalet et al. 2006	Revisions of Grime's 1973 model of plant life strategies.
Inclusion of biotic stress (consumer pressure) alters predictions from the stress gradient hypothesis	Smit et al. 2009	The predictability of positive interactions is determined by life strategies of the species and inclusion of consumer pressure
Refining the stress-gradient hypothesis for competition and facilitation in plant communities	Maestre et al. 2009	The traits of the benefactor or beneficiary species determine the predictability of positive interactions.
Moving forward on facilitation research: response to changing environments and effects	Soliveres et al. 2013	Reconciling controversies about the predictability of positive interactions by considering species-specificity,

on the diversity, functioning and evolution of plant communities

stress type, and scale of interest.

Environmental Gradients

Positive interactions in communities	Bertness & Callaway 1994	Stress Gradient Hypothesis – Positive interactions increase with abiotic stress or consumer pressure.
Strong facilitation in mild environments: the stress gradient hypothesis revisited	Holmgren & Scheffer 2010	Facilitation can be common in environments that are not resource limited.
Global shifts towards positive species interactions with increasing environmental stress	He et al. 2013	The response of positive interactions to different types of stress.
Two alternatives to the stress-gradient hypothesis at the edge of life: the collapse of facilitation and the switch from facilitation to	Michalet et al. 2014	The response of positive interactions along environmental gradients is unimodal (i.e. parabolic).
competition		

Table 5.2: A summary of the studies examining the mechanisms of positive interactions within this research program.

Chapter	Predictions	Findings
1	To assess the global extent of facilitation studies and test whether there is a correlation between climate and the reported mechanisms	Positive interactions are present in every ecosystem, but are more common in regions of high abiotic stress and resource-limited environments (e.g. deserts and alpine).
1	To describe, contrast and highlight research gaps for each nurse-plant mechanism and ecological hypothesis including differences in the life-form of benefactor plants	Pollinator visitation and seed trapping were relatively understudied to other facilitation mechanisms. There were also other research gaps identified for the inclusion of positive interactions into the invasion literature and consideration of multiple stressors.
1	To broaden and formalize the semantics of the nurse-plant syndrome by organizing all the studies and incorporating processes associated with evolution and macroecology	The creation of two "meta-mechanisms" that describe the distributional and evolutionary effects of positive interactions on beneficiary plants.
2	Shrubs facilitate the annual plant community by ameliorating the microclimate through reductions in temperature extremes and increases in relative humidity during the both years	Shrubs were found to ameliorate the microclimate and increase relative humidity in both years. This effect was greater in the above-average rainfall year.
2	During a drought year, experimentally adding water would reduce the magnitude of positive interactions because the shrub is mechanistically increasing soil moisture availability for the annual community	There was no shrub effect on soil moisture and water addition did not reduce positive interactions.
2	In a year with above-average precipitation we expected animal exclosures to reduce the magnitude of positive interactions because the shrub is reducing consumer pressure on the annual community	Shrubs were found to reduce consumer pressure and animal exclosures reduced this effect.
3	What are the effects of shrubs on the environmental conditions along a gradient of aridity	Shrubs increase nutrients and reduce temperature variability throughout the aridity gradient.
3	What are the species-specific responses of the annual plants to shrub facilitation	Shrubs facilitate relatively competitive species and have a negative effect on more stress-tolerant species.
3	How do positive interactions change along a gradient of aridity and what are the effects on community composition	Shrub facilitate collapses at the extreme ends of the aridity gradient because of low water availability at the driest end and increased competition within the annual community at the mesic end.
4	The species distribution modelling for previously reported beneficiary species are improved and estimate larger spatial extends with the inclusion of shrub density than with climate along	Beneficiary annual species were found to be correlated with shrubs. These species were also found to have improved model fit and spatial distribution with the inclusion of shrubs

4	The species distribution modelling for unreported annual	Unreported annual species were found to be weakly correlated with
	species are not improved by the inclusion of shrubs into	shrubs. These species were not found to have improved model fit or
	the models (i.e. the null model	spatial distribution with the inclusion of shrubs

Authors	Title	Purpose/Findings	Status
Filazzola, A., Liczner, A.,	Direct and indirect shrub	Shrubs can facilitate seedbank densities	In review, Journal of
Westphal, M.F., & Lortie, C.J.	facilitation increases the spatial	through increasing annual seed production	Vegetation Science
	heterogeneity of desert seedbanks	and trapping wind-dispersed seeds	
Filazzola, A., Westphal, M.F.,	Cost of facilitation: invasive	Shrubs facilitate non-native grass densities	In prep.
& Lortie, C.J.	grasses limit recruitment of	and this can have a negative effect of the	
	benefactor shrubs	recruitment of native species	
Filazzola, A., Westphal, M.F.,	Non-trophic interactions in deserts:	Shrubs provide a thermoregulation refuge for	Published, Basic and
Powers, M., Liczner, A.,	Facilitation, interference, and an	an endangered species and invasive grass	Applied Ecology
Woolett, Johnson, B., &	endangered lizard species	densities threatens the lizard's survival.	
Lortie, C.J.			T
Liczner, A., Filazzola, A.,	shrubs facilitate the establishment	Grazing can limit the recruitment of halive	In prep.
westphai, M., & Loftie, C.J.	of harve fords with feducitons in	species into an invaded desert and sirrubs can	
	consumer pressure in an invaded	for successful restoration	
	arid shrubland		
Liczner A Sotomayor D	Germination response of desert	Shrubs increase the germination rate and	Published Journal of
Filazzola, A., & Lortie, C.J.	annuals to shrub facilitation is	speed of some species but this does not have	Plant Ecology
,,,,,,,,,	species specific but not ecotypic	consequence on the genetics of the	
		beneficiaries	
Lortie, C., Filazzola, A.,	A contrast of the specificity of	A long-term study comparing the facilitation	In prep.
Sotomayor, D.A., Liczner, A.,	shrub species effects within the	effects of shrub species in a highly degraded	
& Ruttan, A.	San Joaquin Desert region	desert and a relatively undisturbed desert	
Lortie, C., Filazzola, A.,	A cost-benefit model for plant-	A methodology to determine the net effect of	Published, Plant
Welham, C., & Turkington, R.	plant interactions: a density-series	plant-plant interactions	Ecology
	tool to detect facilitation		
Lortie, C.J., Filazzola, A., &	Functional assessment of animal	Shrubs act as foundation species through	Published, Functional
Sotomayor, D.A.	interactions with shrub-facilitation	facilitation networks of the neighbouring	Ecology
	complexes: a formal synthesis and	community, both directly and indirectly.	
	conceptual framework		
Lortie, C.J., Filazzola, A.,	A review of the evidence	A developed strategy for retiring agricultural	In review, Ecospheres
Kelsey, R., Hart, A., &	supporting strategic retirement and	land and restoring it in support of three	
Butterfield, H.S.	restoration of agricultural land for	endangered species of the San Joaquin	
	endangered species	Desert	

Table 5.3: The supporting studies that were conducted in addition to this project and that are either prepared or published manuscripts.

Ruttan, A., Filazzola, A., & Shrub- Lortie, C.J. compl comm enviro	-annual facilitation lexes mediate insect nunity structure in arid onments	Shrubs can facilitate the insect community and supports theories that plant-plant facilitation extends to other trophic levels	Published, Journal of Arid Environments
---	---	--	--

## Figures



Figure 5.1: Location of the study sites used both directly for this project and other supplemental experiments.

### Appendices

## Appendix A – Supplemental data for systematic review

**Table A.1:** The proportion of studies associated with each ecological concept. Standardized residuals greater than the  $\pm 1.96$  confidence interval ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ) were considered significant. The majority of studies examine the direct mechanisms behind nurse-plant interactions, while few look at the consequences of biotic pressures or the practical applications of facilitation.

Hypothesis	Number of	Proportion of	Standardized	Frequently
	Studies	Studies	Residual	Studied?
Mechanism testing				
Nurse plants directly affect the fitness or	96	32.2 %	8.12	Yes
productivity of plants in their vicinity				
Nurse plants indirectly affect the fitness or	27	9.1 %	-2.82	No
productivity of plants in their vicinity				
through an intermediary species				
Gradient testing				
Net interactions between nurse and protégé	62	20.8 %	2.73	Yes
are dependent on abiotic stressors				
Plant interactions mediate consumer	34	11.4 %	-1.71	N.S.
pressures				
Theoretical ecology				
Nurse plants can facilitate the development	27	9.1 %	-2.82	No
of community structure to increasing				
complexity				
Nurse plants affect population dynamics and	73	24.5 %	4.47	Yes
the biodiversity of a community				
Nurse plants alter the evolution trajectories	21	7.1 %	-3.77	No
and phylogenetic history of benefactor				
species.				
Applied Ecology				
Nurse plants are tools for restoration of	48	16.1 %	0.51	N.S.
native flora in degraded landscapes				
Nurse plants mediate the invasion regimes of	15	5.0 %	-4.72	No
non-native plant species				

**Table A.2:** The proportion of studies associated with each nurse mechanism. Standardized residuals greater than the  $\pm 1.96$  confidence interval ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ) were considered significant. Abiotic stress amelioration was the most examined mechanism while pollinator visitation, substrate modification and seed trapping were all significantly understudied. Between the two meta-mechanisms, nurse-mediated distribution was significantly studied while nurse-mediated evolution was not.

Nurse Mechanism	Number of Studies	Proportion of Studies	Standardized Residual	Frequently Studied?
Abiotic stress amelioration	118	39.6 %	9.65	Yes
Herbivore Protection	53	17.8 %	0.11	N.S.
Pollinator visitation	5	1.7 %	-6.93	No
Substrate modification	37	12.4 %	-2.23	No
Seed Trapping	37	12.4 %	-2.23	No
Soil moisture retention	73	24.5 %	3.05	N.S.
Soil nutrient modification	57	19.1 %	0.70	N.S.
Nurse-mediated distribution	71	23.8 %	2.76	Yes
Evolutionary changes	19	6.4 %	-4.88	No



**Figure A.1:** The PRISMA diagram describing the search protocol used for systematic review to refine articles those that are relevant. Search was conducted with Web of Science on February 10st, 2014 with subsequent searches on Google Scholar. Non-relevant subjects (such as drug abuse or oncology) were excluded and further refinement was made for only plant-plant interactions.


**Figure A.2:** Frequency of previous studies for nurse plants based on degrees of longitude (A) and latitude (B).



**Figure A.3**: The total number nurse studies conducted in the last 20 years. Red solid line is mean model fit for number of studies of nurse plants that favourable increase abiotic conditions for the last twenty years: Abiotic = -0.71 + 1.08t; model fit,  $R^2 = 0.44$ , p = 0.0006.





**Figure B.1:** Google Earth (2016) map of the study site location at Panoche Hills, Fresno County, California, USA (36°41.776'N, 120°47.886'W at 650 m).



**Figure B.2:** GPS location of the 700 shrubs that were measured in 2013 are shown in black. Shrubs used in the experiment for both the 2014 and 2016 seasons are shown in white.



Figure B.3: Experiment design for watering levels and exclosures in the dry and wet seasons.

**Appendix C – Models of extreme climate events and shrub facilitation on plant abundance** We tested if shrub facilitation, water availability and reductions in consumer pressure affected plant abundance or species richness of the annual plant community. We fitted models with abundance and richness as the response variables and microsite, exclosure, and SWC0 as the predictors for both seasons. The models were fitted with a negative binomial error distribution (glm.nb function, MASS library) because the abundance and species richness represented a discrete count that is over-dispersed, i.e. variance exceeds the mean (Lindén & Mäntynieme, 2011). We then used a z-test to determine whether the effects of annual abundance or species richness significantly differed from zero.

**Table C.1:** Results from GLMs testing for differences in plant abundance and species richness of the plant community among, microsites (shrub and open), consumer pressure (ambient and reduced), and gradient of soil moisture. GLMs were conducted for a year of extreme drought (2014) and an above average rainfall year (2016). Significance at  $\alpha < 0.05$  is denoted by bolded values.

Effect		201	4			20	16	
	abu	indance	richr	iess	abu	ndance	rich	iness
	$\chi^2$	р	$\chi^2$	р	$\chi^2$	р	$\chi^2$	р
soil moisture	12.8	< 0.001	0.51	0.48	4.13	0.042	0.051	0.82
microsite	5.65	0.017	4.92	0.026	25.3	< 0.001	10.2	0.0014
consumer pressure	0.24	0.62	0.41	0.52	8.54	0.0035	2.07	0.15
microsite*soil moisture	2.66	0.10	0.002	0.96	1.75	0.19	0.32	0.57
microsite*consumer pressure	0.39	0.53	0.53	0.46	2.31	0.13	0.24	0.62
microsite*consumer pressure * soil	0.058	0.81	0.17	0.68	5.43	0.020	0.007	0.93
moisture								

# **Appendix D – Paramter estimates of SEM**

**Table D.1**: Parameter estimates for structural equation models during the dry season (2014). SEM converged normally after 82 iterations and was estimated using Maximum likelihood with a Bollen-Stine bootstrapping method (p = 0.063). The minimum function test statistics was 19.2 on six degrees freedom. Significance at  $\alpha < 0.05$  is denoted by bolded values.

	Mean effect	SE	Z-value	р
Latent Variables				
annual community =~				
biomass	1.66	0.18	9.21	<0.001
abundance	23.8	3.16	7.52	<0.001
B. madritensis dominance	0.17	0.015	11.7	<0.001
Regressions				
annual community ~				
consumer pressure	0.17	0.17	1.02	0.31
microsite	0.95	0.15	6.36	0.001
soil moisture	0.036	0.011	3.15	0.002
Variances				
biomass	0.25	0.43	0.58	0.56
abundance	989.4	138.9	7.12	<0.001
B. madritensis dominance	0.082	0.007	11.6	<0.001

	Mean effect	SE	Z-value	р
Latent Variables				
annual community =~				
biomass	2.55	0.49	5.19	<0.001
abundance	8.14	1.66	4.90	<0.001
B. madritensis dominance	0.11	0.02	6.08	<0.001
Regressions				
annual community ~				
consumer pressure	0.41	0.29	1.34	0.17
microsite	5.08	1.57	3.24	0.001
soil moisture	0.069	0.04	1.71	0.087
Variances				
biomass	7.16	2.87	2.5	0.012
abundance	962.3	145.6	6.61	<0.001
B. madritensis dominance	0.034	0.009	3.72	<0.001

**Table D.2**: Parameter estimates for structural equation models during the wet season (2016). SEM converged normally after 83 iterations and was estimated using Maximum likelihood with a Bollen-Stine bootstrapping method (p = 0.12). The minimum function test statistics was 18.5 on six degrees freedom. Significance at  $\alpha < 0.05$  is denoted by bolded values.



Appendix E – Frequency of positive interactions

**Figure E.1:** Frequency of the sign of interactions among plots in each water level for the dry and wet seasons.

## Appendix F – Weather station locations along gradient

**Table F.1:** Locations of the weather stations used that were closest in proximity to the study sites. The same weather station was used for both years and climate data that were collected included, mean air temperature (°C) and daily precipitation (mm). The climate networks that were used included the California Irrigation Management Information System (CIMIS) and the Community Environmental Monitoring Program (CEMP).

id	Site	Weather	Networ	Initialization	Lat	Lon
		station	k	Date		
1	Panoche Hills	Panoche.A	CIMIS	01-Jan-95	36.8900°	-120.7314°
2	Cuyama Valley	Cuyama	CIMIS	01-Jan-90	34.9425°	-119.6738°
3	Tejon Ranch	Palmdale	CIMIS	01-Jan-05	34.6149°	-118.0324°
4	Barstow / Ft. Irwin	Newberry	CIMIS	25-Feb-15	34.8834°	-116.8102°
		Springs II				
5	Heart of Mojave	Cadiz Valley	CIMIS	28-Oct-10	34.5136°	-115.5106°
6	Sheephole Valley	Joshua Tree	CIMIS	16-Nov-11	34.1381°	-116.2131°
	Wilderness					
7	Tecopa	Tecopa/Shosone	CEMP	01-Jan-08	35.9483°	-116.3495°

### Appendix G – Phytometer species characteristics

The chosen phytometer species within this study were *Phacelia tanacetifolia*, *Plantago insularis*, and *Salvia columbariae*. These three species are desert annual plants in the Boraginaceae, Plantaginaceae, and Lamiaceae families respectively. *P. tanacetifolia* grows 15 to 100 cm in height, has leaves between 2 and 20 cm in length, and has purple flowers (Walden et al. 2013). *P. tanacetifolia* is widely distributed throughout California and in parts of Nevada and Arizona (Walden et al. 2013). However, it is more commonly found in the western portion of the state in the San Joaquin Valley and the mountains at the south of the Valley (Figure B.1). *Plantago insularis* has multiple alternate names and is also commonly referred to as *Plantago ovata*. *P. insularis* is widely distributed in southern California and throughout the Mojave Desert, but is generally absent from the San Joaquin Valley except on south-facing slopes (Figure B.1). *S. columbariae* grows 10 to 50 cm in height, has leaves between 2 and 10 cm in length and has flowers that are purple and white (Averett 2012). *S. columbariae* is widely distributed in California and neighbouring areas, especially on mountains at elevations less than 2,500 meters (Figure B.1).



**Figure G.1:** Recorded observations of each phytometer species in California from the last 100 years (CalFlora 2018).

### **References**:

Averett, D.E. (2012). *Salvia columbariae*, in Jepson Flora Project (eds.) Jepson eFlora, http://ucjeps.berkeley.edu/eflora/eflora\_display.php?tid=43049, accessed on March 05, 2018.

CalFlora (2018). Calflora: Information on California plants for education, research and conservation, with data contributed by public and private institutions and individuals, including the Consortium of California Herbaria. [web application]. Berkeley, California: The Calflora Database [a non-profit organization]. Available: http://www.calflora.org/ accessed on March 05, 2018.

De Cáceres, M., Legendre, P., & Moretti, M. (2010). Improving indicator species analysis by combining groups of sites. Oikos, 119, 1674-1684.

Gotelli, N.J. & Colwell, R.K. (2001). Quantifying biodiversity: procedures and pitfalls in measurement and comparison of species richness. Ecological Letters 4, 379–391.

Rosatti, T.J. (2012). *Plantago ovata*, in Jepson Flora Project (eds.) Jepson eFlora, http://ucjeps.berkeley.edu/eflora/eflora\_display.php?tid=38577, accessed on March 05, 2018.

Walden, G.K., Patterson, R., Garrison, L.M. & Hansen, D.R. (2013). *Phacelia tanacetifolia*, in Jepson Flora Project (eds.) Jepson eFlora, Revision 1, http://ucjeps.berkeley.edu/eflora/eflora\_display.php?tid=37579, accessed on March 05, 2018.

### Appendix H – Species accumulation curves along aridity gradient

We determined if the species we surveyed were a representative example of the species at each site by performing species-accumulation curves. We conducted species-accumulation curves (package *vegan*, function *specaccum*) separately for shrub and open microsites. The mean number of species obtained and the standard deviation was calculated from 999 random permutations of the data using sub-sampling without replacement (Gotelli & Colwell 2001). We also determined if certain species were significantly associated with a specific microsite within each site by using multi-level pattern analysis (library *indicspecies*, function *multipatt*). We conducted an indicator species analysis by using all possible combinations of groups of plots and calculating an indicator value to distinguish specific species to respective groups (Cáceres et al. 2010). We obtained p-values from the best matching pattern using permutation tests.

All sites were found to have reached an upper asymptote when species-accumulation curves were plotted (Figure C.1). Panoche Hills had a faster rate of species accumulation in open microsites relative to shrubs, but no other site had significantly different accumulation rates between microsites (Figure C.1). There were certain species that were significantly associated to a particular microsite depending on the location along the aridity gradient (Figure C.1).











**Figure H.1:** Species accumulation curves for shrub (blue) and open (orange) microsites at each of the seven sites along the gradient of aridity. Results from the indicator species analysis are shown on the right panel for species that significantly associated with specific microsites. Significant determined at  $\alpha = 0.05$ .



## Appendix I – Cluster analysis of communities

**Figure D.1:** Clustered dendrogram of each site based on the community dissimilarity. Community dissimilarity calculated using Bray-Curtis and clustering calculated using Ward's minimum variance method squared. Four unique clusters were indentified.

#### **Appendix J - BIOCLIM variables responsible for plant occurrence.**

We used principal component analysis (PCA) to determine the BIOCLIM variables that explained annual occurrence using the *base* and *vegan* package in R (R Development Core Team 2016). For each occurrence of the facilitated and unreported plant species, four BIOCLIM variables were extracted for Southern California. These variables were elevation, temperature during the wettest quarter, precipitation during the wettest quarter, and precipitation seasonality. We then used PCA, which identifies orthogonal axes that best explain variation in environmental variables that linear and normally distributed. The four chosen bioclimatic variables explained ~97% of the environmental variation. PC1 represented differences in elevation and PC2 represented aridity (increasing temperature, decreasing precipitation) throughout the Mojave Desert in California (Figure 1).





Correlatio	Elevation	Annual	Temp	Temp	Annual	Precip	Precipt
n		Temp	Seasonality	wettest QR	precip	seasonality	wettest
							QR
Elevation	1						
Annual	-0.91	1					
Temp							
Temp	-0.05	0.39	1				
Seasonality							
Temp	-0.61	0.74	0.26	1			
wettest QR							
Annual	0.59	-0.76	-0.69	-0.50	1		
precip							
Precip	0.014	-0.34	-0.81	-0.31	0.65	1	
seasonality							
Precipt	0.49	-0.70	-0.74	-0.49	0.99	0.74	1
wettest QR							

**Table J.1**: Correlation matrix of environmental variables for 10,000 background points inSouthern California.

<b>BIOCLIM variable</b>	Estimate	Std. Error	z value	<b>Pr(&gt; z )</b>
Facilitated species				
(Intercept)	-22.3	1.16	-19.2	< 0.001
Elevation	0.005	0.0004	12.3	< 0.001
Annual Temp	0.099	0.006	16.8	< 0.001
Temp Seasonality	-0.0005	0.00007	-7.6	< 0.001
Temp wettest QR	-0.009	0.0005	-18.4	< 0.001
Annual precip	0.18	0.003	6.17	< 0.001
Precip seasonality	0.067	0.005	12.4	< 0.001
Precipt wettest QR	-0.036	0.0053	-6.7	< 0.001
Unknown species				
(Intercept)	-14.9	9.8	-15.25	< 0.001
Elevation	0.003	0.0003	7.25	< 0.001
Annual Temp	0.061	0.005	11.8	< 0.001
Temp Seasonality	-0.0003	0.00005	-5.11	< 0.001
Temp wettest QR	-0.0041	0.0004	-9.98	< 0.001
Annual precip	0.0083	0.003	3.30	0.009
Precip seasonality	0.054	0.0048	11.2	< 0.001
Precipt wettest QR	-0.016	0.005	-3.40	< 0.001

**Table J.2:** Best subset results for variables that predict annual plant occurrence. Fit to a binomial distribution with pseudo-absences generated from background climate data.



### **Appendix K - Workflow of Model Inputs for MaxEnt**

**Figure K.1:** A workflow of species selection, model inputs, and adjustments for survey bias in MaxEnt models. Solid lines represent consistent inputs for every MaxEnt model and dashed lines represents the changing input of species. Every species was modelled 40 times and a mean was used for the output statistics, such as AUC.



# Appendix L – MaxEnt models of each annual species

Beneficiary



# <u>Unreported</u>





**Figure L.1**. An example iteration of the species distribution models for each species. Each map represents probability of occurrence for each species between 0 (low) and 1 (high probability). The panels from left to right correspond to the climate only model ( $m_{env}$ ), climate and shrub model ( $m_{shrub,env}$ ), and the difference between both models (HS<sub>diff</sub>).

# Appendix M – Species list

Genus	Species	Common name	Origin
Aristida	adscensionis	sixweeks treeawn	native
Camissonia	brevipes	yellow cups	native
Camissonia	claviformis	brown-eyed primrose	native
Camissoniopsis	cheiranthifolia	beach suncup	native
Camissoniopsis	pallida	pale primrose	native
Chaenactis	fremontii	Fremont's pincushion	native
Chorizanthe	rigida	Devil's spineflower	native
Cryptantha	intermedia	common cryptantha	native
Eremalche	exilis	white mallow	native
Eriastrum	eremicum	desert woolystar	native
Eriophyllum	wallacei	woolly daisy	native
Eschscholzia	californica	рорру	native
Eschscholzia	minutiflora	coville poppy	native
Gilia	achilleifolia	gilia	native
Langloisia	setosissima	bristly langlosia	native
Lupinus	arizonicus	Arizona's lupin	native
Lupinus	sparsiflorus	Coulter's lupin	native
Malacothrix	glabrata	desert dandelion	native
Monoptilon	bellioides	desert star	native
Nama	demissum	purple mat	native
Oenothera	deltoides	desert lantern	native
Phacelia	distans	Lace leaf phacelia	native
Plagiobothrys	nothofulvus	popcorn flower	native
Rafinesquia	neomexicana	desert chicory	native
Deinandra	kelloggii	tarweed	native
Acmispon	wrangelianus	Chilean bird's-foot trefoilë_	native
Amsinckia	grandiflora	common fiddleneck	native
Amsinckia	tesselata	bristly fiddleneck	native
Brassica	nigra	black mustard	non-native
Bromus	diandrus	ripgut brome	non-native
Bromus	hordeaceus	soft brome	non-native
Bromus	madritensis	red brome	non-native
Calyptridium	monandrum	sand cress	native
Castilleja	exserta	owls clover	native
Caulanthus	coulteri	lemmon jewel-flower	native
Caulanthus	lasiophyllus	California mustard	native
Cryptantha	barbigera	bearded cryptantha	native

**Table M.1:** A list of all the identified desert annuals species within this project

Erodium	cicutarium	filaree	non-native
Eschscholzia	glyptosperma	desert poppy	native
Hordeum	vulgare	barley	non-native
Lasthenia	oracilis	gold fields	native
Lavia	heterotricha	pale-vellow lavia	native
Lepidium	nitidum	shining penperweed	native
Leptosinhon	aureus	golden lighthus	native
Montzolio	offinis	yollow comet	nativo
Monolonio	ammis	yellow collect	native
Nonoiopia	lanceolata		native
Pectocarya	setosa	comb-burr	native
Phacelia	crenulata	notch-leaf phacelia	native
Phacelia	tanacetifolia	blue tansy	native
Plantago	ovata	desert plantain	native
Salvia	columbariae	desert chia	native
Schismus	barbatus	kelch grass	non-native
Astragalus	lentiginosus	spotted locoweed	non-native
Dichelostemma	capitatum	blue dicks	native
Ephedra	californica	mormon tea	native
Erinoginum	fasciculatum	buckwheat	native
Poa	secunda	bluegrass	native
Amsinckia	tessellata	Bristly fiddleneck	native
Eriogonum	spp	Buckwheat	native
Poa	secunda	Bunch grass	native

# Appendix N – Permissions for redistribution of manuscripts

OIKOSOFFICE - Oikos Mon 2018-03-26, 7:48 AM
To: Alex Filazzola
Dear Alex Of course you should have your own paper in your thesis! Good Luck with the dissertation! Best Åsa
Från: Alex Filazzola Skickat: den 23 mars 2018 18:54:37 Till: OIKOSOFFICE - Oikos Ämne: Request manuscript for dissertation
Dear Åsa Langefors,
I am a York University student preparing my thesis/dissertation for submission as part of the requirements of my master's/doctoral degree in biology. The title of my dissertation is the mechanistic pathways of positive plant interactions in high stress ecosystems.
The reason I am writing is to ask permission to include the following material in my thesis/dissertation:
Filazzola, A., Sotomayor, D. A., & Lortie, C. J. Modelling the niche space of desert annuals needs to include positive interactions. Oikos. 127(2), 264-273.
In the interest of facilitating research by others, my thesis/dissertation will be available on the internet for reference, study and/or copy. The electronic version of my thesis/dissertation will be accessible through the York University Libraries website and catalogue, and also through various web search engines. I will be granting Library and Archives Canada a non-exclusive license to reproduce, loan, distribute, or sell single copies of my thesis by any means and in any form or format. These rights will in no way restrict republication of the material in any other form by you or by others authorized by you.
Could you please confirm by email that these arrangements meet with your approval. If you do not solely control the copyright in the material, please let me know as soon as possible. I would also appreciate any information you can provide about others to whom I should write to request permission.
Thank you very much.
Sincerely,
Alessandro Filazzola

#### RE: Request manuscript for dissertation

SV: Request manuscript for dissertation

New Phytologist	
Mon 2018-03-26, 4:34 AM	
To: Alex Filazzola	
Dear Alessandro	

Thank you for your email. It should not be a problem to use this material. We now operate permissions through Rightslink and permission should be given automatically and at no fee. Details for permissions are found on this webpage: <a href="http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/10.1111/(ISSN)1469-8137/homepage/Permissions.html">http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/10.1111/(ISSN)1469-8137/homepage/Permissions.html</a>

To request permission for this paper, please go to the article page on Wiley Online Library (https://nph.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/nph.14778), and use the 'request permission' link in the menu of 'Tools' near the top of the article.

It should be straightforward, but if you have any trouble with generating the permission please do not hesitate to get back to me.



#### The New Phytologist Trust, registered charity number 1154867

Could you please confirm by email that these arrangements meet with your approval. If you do not solely control the copyright in the material, please let me know as soon as possible. I would also appreciate any information you can provide about others to whom I should write to request permission.

Thank you very much.	
Sincerely,	

Alessandro Filazzola

#### JOHN WILEY AND SONS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Mar 28, 2018

This Agreement between York University -- Alessandro Filazzola ("You") and John Wiley and Sons ("John Wiley and Sons") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by John Wiley and Sons and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4317140955130
License date	Mar 27, 2018
Licensed Content Publisher	John Wiley and Sons
Licensed Content Publication	Global Ecology and Biogeography
Licensed Content Title	A systematic review and conceptual framework for the mechanistic pathways of nurse plants
Licensed Content Author	Alessandro Filazzola, Christopher J. Lortie
Licensed Content Date	Aug 25, 2014
Licensed Content Pages	11
Type of use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	Author of this Wiley article
Format	Electronic
Portion	Full article
Will you be translating?	No
Title of your thesis / dissertation	Examining mechanisms of positive plant interactions in deserts
Expected completion date	Apr 2018
Expected size (number of pages)	112
Requestor Location	York University 4700 Keele St
Publisher Tax ID	EU826007151
Total	0.00 USD
Terms and Conditions	

TED IC AND COMPTTONIC